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1. INTRODUCTION 

This Listing Statement (“Listing Statement”) is furnished by and on behalf of the management of 

EVIANA HEALTH CORPORATION (formerly C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Issuer”) and 

provides up to date information as of August 31st , 2017. 

1.2 Forward-Looking Statements 

This Listing Statement contains information and projections based on current expectations. Certain 

statements herein may constitute “forward-looking” statements which involve known and unknown risks, 

uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the 

Issuer, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 

expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. When used in this Listing Statement, such 

statements use such words as “will”, “may”, “could”, “intends”, “potential”, “plans”, “believes”, “expects”, 

“projects”, “estimates”, “anticipates”, “continue”, “potential”, “predicts” or “should” and other similar 

terminology. These statements reflect expectations regarding future events and performance but speak only 

as of the date of this Listing Statement. Forward-looking statements include, among others, statements with 

respect to planned acquisitions, strategic partnerships or other transactions not yet concluded; plans to 

market, sell and distribute products; market competition; plans to retain and recruit personnel; the ability to 

secure funding; and the ability to obtain regulatory and other approvals are all forward-looking information. 

These statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results. Such statements involve 

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or 

achievements to be materially different from those implied by such statements. 

There can be no assurance that any intended or proposed activity or transaction will occur or that, if any 

such action or transaction is undertaken, it will be completed on terms currently intended by the Issuer. The 

Issuer assumes no responsibility to update or revise forward-looking information to reflect new events or 

circumstances unless required by law. 

Although the Issuer believes that the expectations and assumptions on which the forward-looking 

statements are based are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements 

because the Issuer can give no assurance that they will prove to be correct. Since forward-looking 

statements address future events and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks and 

uncertainties. The forward-looking statements herein speak only as of the date hereof. Actual results could 

differ materially from those anticipated due to a number of factors and risks including those described under 

“Risk Factors” in section 17 hereof. 

1.3 Glossary of Terms 

“Acquisition” means the acquisition of Subco by the Issuer by way of share exchange transaction 

completed on April 28, 2017; 

“Arrangement” means the plan of arrangement Evitrade completed in accordance with Section 288 of the 

Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), and pursuant to an arrangement agreement dated February 

6, 2017 among Evitrade, the Issuer, and four other subsidiaries of Evitrade; 

“CBD” means cannabidiol; 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange; 
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“Debt Settlement” means the issuance by the Issuer effective August 22, 2017 of an aggregate of 975,000 

common shares in the capital of the Issuer in order to settle an outstanding non-interest bearing long-term 

loan payable in the aggregate amount of $975,000; 

“EIHA” means European Industrial Hemp Association; 

“Evitrade” means Evitrade Health Systems Corporation, a corporation incorporated under the laws of the 

province of British Columbia; 

“HACCP” means Hazard Analysis Critical Control Points; 

“Issuer” means Eviana Health Corporation (formerly C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.), a corporation 

incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia; 

“Listing Statement” means this listing statement of the Issuer including the schedules attached hereto; 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis; 

“NI 52-110” means Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees;  

“Offering” means the non-brokered private placement completed by the Issuer on August 22, 107, issuing 

an aggregate of 1,770,000 Units at a price of $1.00 per Unit for gross proceeds of $1,770,000. Each Unit 

was comprised of one common share in the capital of the Issuer and one Warrant; 

“Opco” means Eviana Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the province of Ontario, together 

with its subsidiaries; 

“Option” means an option held by the Issuer to purchase a 100% equity interest in Eviana Inc.; 

“Option Agreement” means the amended and restated option agreement among the Issuer, Eviana Inc. 

and Dr. Avram Adizes dated April 4, 2017; 

“OTC” means Over-The-Counter;  

“Prescriptor” means an expert recommender system customized for natural and OTC health products; 

“Products” means proprietary formulations of natural skincare and therapeutic products (cosmeceuticals 

and nutraceuticals); 

“Stock Option Plan” means the stock option plan of the Issuer effective August 31st, 2017; 

“Subco” means 2554191 Ontario Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario; 

“THC” means Tetrahydrocannabinol;  

“Unit” means a unit of securities of the Issuer issued pursuant to the Offering, each such unit of securities 

comprised of one common share in the capital of the Issuer and one Warrant; and 

“Warrant” means a common share purchase warrant issued pursuant to the Offering, each such warrant 

entitling the holder thereof to purchase one common share of the Issuer at a price of $1.25 per common 

share until February 22, 2018. 
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2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1 Corporate Name 

The full corporate name of the Issuer is Eviana Health Corporation. The principal and registered office of 

the Issuer is 5728 E. Boulevard, Vancouver, BC, V6M 4M4. 

2.2 Incorporation 

C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp. was incorporated on July 20th, 2011, (BC0915959) under the laws of the 

province of British Columbia, Canada. On June 19, 2013 the Issuer was formed by way of an amalgamation 

between C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp. and 0961896 B.C. Ltd., continuing under the name of C&C 

Cosmeceuticals Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Evitrade Health Systems Corporation (“Evitrade”), 

which is a reporting issuer in British Columbia, Alberta and Ontario. The Issuer changed its name to 

EVIANA Health Corporation on May 12, 2017. Effective on May 24, 2017, the Issuer ceased to be a 

subsidiary of Evitrade, as Evitrade distributed to its shareholders common shares of the Issuer pursuant to 

a plan of arrangement under the laws of British Columbia (the “Arrangement”), and the Issuer became a 

reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta. The Arrangement was approved by the shareholders of 

Evitrade at an Annual General and Special Meeting on March 3, 2017, and was approved by the Supreme 

Court in British Columbia on March 16th, 2017. 

2.3 Inter-corporate Relationships 

Set out below is the corporate structure of the Issuer and its material subsidiaries, including the corporate 

jurisdiction and the percentage of shares of the subsidiary owned, controlled or directed by its parent. 

 

Eviana Health Corporation 

(British Columbia) 

 

  

 

 

 

100% 

 

 Option to 

Acquire 

100% 

 

 

2554191 Ontario Inc. 

(Ontario) 

 

  

Eviana Inc. 

(Ontario) 

2554191 Ontario Inc. (“Subco”) was incorporated on December 30, 2016, and was acquired by the Issuer 

by way of share exchange transaction (the “Acquisition”) which was completed on April 28, 2017. The 

Acquisition was completed in accordance with a share exchange agreement dated April 7, 2017, among 

Subco, the shareholders of Subco, Evitrade and the Issuer, pursuant to which the shareholders of Subco 

exchanged their respective common shares of Subco for an aggregate of 3,500,000 common shares of 

Evitrade, and the Issuer became the sole shareholder of Subco. 

Effective April 3, 2017, the Issuer entered into an option and joint venture agreement, which was superseded 

effective April 4, 2017 by the Option Agreement. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Issuer acquired 

the Option to purchase a 100% equity interest in Eviana Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Opco”), an 

Ontario corporation wholly-owned by Dr. Avram Adizes that holds certain assets in Serbia related to the 

cultivation of industrial hemp plant oil for the pharmaceutical, nutraceutical and cosmeceutical industry. 

See 3 – General Development of the Business and 4 – Narrative Description of the Business. 
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Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreement, the Issuer can exercise the Option at any time at its sole 

discretion prior to March 31, 2019 by (i) the Issuer having first funded more than $3,000,000 to Eviana by 

way of advance, loan, or as otherwise agreed, (ii) delivering written notice to Dr. Adizes of its intention to 

exercise the Option, and (iii) the payment by C&C to Dr. Adizes of $50,000 within 7 days of delivery of 

such notice. Upon exercise of the Option, the outstanding common shares of Eviana Inc. shall be transferred 

to the Issuer, and the Issuer will become the sole shareholder of Eviana Inc. In the event the Option is 

exercised by the Issuer, in addition to the $50,000 price payable upon exercise, the Issuer shall become 

obligated to pay Dr. Adizes $50,000 per calendar month in respect of which Eviana Inc. generates 

consolidated net income of at least $1,000,000, for a maximum of nine (9) months for an additional 

aggregate total of $450,000. See 22 – Material Contracts. 

2.4 Fundamental Change or Acquisition 

The Issuer is not proposing an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement in the 

foreseeable future. 

2.5 Non-Corporate Issuers and Issuers Incorporation outside Canada 

The Issuer is neither a non-corporate issuer nor an issuer incorporated outside of Canada. 

3. General Development of the Business 

3.1 General Business 

The Issuer was established for the marketing of proprietary formulations of natural skincare and therapeutic 

products (cosmeceuticals and nutraceuticals) (collectively, “Products”). The word combinations of 

cosmetics and nutrition with pharmaceuticals to produce the words cosmeceuticals and nutraceuticals is 

commonly used in marketing products but has no regulatory definition under the United States Food and 

Drug Administration (FDA).[1, 2 & 4]  

Under Canadian law, a nutraceutical can either be marketed as a food or as a drug; the terms “nutraceutical” 

and “functional food” have no legal distinction;[3] referring to “a product isolated or purified from foods 

that is generally sold in medicinal forms not usually associated with food [and] is demonstrated to have a 

physiological benefit or provide protection against chronic disease.” 

In the search for the most effective solution for people dealing with chronic skin care and weight issues, 

the Issuer engaged a research and development firm in April of 2012 to develop a health monitoring system 

to assist in diagnosing and recommending the appropriate formulation of specific products to deal with the 

underlying cause of their health conditions.  Management believes that with proper monitoring and 

diagnosis a scientifically and physiologically based recommendation of the appropriate products and/or 

services can be made.  The Issuer’s business model expects to be able to capitalize this disconnect between 

consumers and the correct personalized Products and/or services solution for them.  The market is crowded 

with many competing products and services, many effective solutions but lack focused physiological 

knowledge and feedback; customers don’t have a readily available method or feedback allowing them to 

gauge the most effective products and/or services. 

On May 21, 2013, the Issuer was formed pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation and became a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Evitrade Health Systems Corporation (formerly Auxellence Health Corporation).  It 

began operating under the former name of Auxellence Health Corporation in developing an innovative 

health assessment platform allowing consumers to monitor, diagnose, assess and treat physiological 

conditions that result in problems with skin health (acne) and weight management (to lose or gain weight) 

http://research.omicsgroup.org/index.php/Nutraceutical#cite_note-2
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issues.  By starting with a personalized physiological assessment, the system can help determine the 

personalized products required to potentially correct or improve their condition.  Through real-time 

continual feedback and re-assessments, the system can fine-tune treatments and product offerings based on 

the body’s immediate response.  The research company was tasked to develop two software and hardware 

service applications.  These feedback applications help determine and refine the Products best suited for 

customers’ specific health issue, resulting from hormonal and/or cardiovascular-metabolic conditions.  The 

two service applications are: 

1. An expert recommender (“Prescriptor”) system customized for natural and Over-The-Counter 

(“OTC”) health products, and 

2. Autonomous Biomedical Care system/service, customized for general self-care, with a 

physiological interactive medical device. 

The initial focus was on two sectors within the health industry: skin care health (specializing in acne) and 

weight management.  These two sectors lend themselves well to the Issuer’s unique offering, comprising 

intelligent non-statistical approach to health management. 

The importance of determining the fundamental missing gap of the consumer’s physiological information 

is to properly customize a solution for the appropriate cosmeceutical or nutraceutical products that would 

best help the consumer.  Management believes that is still the reason why both sectors have evolved into 

such mature, educated, and large markets, with many competitors, however management of the Issuer 

expects that consumer demand will continue to grow. Sophisticated and knowledgeable consumers continue 

to seek solutions from an overwhelming number of suppliers of numerous topical creams and nutritional 

supplement product offerings, yet only achieve varying degrees of success.  With a combined holistic 

approach of an online health monitoring service and personalized product recommendation the consumer 

should benefit tremendously in finding the right solution for their condition. 

The Issuer conducted studies through its research and development partner, testing and trials throughout 

2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and currently into 2017 as part of ongoing the research and development of the 

recommender-Prescriptor and Autonomous Biomedical Care health system. The system has taken on a very 

cardiological and medical approach and it has essentially evolved into a tele-medical healthcare platform 

with a strong cardio-metabolic component.  With the TULIP™ hardware component clearing Health 

Canada certification as a medical device and receiving ISO 13485 (International Standards Organization 

13485) medical device certification, the system is now in the final stages of development. With the medical 

applications of the system, management believes that it should separate and divest its skincare 

cosmeceutical and nutraceutical subsidiary from the direct medical applications of the system.  As a result, 

Evitrade’s shareholders were presented with the Arrangement at Evitrade’s Annual General and Special 

Meeting on March 3, 2017 in order to approve the spin-off of the Issuer.  This allows Evitrade to focus on 

the medical and tele-medical healthcare platform aspects of the TULIP™ system and allow the Issuer, to 

focus on the customization of the topical creams and nutritional supplements side of the business while still 

being able to take advantage of the TULIP™ Medical Healthcare Platform for refining the appropriate 

topical solutions and/or for determining appropriate nutritional supplements for weight management. 

During the development of the Recommender-Prescriptor component of the TULIP™ system various 

studies were conducted.  In one of the usability studies in 2015, the body’s sensitivity to pain was detected 

by the system.  This was a direct result from a skin condition.  The user had the shingles virus and had nerve 

pain at the skin where the shingles manifested itself by forming a rash and blistering the skin.  The user 

began using different OTC topical pain relief creams to help mitigate the pain which was monitored by the 

TULIP™ System. 
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Some of the natural therapeutic cream formulations that the Issuer developed were applied in test cases to 

determine their efficacy, penetration and time of pain relief and calming of the skin.  However, some other 

medicated OTC creams proved to have a longer lasting effect.  This resulted in expanded research for 

improved formulations using different natural therapeutic ingredients for testing.  One of those ingredients 

includes cannabidiol (“CBD”) derived from the cannabis sativa plant that is well known for its pain relief 

as one core property.  In 2016, the Issuer began consulting with an associate in Europe and a natural CBD 

infused topical cream was formulated and developed.   

Other skin conditions that participants have had treated in various studies undertaken from 2014 through 

2016 include eczema, psoriasis, and dermatitis.  Research has indicated that oil from hemp seeds show 

positing indications in helping people treat these conditions.  The Journal of Dermatological Treatment 

highlighted a study conducted in Finland which showed hemp seed oil’s ideal balance of omega-6 and 

omega-3 fatty acids (gamma linolenic acid and alpha linolenic acid) contributed to dry itchy skin relief 

among dermatitis sufferers.[5]  

A Hungarian scientist tested CBD and its effective treatment of acne.  Dr. Tamas Biro isolated a group of 

skin cells and applied CBDs; his findings were as follows:  

“[CBD] does not stimulate but inhibits lipid synthesis, especially if the lipid synthesis was previously 

upregulated, as for example in acne. It was very surprising, that a phytocannabinoid could prevent the 

action of the endocannabinoids.” – Biro 

This is good news for persons with skin conditions, especially those suffering from acne. CBD calms the 

sebaceous glands down which minimizes your skin from producing too much sebum.[6]  It is generally 

believed that humans have an endocannabinoid system, which is a group of endogenous cannabinoid 

receptors located in the mammalian brain and throughout the central and peripheral nervous systems, 

consisting of neuromodulatory lipids and their receptors. [7] Also, with hemp growth and production being 

restricted in many areas worldwide (including North America) for close to a century, no significant amount 

of hemp seeds or oils have been consumed as food products by the general public nor have been largely 

commercially available for use in skin-care products to help people suffering with acne or other skin 

conditions.   

There have recently been numerous articles and predictions that CBD infused products may be the next big 

thing in skincare, since the general public has not been able to have access to it in a significant manner.  In 

a April 14, 2017 LA Times Article about beauty products, “The cannabis skin-care universe is growing by 

leaps and bounds as long-established companies including the Body Shop and Dr. Bronner’s Magic Soaps 

expand their product lines, while newcomers hustle to make their mark in this budding beauty segment.”[8] 

Another article from a cannabis focused blog is titled, “Are beauty products the next big thing for Weed?”[9] 

The Issuer has followed the extensive amount of research that has been made available on hemp and 

cannabis and realized that oils are one of the key raw ingredients in almost all skin care products, lotions 

and topical creams, and for special skin conditions such as acne, non-comedogenic oil (oil that doesn’t clog 

pores) is a must. The oils from both industrial hemp seed and cannabis sativa have non-comedogenic and 

anti-inflammatory properties due to their naturally occurring CBDs.  

To access a significant and cost-effective supply of this CBD laden and non-comedogenic oil the Issuer 

acquired the Option to acquire a 100% interest in Eviana Inc., an Ontario corporation that wholly-owns a 

Serbian-based subsidiary involved in industrial hemp growth and processing, and potentially the extraction 

of CBD oils, in a very cost effective manner this key ingredient. 
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The Issuer plans to build on its presence as a cosmeceutical, nutraceutical and pharmaceutical centered 

business focusing on the fast paced and growing market for natural hemp strains of cannabis sativa for bio-

chemical cosmeceutical and nutraceutical merchandise and cannabinoid-based (“CBDs”) topical creams 

and products. 

The Issuer is now completing the final stages that will enable it to deliver customized consumer skin care 

products.  Through the Option the Issuer has access to a significant grower/supplier of the most critical 

ingredient in any topical skin care cream, and the Issuer can operate as a vertically-integrated cosmeceutical 

and nutraceutical company.  The fact that the hemp seed oil is non-comedogenic and contains naturally 

occurring CBDs adds an additional dimension to the offering that includes the pharmaceutical market.  

Management has in house expertise and is working with advisors who are experts in the field of botanical 

oil extractions to create and deliver quality products and services to meet the needs of many consumers in 

the skincare, health and wellness markets. 

References: 

1. Kalra EK (2003). “Nutraceutical‐definition and introduction” (PDF). AAPS pharmSci 5 

(3): 27–28. doi:10.1208/ps050325 PMC 750935. PMID 14621960. 

2. U. S. Food and Drug Administration Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition Office 

of Cosmetics and Colors Fact Sheet February 3, 1995; revised February 24, 2000 

https://web.archive.org/web/20061218184920/http://www.cfsan.fda.gov:80/~dms/cos-

217.html 

3.  “Nutraceuticals / Functional Foods and Health Claims on Foods: Policy Paper”. Health 

Canada. June 24, 2013. Retrieved January 30,2014. 

4. By Laurel Brown Harvard Law School, Class of 2005 May 2005; 

https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/8963878/brown05.html?sequence=2  

5. http://www.naturalnews.com/044205_hemp_seed_oil_acne_skin_care.htm 

6. http://www.beyondthc.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/CBD-for-Acne.pdf 

7. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Endocannabinoid_system 

8. By Alice Short http://www.latimes.com/fashion/la-ig-hemp-beauty-products-20170414-

story.html 

9. By Madison Margolin https://janest.com/article/2017/04/17/beauty-products-next-biggest-

thing-weed/ 

 

Effective August 22, 2017, the Issuer completed a non-brokered private placement (the “Offering”) issuing 

an aggregate of 1,770,000 units (“Units”), at a price of $1.00 per Unit for gross proceeds of $1,770,000. 

Each Unit was comprised of one common share in the capital of the Issuer and one common share purchase 

warrant (“Warrant”). Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of 

$1.25 per common share until February 22, 2018. In addition, on the same day the Issuer settled an 

aggregate of $975,000 of indebtedness through the issuance of an aggregate of 975,000 common shares of 

the Issuer (the “Debt Settlement”). All of the securities issued by the Issuer pursuant to the Offering and 

the Debt Settlement are subject to a statutory hold period expiring on December 23, 2017. 

 

3.2 Acquisitions or Dispositions under National Instrument 41-101 

Subco was acquired by the Issuer pursuant to the Acquisition, which was completed on April 28, 2017. The 

Acquisition was completed in accordance with a share exchange agreement dated April 7, 2017, among 

Subco, the shareholders of Subco, Evitrade and the Issuer, pursuant to which the shareholders of Subco 

exchanged their respective common shares of Subco for an aggregate of 3,500,000 common shares of 

Evitrade, and the Issuer became the sole shareholder of Subco. The audited financial statements of Subco 

for the period from incorporation to March 31, 2017 are attached as Schedule E hereto, and the pro-forma 

http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fn-an/label-etiquet/claims-reclam/nutra-funct_foods-nutra-fonct_aliment-eng.php#1
https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/8963878/brown05.html?sequence=2
http://www.naturalnews.com/044205_hemp_seed_oil_acne_skin_care.htm
http://www.beyondthc.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/CBD-for-Acne.pdf
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Endocannabinoid_system
http://www.latimes.com/fashion/la-ig-hemp-beauty-products-20170414-story.html
http://www.latimes.com/fashion/la-ig-hemp-beauty-products-20170414-story.html
https://janest.com/article/2017/04/17/beauty-products-next-biggest-thing-weed/
https://janest.com/article/2017/04/17/beauty-products-next-biggest-thing-weed/
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consolidated financial statements of the Issuer after giving effect to the Acquisition as of March 31, 2017, 

are attached as Schedule F hereto. 

3.3 Material Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

Material Trends 

According to Transparency Market Research’s report on the “Skincare Market – Global Industry Analysis, 

Size, Share, Trends, Growth and Forecast 2016-2024” 

(http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/skincare-market.html), there are a number of general trends: 

1) Increased awareness about one’s looks and skin quality; 2) rising spending power of people worldwide; 

3) aggressive marketing strategies of existing players; 4) major investment in research and development to 

create innovative product; 5) increased awareness of the polluted environment, and poor eating habits from 

a busy lifestyle, affecting the quality of skin; 6) increasing use of online platforms to reach out to a wider 

consumer base as savvy companies and distributers are fast shifting to ecommerce to increase sales; 7) 

soaring popularity of organic skin products without synthetically derived chemicals manufacturers are 

increasingly introducing beauty care products formulated from natural or organic ingredients to meet the 

demand; and 8) there is a growing awareness of the possible side effects of chemical based skin care 

products.  

The global skincare market in 2016 was estimated to be approximately 121 Billion USD and is expected to 

continue to grow to 151 Billion USD by 2021 (https://www.statista.com/statistics/254612/global-skin-care-

market-size/).  With the Issuer’s research into specific medical aspects of skin conditions and working with 

CBDs and hemp oils, the Issuer believes it can focus on the dermocosmetics or dermocosmecuticals 

(topicals that combine clinical researched ingredients with traditional cosmetics to target specific skin 

conditions) sector within the skincare and cosmeceuticals industry. 

Opco has obtained its cultivation and processing (food, fibre) license in Serbia to grow industrial hemp 

based strains of cannabis, and is intending to apply for an extraction license in order to extract CBD oils 

for the cosmeceutical and nutraceutical markets. However there can be no assurance that Opco will be 

granted such extraction license. Denial of Opco’s application for such a license is reasonably expected to 

materially affect the Issuer’s business, financial condition and operations, as one of the Issuer’s strategies 

is to use hemp seed oil (for its zero comedogenic rating), and the CBDs from the hemp plant for skin care 

product formulations for the treatment of acne and other topical creams in a line of hemp-based 

cosmeceuticals or dermocosmetics. 

In North America the hemp/cannabis industry for use in cosmetics is relatively new, and this may be in part 

due to the fact that there has not been much significant commercial production of the crop due to confusion 

with marijuana. Whereas industrial hemp strains of cannabis has been farmed in Serbia for centuries. The 

farmland is very fertile for hemp cultivation and the developed irrigation system from the Danube River 

ensures that the area is well suited, and as a result the area is known for its industrial hemp production. 

Although the hemp grown has traditionally been grown for fibre or for its seed, Opco is growing certain 

specialized strains of hemp for its oil and high CBD content. 

Hemp naturally contains a high level of cannabinoids or CBDs, which has been attributed to a number of 

anecdotal therapies and as a result the market for CBDs is a fast-growing sector of the pharmaceutical 

industry. This may be in part due to scientists discovering only recently in the 1990’s that the body has an 

endo-cannabinoid system that reacts to CBDs. CBDs have shown the potential to treat some diseases 

including epilepsy, various cancers, such as breast cancer, multiple sclerosis, pain, among others. It is due 

to one of the Issuer’s officers being a neurosurgeon working with epileptic patients on CBDs that resulted 

in the acquisition by Opco of a license to grow hemp in Serbia and subsequently the acquisition of the 

http://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/skincare-market.html
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Option providing the Issuer with the opportunity to exploit the multi-faceted applications of the hemp oils 

and CBD oils. 

Many companies in the cannabis industry are focused on the Tetrahydrocannabinol (“THC”) content in 

marijuana and not the CBD content, which is more plentiful in the hemp strains of cannabis. Such 

companies are dependent on indoor greenhouse operations, and if they are looking to harvest oils for 

cosmeceutical, nutraceutical or pharmaceutical purposes, they use a process that is highly energy and labour 

intensive that result in losses for most companies in the sector.  Most of the more highly capitalized 

companies involved in growing cannabis are more involved in the recreation usage market, and medical 

consumers looking for a balance between CBD and THC content in their strains. As a result, there is 

currently a high level of M&A activity in the industry. Most companies are looking to acquire sales or 

revenues and also growing facilities to increase their capacity to grow and service the market. The industrial 

hemp farms are most often farming the crop for the textiles industry. The Issuer, upon exercise of the 

Option, will have a different business model whereby Opco is growing hemp outdoors and is utilizing the 

tools of the agricultural revolution or mechanization (the harvester or combine) to increase efficiency and 

decrease costs.  By growing an outdoor strain that is exceptionally concentrated for CBD content and rich 

in oils, Opco can satisfy the Issuer’s needs for oils for its cosmeceutical and nutraceutical business and the 

Issuer will be able to add a pharmaceutical product line upon Opco obtaining an extraction license to extract 

CBD oils from the plants and infuse it in its dermatological topical creams and supply into that marketplace. 

See 17 – Risk Factors. 

Hemp-based food products have recently gained popularity due increased market awareness for 

digestibility, and being free from gluten, allergens, GMOs (genetically modified organisms), lactose, and 

pesticides. Although the Issuer believes this trend will continue into the future there could be factors that 

could affect the sustainability of the market awareness by consumers causing a decline or reduction in the 

demand for hemp based food products from either the seed protein or the hemp seed oils. 

The trend for growth of hemp retail sales in the U.S. continues steadily: annual natural and conventional 

market percent growth has progressed from 7.3% (2011), to 16.5% (2012), to 24% (2013), 21.2% (2014), 

to 10.4% in 2015. (HIA – Hemp Industry Association in the USA). 

Other than as disclosed in this Listing Statement, the Issuer is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, 

demands, commitments or events which are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s 

business, financial condition or results of operations. 

Funds Available and Future Financings 

On a Pro Forma basis, as at March 31, 2017, the Issuer has current assets of $2,762,695 comprised of 

$2,302,552 in cash and $460,000 in loans receivable, and HST receivable of $143. This includes the 

completion of the Offering effective August 22, 2017 raising an aggregate of $1,770,000 via the issuance 

of 1,770,000 Units at a price of $1.00 per Unit.  Each Unit consisted of one common share and one Warrant 

exercisable at $1.25 per common share for a period of six months.  

The Issuer’s liabilities consist of $70,284 of accounts payable and accrued liabilities. On August 22, 2017 

the Issuer completed the Debt Settlement relieving itself of a $975,000 non-interest bearing long-term loan 

payable. 

With the opportunities, the resources and strategic alliances available to the Issuer, the Issuer may consider 

undergoing a financing to raise sufficient funds for the company to expand and become a significantly 

larger vertically integrated, commercial oil extraction producer. 



 

12 

If a financing is undertaken to provide additional working capital for a large full-scale operation, a finder’s 

fee or commission might be payable in respect of the financing within market norms and may be paid in 

cash or securities of the Issuer. 

The Issuer currently has just begun testing its operations of cold pressing hemp seed oil. The Issuer has 

historically relied upon equity financing to satisfy its capital requirements and will continue to depend 

heavily upon equity capital to finance its activities until sufficient revenues are derived from either the 

hemp seed oil sales or the CBD infused dermatological creams or CBD or other plant oil sales provides 

sufficient cash flow to maintain operations and fund growth. The Issuer will need to undertake further and 

possibly substantial equity offerings to advance the business plans and growth requirements especially in 

light of the fact that Opco has applied to the government of Serbia for a 30-year lease to use 1,000 Hectares 

of farmland to grow hemp. 

Currency Risk 

The Serbia has the dinar as its domestic currency denoted by RSD with approximate conversion rate of 1 

Canadian ~ 79 RSD.  The Serbian dinar has been in circulation since 1214 A.D.  The Issuer believes the 

Serbian currency is stable and does not pose any significant monetary or financial risk. 

Financing Risk 

The Issuer’s ability to budget for operations and to achieve its growth plans will be dependent upon 

successfully operating its business and potentially completing any required Financing(s). The precise size 

of any Financings cannot be determined until the Issuer determines the scale of operations that it believes 

it can operate effectively and the Issuer currently has sufficient working capital to operate without the need 

for any further Financing(s). 

4. Narrative Description of Business 

Business Model 

The Issuer has since its inception been involved in finding solutions for persons with problem skin and 

weight management concerns.  Now, it is at the stage of developing products that can be used for 

personalized cosmeceuticals and nutraceuticals working in co-operation with a health monitoring and 

management system.  The Issuer holds the Option to acquire Opco, a supplier of key ingredient with a dual 

purpose of both incorporating the ingredient in topical skin care products and nutritional supplements.  With 

this primary ingredient being able to be grown in a cost-effective manner utilizing traditional outdoor 

agricultural practices, the Issuer has secured a very cost-effective supply of raw manufacturing material.  

Having the primary ingredient readily available, and the knowledge and expertise for formulation and all 

phases of production, upon exercise of the Option the Issuer is set to become a fully vertically integrated 

cosmeceutical and nutraceutical health products provider. 

The Issuer’s operations, strengths, and current business and growth objectives include, but are not limited 

to: 

● Primary focus is on cosmeceuticals, nutraceutical, and topical pharmaceutical industries 

specializing in utilizing hemp-based oil and CBD oils derived from hemp for improving skin 

conditions and for use in nutritional supplements for weight management. 

● An operations team is currently in place to execute its business plan. 
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● The Issuer has access to a team of highly specialized scientists with the intellectual properties and 

knowledge to grow high quality industrial hemp and extract superior grade CBDs. 

● Opco has a license to grow, process, and sell industrial hemp, from which the Issuer can extract the 

primary ingredient, non-comedogenic oil, used in the cosmetics as a nutraceutical product from the 

seed, flowers, and trim. The license is for 100 Ha (100 Hectares ~ 247 acres) of production in 

Europe (Serbia). 

● Presently, Opco has 100 hectares of outdoor industrial hemp/cannabis crop in Serbia, at various 

growth stages with high CBD concentration that will provide an additional business opportunity 

for a pharmaceutical-based topical cream for pain relief.  

● Opco has expertise and experience for growing, harvesting, drying hemp seed, flower, and trim. 

● Opco has expertise and experience in the extraction of plant oils, CBDs, and other active ingredients 

through a proprietary process with internal staff, external advisors, and consultants, and upon 

obtaining an extraction license in respect of CBD Opco will be well positioned to begin extracting 

CBD for use in cosmeceuticals, nutraceutical, and topical pharmaceuticals. 

● Opco utilizes cold-press extraction of hemp seed oil and residual seed-cake that can be made into 

protein powder or other nutraceutical products. 

● Opco is currently in the process of making an application for Hazard Analysis Critical Control 

Points (“HACCP”) certification to extract hemp oil including CBD for the production 

pharmaceutical, nutraceutical and cosmeceutical products.  

● Opco currently has HACCP certification to process hemp seed (nut) for edible hemp hearts or hemp 

protein powder. 

Competitive Advantages 

The following is a non-exhaustive list of competitive advantages that the Issuer holds through its interest 

in Opco: 

● Opco’s hemp strains are strictly an outdoor crop grown in farmland located in Serbia minimizing 

on energy costs (one of the largest expenses in growing other forms of cannabis for marijuana vs 

industrial hemp varieties of cannabis) 

● Opco is responsible for land preparation, seeding and irrigation. 

● Opco has highly irrigated fields with close access to the Danube river. 

● Very fertile lands with favorable weather conditions for growing cannabis. 

● Leases are for 100 hectares from two different owners for a term of two years with an option to 

extend its leases  

● Opco is currently in negotiations with Serbian Government to secure a long term lease on additional 

hectares to ensure increased capacity 
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Aerial and ground pictures of farm with 2016 hemp production in background: 

 

Harvesting and Inventory 

● Opco has two years (2015 & 2016) of successful growing, production and currently has the 

following stock for processing: 

● Flowers & Trim production of 8 metric-tons from 2016 hemp harvest 

● 4 metric tons of certified organic and 4 metric tons of non-certified organic production in inventory: 

 

● Hemp Seed: 82 metric-tons of hemp seed production in inventory. 

● Harvesting was done manually in 2016 (similar to methods used in other greenhouse-type 

hemp/cannabis farms), but with the Issuer’s acquisition of the harvester/combine the production 

will now be done mechanically for increased efficiencies and economies of scale.  

Processing Facilities 

● In Belgrade, Serbia, Opco has leased two processing facilities: (i) a 22,000 sq. ft. facility which 

Opco intends to be used for CBD extraction, and upon receipt of HACCP certification will enable 

Opco to extract CBD from flowers and leaves/trim; and (ii) a 15,000 sq. ft. facility that HACCP 

certified for food processing, to process all cold press hemp oil stock. 
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● In Tel Aviv, Israel, the Issuer has communicated with individuals with access to laboratory space 

and equipment. 

● Currently, in Canada and the USA, the Issuer has access to final processing facilities to mix the oils 

and package products. The Issuer intends to set up its own mixing and packaging facilities in 

Belgrade, Serbia in fiscal 2018. 

Example of a CO2 Extractor to Process Plant Oils and CBD Oils to be acquired: 

 

Source: Apeks SuperCritical  

Scientific Team - Israeli Research 

The Issuer has established a working relationship in with people in Israel for research and development, 

which enables the Issuer to gain access to a larger global platform and to establish a presence in Tel Aviv, 

Israel. 

One of the Issuer’s business objectives is to work with Opco to ensure it has the capability to produce the 

raw plant material to be able to process or extracted into the desired oils required by the company for use 

in its cosmeceutical and nutraceutical products. Opco has had two full growing cycles of successfully 

growing hemp.  Serbia has historically been known as the main region in Europe where industrial hemp or 

cannabis is traditionally grown for centuries for textiles (canvas and hemp rope).  The Issuer has through 

its contacts with researchers in the medical field and Opco tapped into the local expertise with growing, to 

grow a slightly different strain to maximize the CBD oil content in the flower of the crop.  All other parts 

of the crop can be used as the local farmers are accustomed to for seed, hemp oil or hemp hearts (nut), 

cellulose for textiles, or feedstock to manufacture pellets for pellet stoves / furnaces. 

By growing outdoors and utilizing customized equipment for the harvest of the specific high concentration 

CBD strain of hemp/cannabis the Issuer can minimize its base costs for the oils as electricity, heating and 

labour costs are minimized.  
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Harvester-Combine to be modified for large scale harvesting of industrial hemp or cannabis: 

 

Source: Claas GMBH  

Obtaining a growing license in Serbia has many similarities to that in Canada, for licensing requirements: 

submission of detailed documentation and support data covering all aspects of the planned location, key 

management personnel histories, security clearances, security plan, detailed quality control procedures 

plan, as well as local authority approval, regional district and city/town authorities. 

The region is well known for centuries as a center for production of industrial hemp.  Opco has in inventory 

8 metric tons of hemp flowers and trim in inventory for the company to process into CBD oils and 82 metric 

tons of seed to be cold pressed into hemp seed oil.  With the receipt of the 2017 growing season license 

being increased to 100 Hectares, Opco is looking to ramp up the processing capacity of the oils. Opco has 

leased two processing facilities: (i) a 22,000 sq. ft. facility which Opco intends to be used for CBD 

extraction, and upon receipt of HACCP certification will enable Opco to extract CBD from flowers and 

leaves/trim; and (ii) a 15,000 sq. ft. facility that HACCP certified for food processing, to process all cold 

press hemp oil stock. Opco is currently preparing to process the inventory from 2016 production year of 

82,000 Kg of hemp seed and 8,000 Kg of dried flower and trim.  With the land area increased to 100 Ha 

under the 2017 license, the Issuer and Opco are making plans to ramp up processing and production at the 

two facilities to handle the increased plant material.  The CO2 plant oil extractor, which is required in order 

to obtain the HACCP certification for CBD extraction, has been budgeted to be acquired, and with its 

acquisition, the Issuer will also have the capacity to manufacture high quality, high yield oils to an 

extremely pure level of CBD that could also be used for pharmaceutical purposes. 

Cold Press Equipment Proposed to be Acquired by the Issuer: 
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Strategic Advisors in Israel and Worldwide for all aspects of the business 

The Issuer has numerous consultants, shareholders and advisors with strategic academic and business 

connections in the healthcare sector and has recently retained Haywood Securities Inc. as their financial 

and business advisor.  Haywood Securities Inc. has participated in numerous bought deal financings in the 

sector and has extensive contacts in North America in the technology, healthcare and cannabis industries, 

in addition to completing the brokered private placement for $1,100,000 by Subco which was completed 

on February 14, 2017. 

While there can be no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in closing any possible future financing, 

the management has had previous successes, and with Haywood Securities Inc. as a financial advisor to 

any financing transactions, management is confident it is well within their capability of conducting a 

successful financing in the event it is required to meet and expanded needs of the business. 

The Issuer’s next stage in development is to implement the minimal commercialization stage of the business 

plan using basic equipment, and to begin to market and develop an audience following the Issuer.  In the 

event there is a requirement to go into larger scale commercialization the Issuer would seek a financing to 

fund the resources required. As indicated above, Haywood Securities Inc. has been retained to act as 

financial advisor and to facilitate this process.  

Working Capital 

Available Funds  

Working capital as at Aug 28, 2017(1) $2,238,557 

Note: 

(1) On a pro forma basis including the working capital of Subco. See Schedule F attached hereto. 

12-month cash budget based on minimal commercialization & basic equipment 

Expense 2017 

($) 

Building renovations of the processing facility for cold 

press machines and oil extractors 

 15,000 

General administrative fees, legal services and accounting 

services 

 50,000 
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Operations Management and Payroll Expenses  150,000 

Additional Cold Press Oil Extraction Equipment and 

installation 

 100,000 

Other Farm and Lab Equipment   75,000 

Small scale CO2 Extractor and installation   100,000 

Contingency  25,000 

TOTAL  515,000 

Milestones & Predicted Timeline 

Deliverable Date Completed 

Receipt of building license application Received 

Receipt of growing license for 2017 Received Mar 10, 2017 

LEASE of Land for growing February 28, 2017 

Acquisition of Seed for 2017 Crop March 2017 

Chinese Manufactured Cold Press Machines Shipped to Serbia  March 25, 2017 

Begin Planting seed for 2017 Crop Production April 24, 2017 

Clear Customs for Chinese Cold Press Machines  April 26, 2017 

Planting of Seed for 2017 Crop Production April - May, 2017 

Begin testing oil production from hemp seed oils May 15, 2017 

 

 

 

Deliverable Estimated and 

Projected Timing for 

Completion 

Design and build of custom harvester-combine  August 2017 

Begin 2017 Harvest August 2017 

Completion of Harvest September 2017 

Obtain CO2 Extractor September 2017 

Receive CBD oil extraction license October 2017 

Begin CBD oils production and setup for mixing and packaging October 2017 

Begin marketing of CBD products oils, topical creams, and raw 

materials 

October 2017 

Possible acquisition of additional CO2 Extractors November 2017 

Sales or Revenues and Additional Specialty Products 

Currently, the two main products the Issuer is looking to produce from Opco’s inventory of 8,000 Kg of 

dried hemp-cannabis flowers and trim and 82,000 Kg of hemp seed are two types of oils: 1) Extracting 

CBD oils for manufacturing into topical dermatological applications for pain relief as a pharmaceutical 

product line or sales directly to the clinical research and pharmaceutical market; and 2) Cold pressing the 
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seeds for hemp seed oil for the base ingredient for the Issuer’s own line of hemp skincare products, for 

wholesale to the cosmeceutical industry, and to be used as an edible product for salads. 

Opco has already installed two cold press machines to press oils from the hemp seed in inventory.  The oil 

can be sold or used by the Issuer in three ways: 1) sold as an oil for the cosmeceutical industry or used 

directly by the Issuer to be made into hemp based cosmetics, creams or shampoos; 2) as an edible product 

to be used in salads and for cooking; and 3) sold as a nutritional supplement oil, as the hemp seed oil is 

extremely rich in Omega 3-6-9 essential fatty acids, alpha linolenic acid, linoleic acid and oleic acid. 

Hemp seed oil has high levels of antioxidants much more than any other plant or vegetable oil.  In addition, 

it is non-comedogenic, which means it doesn’t clog the skin’s pores potentially causing acne.  The oil also 

has many minerals, like magnesium, potassium, calcium, and CBDs, all which help maintain balance of 

sebum and is believed to maintain skin health which minimizes acne.  For use from a cosmeceutical 

perspective, hemp seed oil has been shown to be a viable treatment for acne, and at the same time reduce 

effects of aging.  Being vertically integrated in the growing, extraction, processing and mixing of 

ingredients, the Issuer believes it can control the quality of its products to an extremely high level while 

controlling its costs. 

The byproduct of the cold pressing process is the hemp seed waste, which is known as seed cake.  This can 

be sold as protein as it is the hemp seed or nut and can be ground into a powder for both human and animal 

consumption. 

Another byproduct of the plant oil extraction technology or process is cellulose which can be sold to be 

used in the textiles industry. 

4.1 General 

Eviana Health Corporation (formerly C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) was initially formed to manufacture and 

market topical creams, lotions treatments for skin conditions and nutraceutical supplements.  Its original 

parent company Evitrade has developed an online system cardio-vascular monitoring for helping customers 

deal with certain skin conditions and effected the Arrangement to enable the Issuer to become a vertically 

integrated natural bio-chemical manufacturer of topical creams and lotions for the cosmeceutical, 

nutraceutical and pharmaceutical industry.   

The Issuer holds the Option to acquire Eviana Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Opco”), an Ontario 

company with a Serbian subsidiary Intiva Plus doo that has a license to grow industrial hemp that can be 

processed to produce non-comedogenic plant oils from the seeds and extract CBDs from the flowers and 

trim (leaves and other part of the plant).  As the strains grown are primarily all CBD with a maximum of 

0.3% THC, there is no psychoactive effect from the oils when they are used in the manufacture of 

cosmeceutical or nutraceutical products or from the cold pressing of the hemp seed nut to obtain oils that 

can be used for salads or cooking.  In addition, by growing industrial hemp strains of cannabis that is high 

in CBD concentration the Issuer can infuse production of creams and lotions for the pharmaceutical market.  

With the Issuer’s strategic alliances and contacts in the healthcare industry, management is confident in its 

ability to build a profitable and significant presence as a pharmaceutical, nutraceutical and cosmeceutical 

centered business focusing on the fast-growing market for natural bio-chemical dermoceutical merchandise 

and cannabinoid-based products (“CBDs”). 

The hemp/cannabis cultivation industry in Serbia is centuries old and currently most hemp is grown for the 

textiles industry or for seed. Opco has leased two processing facilities: (i) a 22,000 sq. ft. facility which 

Opco intends to be used for CBD extraction, and upon receipt of HACCP certification will enable Opco to 

extract CBD from flowers and leaves/trim; and (ii) a 15,000 sq. ft. facility that HACCP certified for food 



 

20 

processing, to process all cold press hemp oil stock. This will allow the Issuer to use these two facilities for 

both processing the raw plant feedstocks and to also process and mix cosmeceutical and nutraceutical 

products. 

Business Objectives 

The Issuer’s primary objective is to provide solutions for customers with skincare issues using “high quality” 

hemp based cosmeceuticals and nutraceuticals.  In addition, the Issuer expects that at the same time it will 

become the primary producer of hemp based cosmeceuticals and nutraceuticals in the regions where the 

company operates.  The Issuer has existing inventory that is ready to be processed which should result in 

revenue beginning toward the end of 2017. 

The Issuer’s main operational business objectives over the next year are itemized as follows: 

1. Process Existing Inventory of Hemp Seeds and Plant Trim into Oils - from Opco. 

2. Obtain a CBD Oil Extractions License. Opco holds a license to grow, harvest and process 

on up to 100 ha of industrial hemp with high CBD and low or no THC content.  Recently, 

the government in Serbia enacted new regulations to require that if a company is seeking to 

extract oils from industrial hemp an additional extraction license is required.  Opco is in the 

process of obtaining that newly required CBD extraction license to extract CBDs from its 

existing inventory and the Issuer believes that such licence will be obtained by Opco in 

the short term. See 17 – Risk Factors. 

3. Establish Initial Factory Operations Routines and Manuals. Initial operations are 

primarily dependant on successfully processing the existing product in inventory of both the 

25 metric-tons of hemp seed (total 82 metric-tons of hemp seed on contract) and the 8 metric-

tons of industrial hemp – cannabis flowers and trim.  Revenues and positive cash flows can 

be immediately realized on the processing of the hemp seed into oils. 

4. Prepare Factory for Handling Hemp Seed Oil Processing and CBD Oils Extractions 

HACCP and Pharmaceutical Standards. Some minor renovations and equipment 

installations are required to prepare the oil tanks and the operational layout for the equipment 

to meet HACCP food processing manufacturing practices. 

5. Process Existing Hemp Seed into Hemp Seed Oil for Sales into the food and 

cosmeceutical markets. Opco has 25 metric tons in inventory and a total of 82 metric 

tons of hemp seed on contract for processing into hemp seed oil in inventory. 

6. Begin incorporating hemp seed oils in the Issuer’s own brand of skin care products. 

The Issuer can utilize Opco’s hemp oils as a key ingredient in skin care products and 

market it for its additional balanced profile and health benefits. 

7. Process the existing hemp flowers and trim to extract CBDs and begin sales. Opco 

has approximately 8 metric tons of flowers and leaves from the 2016 harvest to be 

processed into CBD oils. 

8. Begin incorporating CBDs in the Issuer’s own brand of topical cream products. The 

Issuer has already tested some topical creams infused with CBDs with doctors and 

coaches of high level athletes and have been requested to produce more product. 
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9. Establish Sales Team & Agents - to handle hemp seed oil, hemp skin care line, CBD oil 

and topical cream sales. 

10. Develop Strategic Business, Research, Growing and Supplier Relationships. 
Management and Directors of the Issuer will continue to foster and discuss arrangements 

with numerous people and groups to further strengthen and improve relationships so that 

smooth production can be realized for 2017 and prepare for further growth in 2018. 

11. Develop Brand Strategy and Advertising. The Issuer will work with consultants to 

develop a brand strategy for the company and its products, through social media, online and 

print advertising materials, attend relevant trade shows, and speaking engagements. The 

Issuer may consider joint ventures with distributors to market the products and increase 

awareness of the company and the health benefits of hemp seed oils and CBD topical creams 

and oils. 

12. Improve and add expertise to management. To improve expertise the Issuer intends to 

send management to trade shows and specialty training industry events, and to increase 

human resources the Issuer intends to hire new qualified individuals as needed or bring 

on consultants as required to assist or to complete the work projects. 

13. Assist Opco with New “Co-Op” Farming agreements. Opco expects to be able to expand 

by working with local farmers in a “Co-Operative” Farming Arrangement in upcoming years 

as there is under-utilized land that could be brought under a “Co-Op” Farming Agreement 

where the Issuer’s management and access to significant equipment that can mechanize most 

of the hemp growing process for other farmers or landowners who are not farming their land 

or planting other crops that have less cash value than industrial hemp. 

Over the medium-term (years 2018 through 2020), the Issuer’s objectives are: 

1. Work with innovative producers, suppliers and providers. The Issuer will seek out other 

innovative product vendors and hemp specialty product firms to assist in developing new 

hemp products such as snack, textiles, automotive, plastics, oils, and cosmetic lines to 

expand the market for the Issuer’s products. 

2. Increase Growing Area Capacity. The Issuer has already begun working Opco and 

assisted in discussing with other local farmers for a “Co-Op” Farming Arrangement to 

increase the number of hectares that could be under license for growing industrial hemp or 

cannabis.  Opco has also applied for growing on government land. 

3. Improve visibility and relationships with industry associations. The Issuer intends to 

actively seek to improve its visibility, and increase its support with industry association in 

order to be active in recommendations and suggestions for regulations within the industry. 

4. Seek out new industry associations to be involved with.  In order to increase the 

awareness of the Issuer’s business and products, the Issuer is interested in being involved 

in industry associations that would actively use its products such as a Naturopathic 

Doctors association and other specialty organizations or groups. 

5. Further Develop and Improve on its Branding and Marketing Strategies. With an 

appropriate budget, the Issuer can retain higher profile advertising and branding companies 

to work with improving the Issuer’s image and product placements. 
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Over the long-term, the Issuer and its management have to set goals and objectives to increase revenues 

quickly and significantly from planned multi-pronged revenue streams from products in the 

food/nutraceutical, cosmeceutical, and CBD topical pharmaceutical channels, in addition to sale of some 

raw materials and oils that are not utilized in the Issuer’s own production.  Some goals and objectives that 

the Issuer must reach to achieve this will require: 

1. Increasing the Growing Area and Successfully Applying for a Large Growing License. 

Opco has applied to increase the growing capacity to over 1,000 ha on government land 

under a RFP Tender and intends to propose with other farmers and landowners for a Co-

Operative Arrangement. 

2. Increase the Issuer’s Profile within the Nutraceutical, Cosmeceutical and 

Pharmaceutical Industries. The Issuer will seek to be involved in industry associations 

and have significant social media and advertising campaigns to improve awareness of the 

Issuer’s products with consumers and buyers in the relevant industries. 

3. New International and Domestic markets for CBD and Hemp products. The Issuer will 

look to enter into any new markets where regulations of medicinal CBDs and Industrial 

Hemp/Cannabis products to expand its markets as opportunities present themselves. 

4. Continually Improve and Increase Branding and Awareness Advertising. As the 

business continues to grow the Issuer intends to continually invest in marketing to build its 

brand and product awareness with buyers and consumers. 

5. Continually Improve on the Issuer’s Product Quality and New Product Development. 
With access to researchers from a scientific and marketing perspective the Issuer can 

continue to strive for increasing quality and continue to do research for possible new 

products to meet consumers’ needs. 

6. Customer Service Model. Develop a positive customer experience model to ensure that 

every customer receives personalized service throughout the interaction with our Issuer and 

use of its products. 

License for Operations 

Opco has obtained its license to grow and process for a 100 Hectare of industrial hemp/cannabis.  It had 

grown and processed under a smaller license for the 2015 and 2016 crop years and has harvest from those 

years to be processed, which is currently stored at production facility in Mladenovo, Serbia. Under new 

legislation for extracting oils from industrial hemp, Opco has also applied for an extraction license for 

extracts such as CBDs from industrial hemp. 

Increase Expertise 

Dr. N. Petrovic and Dr. S. Petrovic are also leaders in plant oil extractions and have strong connections in 

the scientific community. By attending conferences and networking with others in the field, new 

collaborations may also be made. 
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Intellectual Property 

The Issuer has acquired the proprietary techniques and knowledge to grow and process industrial 

hemp/cannabis from Dr. Adizes who has worked with and been mentored by experienced and well 

known experts for growing the 2015 & 2016 crops, harvest and dry processing. 

Technology 

The Issuer believes it has the technology to dramatically improve the collection, harvesting and processing 

techniques to produce very high-quality hemp and CBD oils.  Traditionally hemp has been grown as a 

crop for either its seed or for the shivs or hurds for fibre in the textiles industry.  The Issuer has worked 

closely with research leaders in the industry and has identified and developed techniques over the last two 

growing years, to take advantage of niches that the company has identified. 

Competition 

Some of the main competitors in the hemp market include Navitas Naturals, Hemp Oil Canada, North 

American Hemp & Grain Co., Hempco, Manitoba Harvest Hemp Foods, Naturally Pure Hemp, GFR 

Ingredients Inc., Green Source Organics and numerous other companies. 

In the cosmeceuticals market place, there are a number of companies such as The Body Shop, Cibaderm, 

Malibu, New Leaf Botanicals already incorporating hemp oils into their skin care products.  .  L’Oreal is 

also active in the dermocosmetics market as evidenced by their web pages dedicated to their “Active 

Cosmetics Division” (http://www.loreal.com/media/beauty-in/beauty-in-active-cosmetics/the-

dermocosmetics-global-market-/a-growing-sector). The Issuer being completely vertically integrated may 

have an advantage of controlling costs with Opco manufacturing and extracting oils directly from crops 

grown specifically for CBD and hemp oil production.  In addition, the access to researchers and scientists 

specializing in oil productions and formulations allows the Issuer a plethora of products.  Also, the proper 

marketing and advertising of the specialized hemp strains that the Issuer has access to could give the Issuer’s 

products a significant advantage in the marketplace. 

From a medical or CBD pharmaceutical perspective, the Issuer also faces competition from the current 

“traditional” marijuana-cannabis growers and producers that grow marijuana for smoking as there is CBDs 

in addition to the psychoactive THC component to their product.  Also, growers such as Canopy Growth 

Corporation, Aphria, Inc. Aurora Cannabis Inc. and the many other MMPR Licensees may also add CBD 

oil extraction as part of their business strategy thereby directly competing in the Issuer’s CBD oil 

marketplace.  These companies are currently very well funded and have much larger budgets to pursue such 

opportunities at the time of this Listing Statement. 

Competitive Advantages 

One of the most significant competitive advantages that the Issuer has is the tacit and intangible successful 

experiences of its directors and management across many sectors.  In addition, the Issuer has other 

competitive advantages as follows: 

 Israeli research team, with extensive expertise in the industry; 

 Extensive human resources available; 

 Experienced with sales and marketing; 

 Engineering experience and strong foundation of processes to best determine and improve 

equipment and layout design to maximize efficiencies and minimize costs; 

http://www.loreal.com/media/beauty-in/beauty-in-active-cosmetics/the-dermocosmetics-global-market-/a-growing-sector
http://www.loreal.com/media/beauty-in/beauty-in-active-cosmetics/the-dermocosmetics-global-market-/a-growing-sector
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 Oversight of the growing of the Issuer’s key raw ingredient and managing all phases of oil 

processing and extraction; 

 Successful growing of two years of crops; 

 Inventory of both hemp seeds and dried flowers and trim from 2016 harvest ready to be processed 

into hemp seed oil and CBD oils; 

 Located in a region where growing industrial hemp-cannabis has been a staple crop for seed or 

fibre for centuries; 

 Team already in place in operational for growing and processing; 

 Access to many strains and possibility to create hybrid strains with the Israeli researchers; 

 Climate is very well-suited for growing industrial hemp-cannabis in Serbia and the Issuer 

continues to seek other well-suited locales to increase production; 

 Good irrigation system and readily available fresh water from local rivers; 

 Close to main transportation systems and major international airport for distribution; 

 Centrally located in Southeast-Central Europe with access to all necessary operating, production, 

marketing, and distribution networks. 

 Marketing Strategy 

The Issuer’s marketing strategy is the core of its general strategy: 

• The Issuer will utilize personal contacts within the functional food, nutraceutical, cosmeceutical, 

pharmaceutical, biotech, and medical industries for sales of CBD and hemp oil products. 

• All marketing material will be designed and created by the Issuer with input from external  

marketing consultants and advertising agencies. 

• Presentations and FAQ sessions will be arranged by the Issuer.  

 Pricing Strategy 

The Issuer has developed a pricing strategy that provides a solid profit for the Issuer.  It will be based on 

providing excellent products and good value for its clients while incorporating the following elements: 

1. Satisfaction guaranteed; 

2. Competitive rates for therapeutic solutions; 

3. Assistance on developing and incorporating our products as a key ingredient; 

4. Discounts for high-volume clients. 

Promotion Strategy 

Although the Issuer depends on a relatively concentrated network of suppliers and partners, it reaches a 

wide cross section of numerous industries, from farming, equipment manufacturing, food processing, 

engineering, packaging, scientific and medical research industries and communities. As the technology and 

its client industries change, the Issuer will modify its strategies.  The following is a list of the three primary 

initial promotion strategies of the Issuer: 

1. Publications and tradeshows in scientific and trade fields; 
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2. Public demonstrations in selected schools (physicians, surgeons, dentists, nurses, medics); 

3. Social media. 

General Hemp Market Information, Trends 

Market Size 

The Hemp Business Journal estimated that the CBD market will grow to a $2.1 billion market in consumer 

sales by 2020 with $450 million of those sales coming from hemp-based sources. That's a 700% increase 

from 2016. In 2015, the market for consumer sales of hemp-derived CBD products was $90 million, plus 

another $112 million in marijuana-derived CBD products which were sold through dispensaries – bringing 

a total CBD market to $202 million last year. 

“The HIA estimates the total retail value of all hemp products sold in the U.S. to be at least $573 million 

for 2015,” says Eric Steenstra, Executive Director of the HIA. 

 

In 2016, 30,000 ha were cultivated in the European Union. The last couple of years have seen growing 

interest in CBD. Cannabidiol not only has a plethora of beneficial health effects, but it also has no 

relevant side-effects, even when it is administered at high doses. CBD is increasingly used as a food 

supplement and in food supplement compositions, and as an ingredient in cosmetics (European 

Industrial Hemp Association – “EIHA”). 

A double-digit growth rate is expected with demand rising especially in food goods. A hemp seed market 

linked to a penetration of 5% of the European nut market would signify an added market value of € 1 

http://www.hempbizjournal.com/
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billion/year. Two major problems are delaying the growth: government legislation and lack of consumer 

awareness. (EIHA) 

According to the report, CBD has an upper market potential in Europe of €2 billion if used as medicine for 

chronic diseases. Putting it on a level with over-the-counter medicine such as valerian, CBD has a minimum 

market penetration potential of €24 million. The gap between upper and lower market potentials can be 

reduced by more consumer information, investments in research to support initial medical claims and 

adoption of the necessary legal provisions, as seems to be the current trend. (EIHA) 

The HIA estimates that approximately 3,997 acres (1,618 Hectares) of hemp crops were planted in 7 states 

during 2015 in the U.S. This hemp cultivation is legal in 28 states, which have lifted restrictions on hemp 

farming and may license farmers to grow hemp in accordance with Sec. 7606 of the Farm Bill.  Assuming 

that this trend continues, the more land available to grow hemp the more likely the market awareness for 

the many features of this crop will become better known and better accepted among consumers. 

 

Source: Congressional Research Service 

A study put together by the Congressional Research Service says that while data isn’t readily available for 

the current size of the U.S. market for hemp-based products, estimates put it in the $500 million per year 

range. “Because there is no commercial industrial hemp production in the United States, the U.S. market is 

largely dependent on imports, both as finished hemp-containing products and as ingredients for use in 

further processing,” the study says. 

Two Very Different Types (Strain)s of Cannabis: Industrial Hemp vs Marijuana and their applications: 

Industrial hemp and marijuana are two very distinct varieties of the Cannabis plant.  The primary difference 

is the industrial hemp contains CBDs (cannabidiol) and very little or no THC (tetrahydrocannabidol), while 

marijuana contains the psychotropic or psychoactive chemical THC (tetrahyrdocannabidiol).   CBDs have 

been known to help with pain relief and has shown indications to strengthen the immune system and respond 

with the human body’s endo-cannabinoid system. 

http://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32725.pdf
http://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32725.pdf
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As a result, the cannabis plant has a history of medicinal use dating back thousands of years across many 

cultures. Smoking cannabis is the most traditional form of ingestion and consists of smoking the dried 

flowers or leaves of the cannabis plant.  With the advent of improved technologies and extraction methods 

the active ingredients are now also administered via oils and topical creams. 

Topical cannabis involves herbal medicines that are basically applied directly to the skin, joint or muscle 

areas. They include emulsified creams, lotions, salves, balms, sprays, and oils.  Anecdotal evidence suggest 

that they are effective for skin conditions like such as psoriasis, joint diseases like rheumatoid arthritis, 

migraines, restless leg syndrome, some spasms, and everyday muscle stress and soreness. As topical or 

dermatological applications are primarily CBD based and with no THC they are not psychoactive. 

Smoking results in inhaling the active properties of marijuana or dried plant materials (cannabis sativa) to 

enter the bloodstream.  Marijuana, depending on the strain has a blend of the pharmacologically active 

principles CBD (cannabidiol) and THC (tetrahydrocannabinol) that affect the body and the mind.  Cannabis 

can be smoked through a rolled cigarette (or joint), pipe, or bong (water pipe).  

Although the Issuer is focused on hemp based CBDs, eating hash and kief is another common method 

people use to ingest marijuana-based Cannabis which also has CBDs.  It has been ingested in this form for 

centuries.  There are various processes in which hash can be made. The main goal of the extraction process 

is to isolate the heads of the plant, which house the essential oils of cannabis, from the stalks and plant 

matter that carry little-to-no medicinal value in most strains.  Medical cannabis generally refers to the use 

of cannabis and its active ingredients cannabinoids, such as tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol 

(CBD), as therapy to treat disease or treat or minimize symptoms. 

Hemp seed oil used in salads or cooking is another common method of ingesting Hemp based Cannabis.  

The oil is extremely rich in Omega 3-6-9 essential fatty acids, alpha linolenic acid, linoleic acid and oleic 

acid.  It has high levels of antioxidants much more than any other plant or vegetable oil.  The oil also has 

many minerals, like magnesium, potassium, calcium, and CBDs.  By ingesting Hemp seed oil a person can 

ingest CBDs without the psycho-active or psycho-tropic effects of THC is found in Marijuana based 

Cannabis. 

Hemp protein is another food by-product from processing the hemp seed and although it can’t be considered 

a complete protein supplement as a result of its composition of approximately 45% oil, 35% protein and 

10% carbohydrates, it is considered to have numerous health benefits and there has been a trend for athletes 

incorporating hemp protein into their training regimen.  Hemp protein can be added into shakes. 

Vaporizing involves using a device that is able to heat up at a lower temperature than the burning process 

during smoking to vaporize the therapeutic ingredients in the cannabis plant material. The cannabinoids, 

are vaporized at a lower temperature than burning the plant material and this allows the user to inhale the 

vapours rather than the smoke.  It is common that many users find vaporizing provides improved therapeutic 

or symptomatic relief versus smoking. 

Cannabidiol (CBD) – high potential in pharma and food 

For the EIHA, there was a “Market Study on Cannabidiol (CBD)” which was based on the same survey as 

the hemp food study, and the majority of the participants were SME from Germany, USA and Canada. 

Currently, CBD is a market niche ruled by SME (Small and Medium Enterprises). Due to the fact that CBD 

is still a new product on the market, it is not surprising that 87.5% identify the potential for growth as 

CBD’s biggest strength in Europe and North America.  
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The Issuer does not know of any other trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that are expected to 

materially affect the Issuer’s business, financial condition or results of operations other than as disclosed in 

this Listing Statement herein.  

The Issuer does not know of any other trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that are expected to 

materially affect the Issuer’s business, financial condition or results of operations other than as disclosed 

in this listing statement herein. 

Additional Disclosure Regarding Operations in Serbia 

The disclosure under this heading provides selected summary information about Opco’s business interests 

and operations in Serbia. See also 17 – Risk Factors. 

Foreign Corporate Structure 

The Issuer holds the Option to acquire a 100% equity interest Eviana Inc., which wholly owns a Serbian 

subsidiary with assets and operations in Serbia. In the event the Option is exercised by the Issuer, the 

Issuer’s Board of Directors will have control over Eviana Inc. and its operations and assets in Serbia through 

its 100% direct ownership of Eviana Inc. In addition, upon exercise of the Option, as the sole controlling 

shareholder the Issuer will have the ability to appoint, direct, supervise, and remove all officers and directors 

of Eviana Inc. and its subsidiaries. Under the supervision of the Issuer’s Board of Directors, management 

of the Issuer will make all material decisions, enter into agreements and commitments on behalf of, and 

control the funding and expenditures of Opco. 

Corporate Governance 

All of the Issuer’s directors and executive officers have experience in conducting business internationally 

and, with respect to certain directors and officers, in Serbia in particular. A majority of the Issuer’s Board 

of Directors has made site visits to Opco’s operations in Serbia and the Issuer’s CEO has worked as an 

executive officer of Eviana Inc. since its incorporation and has played an integral role in respect of Opco’s 

Serbian operations. Directors and executive officers of the Issuer intend to visit Opco’s Serbian operations 

prior to and subsequent to the exercise of the Option by the Issuer, as the Issuer’s Board of Directors deems 

to be necessary to properly manage the Issuer’s business and meet with local management in Serbia. 

As a part of carrying out the responsibilities of their respective offices, it is necessary for the directors and 

executive officers of the Issuer to familiarize themselves with the laws, requirements and role of 

governments, local business culture and practices, and any differences in banking systems and controls in 

and between jurisdictions in relation to Opco’s foreign operations. Directors and executive officers become 

aware of these matters on an ongoing basis through their skills, experience, education, knowledge and a 

combination of written materials, meetings and other interactions with each other, site visits, legal and other 

professional advice, and other briefings and training, as appropriate. 

Communications within the Issuer’s Board of Directors and management are primarily in the English 

language, however Dr. Avram Adizes and Prof. Ljiljana Vujotic are fluent in the Serbian language.  

Language differences in the Issuer’s places of business do not generally pose challenges in the conduct of 

the Issuer’s business and operations. All of the Opco’s key personnel, including finance and accounting 

employees and its local professional advisors in Serbia, are fluent in the English language. Upon exercise 

of the Option, it is intended that information will generally be communicated to the Issuer’s head office 

from its other locations of business through typical methods in the English language. There are, however, 

circumstances where communications and documents relating to Opco’s business in Serbia are received by 



 

29 

the Issuer in the local language of Serbia. All such items that are material, including legal documents and 

communications from government officials, are intended to be translated into the English language.  

Audit Committee 

The Issuer has established an Audit Committee comprised of three directors: Michael Galloro, Ljiljana 

Vujotic and Daniel Bloch, each of whom are “financially literate”, and of which Mr. Galloro and Ms. 

Vujotic are considered “independent”, each such term as defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit 

Committees (“NI 52-110”) (see 13.4 – Committees). The Issuer has also adopted a charter governing the 

Audit Committee and appointed a Chairman from among the Audit Committee members. The Audit 

Committee is responsible for the Issuer’s, and in the event the Option is exercised will be responsible for 

Opco’s, financial reporting process and the quality of its financial reporting, and the Audit Committee will 

have all of the authority required by section 4.1 of NI 52-110. In carrying out their duties, all members of 

the Audit Committee will have access to the Issuer’s (and in the event the Option is exercised, to Opco’s) 

professional advisors, senior management and accounting staff in all applicable locations, including in 

Serbia in the event the Option is exercised. The Issuer’s Audit Committee shall oversee annual audits 

completed by the Issuer’s external auditor, and in the event the Option is exercised by the Issuer, such audits 

will be completed on a consolidated basis to include the operations of Opco in Serbia. 

 Comparison of Corporate Law 

Set out in Schedule G hereto is a summary of some of the material provisions of Serbian corporate law, 

compared to corporate law from a Canadian jurisdiction. Such summary is not an exhaustive statement 

of all relevant laws, rules, or regulations and is intended to serve as a general guide only and should 

not be construed as legal advice. Readers should consult with their own legal advisor if they require 

further information. 

4.2 Asset Backed Securities 

Not applicable. The Issuer does not have asset backed securities. 

4.3 Companies with Mineral Projects 

Not applicable. The Issuer does not have any mineral projects. 

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 

Not applicable. The Issuer does not have oil and gas operations. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1 Annual Information 

The following table summarizes financial information of the Issuer for the last two completed financial 

years ended June 30, 2015 and 2016 and for the subsequent nine month period ended March 31, 2017.  This 

summary financial information should only be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s financial statements 

and the notes thereto. See “Financial Statements” in section 25.1 hereof. 
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 Nine Month Year Ended Year Ended 

 
Period Ended 

March 31, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 

Total revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Income or Loss before Discontinued 

Operations & Extraordinary Items ($11,675) 

 

$4.00 ($78.00) 

Net Income (Loss) in total ($11,675) $4.00 ($78.00) 

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share (0.001) (0.00) (0.00) 

Total Assets $905,944 $1,138,719 $1,138,718 

Total Liabilities ($10,784) ($231,884) ($231,887) 

Cash dividends declared per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The following tables summarize the financial results for each of the Issuer’s eight most recently completed 

quarters. This financial data has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and all figures are stated in 

Canadian dollars. 

 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 

 Mar 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016 Sep 30, 2016 June 30, 2016 

Financial results:     

Net (loss) profit for the period ($11,675) ($0) ($0) $4 

Basic and diluted loss per share $0.001 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

Balance sheet data:     

Cash $1 $1 $1 $1 

Total assets $905,944 $1,138,719 $1,138,719 $1,138,719 

Shareholders’ Equity (deficit) ($24,840) ($13,165) ($13,165) ($13,165) 

 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 

 Mar 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015 Sep 30, 2015 June 30, 2015 

Financial results:     

Net (loss) profit for the period ($0) ($0) ($0) ($78) 

Basic and diluted loss per share $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 ($0.00) 

Balance sheet data:     

Cash - - - - 

Total assets $1,138,718 $1,138,718 $1,138,718 $1,138,718 

Shareholders’ Equity (deficit) ($13,169) ($13,169) ($13,169) ($13,169) 

5.3 Dividends 

Subject to the British Columbia Securities Act, the directors may in their discretion from time to time declare 

and pay dividends wholly or partly by the distribution of specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, 

debentures or other securities of the Issuer, or a combination of these. The Issuer paid no dividends during 

its three previously completed financial years. The Issuer intends to retain any earnings to finance growth 

and expand its operations, and does not anticipate paying any dividends on its common shares in the 

foreseeable future. 
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5.4 Foreign GAAP 

Not applicable. The Issuer's financial statements are not prepared using foreign GAAP. 

6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Issuer’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) for its fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 is 

attached as Schedule B hereto, and for its nine-month period ended March 31, 2017 is attached as Schedule 

D hereto, and each form an integral part of this Listing Statement, and should be read in conjunction with 

the Issuer’s financial statements and the notes thereto for the corresponding time periods. 

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

The Issuer’s securities are not currently listed on any stock exchange or recognized market place. 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table summarizes the Issuer’s consolidated capitalization as of the date of this Listing 

Statement: 

Designation of Security Number of Securities Authorized 
Number of Securities 

Issued and Outstanding 

Common Shares Unlimited 18,135,265 

Warrants Unlimited 1,770,000 

Stock Options 
10% of issued and 

outstanding common shares 
1,100,000 

For further details about the Issuer’s issued securities, see 10 – Description of the Securities. 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The Issuer has adopted a stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) effective August 31, 2017. The Stock 

Option Plan is a 10% rolling stock option plan for the Issuer’s directors, employees and consultants to 

acquire common shares of the Issuer at a price determined by the fair market value of the shares at the date 

of grant. The Stock Option Plan provides for immediate vesting unless a vesting schedule or requirements 

are prescribed at the time of grant, at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Stock options granted to 

investor relations’ consultants vest over a twelve-month period, with one quarter of such options vesting in 

each three-month period. As of the date hereof there are 1,100,000 stock options outstanding. 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1 General 

The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value 

and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value, of which 18,135,265 common shares and 

no preferred shares are issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.  

There are no special rights or restrictions attached to the Issuer’s common shares. The holders of the 

common shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend and vote at all meetings of the shareholders 

of the Issuer and each common share shall confer the right to one vote in person or by proxy at all meetings 

of the shareholders of the Issuer. The holders of the common shares, subject to the prior rights, if any, of 

any other class of shares of the Issuer outstanding at such time, are entitled to receive such dividends in any 

financial year as the directors of the Issuer may by resolution determine. In the event of the liquidation, 
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dissolution or winding-up of the Issuer, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the common shares 

are entitled to receive the remaining property and assets of the Issuer, subject to any prior rights of the 

holders of any other class of shares. 

The Warrants were issued effective August 22, 2017, and are each exercisable for one common share for a 

price of $1.25 until February 22, 2018. 

The outstanding stock options were granted effective August 31, 2017, and are each exercisable for one 

common share at a price of $1.00 until August 31, 2022. 

10.2 Debt securities  

Not applicable. 

10.4 Other securities 

Not applicable. 

10.5 Modification of terms 

Not applicable. 

10.6 Other attributes 

Not applicable. 

10.7 Prior Sales 

On June 7, 2013, in accordance with an amalgamation agreement dated May 21, 2013, the Issuer was 

formed pursuant to a three-cornered amalgamation involving Evitrade, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp. and 

Evitrade’s wholly owned subsidiary 0961896 B.C. Ltd., whereby C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp. and 0961896 

B.C. Ltd. amalgamated and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Evitrade.  As consideration for Evitrade 

obtaining a 100% interest in the Issuer, Evitrade issued an aggregate of 2,655,000 (post-consolidation) 

common shares to the former common shareholders of C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp. 

No securities of the Issuer were sold or issued by Evitrade or the Issuer, as applicable, while the Issuer was 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of Evitrade during the 12-month period prior to the date hereof. 

Effective on May 24, 2017, the Issuer ceased to be a subsidiary of Evitrade, as Evitrade completed the 

Arrangement. Pursuant to the Arrangement, the Issuer consolidated its outstanding common shares from a 

total of 31,860,000 to 15,390,265, and Evitrade distributed these 15,390,265 common shares of the Issuer 

to the shareholders of Evitrade as of the record date of April 26, 2017. 

Effective August 22, 2017, the Issuer completed the Offering issuing an aggregate of 1,770,000 Units at a 

price of $1.00 per Unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,770,000. 

Effective August 22, 2017, the Issuer completed the Debt Settlement, issuing an aggregate of 975,000 

common shares at a deemed price of $1.00 per common share in order to settle an aggregate amount of 

$975,000 in long term debt payable. 
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10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

Not applicable. 

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES 

Upon obtaining a listing of its common shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”), securities 

held by “Principals” of the Issuer will be held in escrow by the Issuer’s transfer agent as escrow agent and 

depositary pursuant an escrow agreement in accordance with National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial 

Public Offerings. “Principals” are (i) directors and senior officers of the Issuer or any material operating 

subsidiary, (ii) promoters of the Issuer during the two years preceding the date of this Listing Statement, 

(iii) holders of more than 10% of the outstanding common shares of the Issuer who also have a right to elect 

or appoint a director or senior officer of the Issuer or a material operating subsidiary, (iv) holders of more 

than 20% of the outstanding common shares of the Issuer, (v) companies, trusts, partnerships or other 

entities held more than 50% by one or more of the foregoing, and (vi) spouses or other relatives that live at 

the same address as any of the foregoing.  

10% of such securities held in escrow will be released from escrow on the date the Issuer’s common shares 

are listed on the CSE, and 15% will be released every six months thereafter, subject to acceleration 

provisions provided for in National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. The following 

table sets forth details of the securities of the Issuer held in escrow: 

Aggregate Number of 

Common Shares Held by 

Principals 

% of Outstanding 

Common Shares 

Escrow Release Schedule 

6,920,664 38.16% 

10% released upon Listing on the CSE; 

15% released 6 months from Listing; 

15% released 12 months from Listing; 

15% released 18 months from Listing; 

15% released 24 months from Listing; 

15% released 30 months from Listing; 

15% released 36 months from Listing. 

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of the Issuer, no persons or corporations beneficially own, 

directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over securities carrying in excess of 10% of the voting 

rights attached to any class of outstanding voting securities of the Issuer, other than Dr. Avram Adizes, the 

Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Issuer. 

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1 - Particulars of Directors and Officers 

Each appointed or elected director holds office until the close of the next annual general meeting of the 

Issuer, or until his or her successor is duly elected or appointed, unless his or her office is earlier vacated. 

The Issuer’s articles also allow for the appointment by the remaining directors of additional directors to fill 

vacancies. 

The Issuer’s Board currently consists of four directors: Dr. Avram Adizes, Syd Au, Michael Galloro, and 

Daniel Bloch. Of such four directors, one (Michael Galloro) is an “unrelated director” (being a director who 
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is independent of management and free from any material interest or relationship with the Issuer other than 

as a shareholder). The following table sets out the names of the directors and officers of the Issuer, the 

positions and offices which they hold with the Issuer, their respective principal occupations and the number 

of common shares of the Issuer which each beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or over which control 

or direction is exercised, as of the date hereof: 

Name and Present 

Positions Held Principal Occupation 

Director 

Since 

Number of 

Shares 

Owned or 

Controlled 

 

Ownership 

% 

Dr. Avram Adizes 

CEO & Director 

Businessman and 

Scientist 
August 2017 5,000,374 27.6% 

Sydney Au 

CFO & Director 
Businessman 

November 

2012 
220,290 1.2% 

Daniel N. Bloch, 

President, 

Secretary, and 

Director 

Lawyer August 2017 200,000 1.1% 

Michael Galloro,  

Director 
Accountant August 2017 3 - 

Ljiljana Vujotic 

Director 
Scientist August 2017 1,500,000 8.3% 

13.2 Period of Service of Directors 

Information on the period of service of directors of the Issuer is contained in the table in Section 13.1 – 

Particulars of Directors and Officers. 

13.3 Directors and Officers Common Share Ownership 

The current directors and senior officers of the Issuer as a group, directly or indirectly, beneficially own or 

exercise control or director over an aggregate of 6,920,667 common shares of the Issuer, representing 

approximately 38.2% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Issuer. 

13.4 Committees 

The Issuer has established one committee, the Audit Committee. The Issuer’s audit committee is comprised 

of three directors: Michael Galloro, Ljiljana Vujotic and Daniel Bloch, each of whom are “financially 

literate”, and of which Mr. Galloro and Ms. Vujotic are considered “independent”, each such term as 

defined in NI 52-110. The Issuer is relying on the exemption provided by section 6.1 of NI 52-110 pursuant 

to which the Issuer, as a venture issuer, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit 

Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 
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13.5 Principal Occupation of Directors and Officers 

Information on directors and officers’ principal occupations is contained in the table in Section 13.1- 

Particulars of Directors and Officers. 

13.5 Other Occupations 

In addition to the occupations of the current directors and officers of the Issuer as set out above in section 

13.1 hereof, above, the undernoted directors and or officers of the Issuer also serve as officers of other 

entities as set out below: 

Name Other Entities 

Sydney Au President, CEO - Evitrade Health Systems Corp. 

Michael Galloro Yangaroo Inc.(TSXV), CFO; Goldstream Minerals Inc. (TSXV – NEX), CEO 

and CFO 

Daniel Bloch Adira Energy Ltd. (TSXV), Corporate Secretary; ThreeD Capital Inc. (CSE), 

VP Business Development and General Counsel 

13.6 Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

Other than as disclosed below, to the knowledge of the Issuer, no current or proposed director, officer or 

promoter of the Issuer, or a security holder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect 

materially the control of the Issuer is, or within 10 years before the date hereof, has been, a director or 

officer of any other company that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a CTO or similar order, or an order that denied the other company access 

to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, that was issued at the time such person 

was acting in the capacity as director or officer, for a period of more than 30 consecutive 

days; 

(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a 

director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a CTO or similar order 

or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities 

legislation, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 

insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 

with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 

proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 

instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 

receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Other than as disclosed below, no proposed director of the Issuer has, within the 10 years before the date 

hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 

become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a 

receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director. 
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Petrohunter Energy Corporation, a reporting issuer in the United States, filed a 10-Q quarterly report for 

the quarter ended June 30, 2013, and did not make any subsequent financial filings. Daniel Bloch joined 

the board of directors of Petrohunter Energy Corporation in April of 2014 of assist with corporate 

governance and financial filings. However, the SEC revoked the company’s registration in August of 2016 

for failure to file reports. The board of directors of Petrohunter Energy Corporation determined to 

commence a voluntary bankruptcy in 2016. 

13.7 Penalties or Sanctions 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, no director, officer or promoter of the Issuer, or a security holder anticipated 

to hold sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer is, or within 10 years 

before the date hereof, has been, a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting 

in that capacity, has: 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities 

legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 

agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that 

would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment 

decision. 

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 

No director or officer of the Issuer is, or has, within the 10 years prior to the date hereof, been declared 

bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with 

creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that individual. 

13.10 Conflicts of Interest 

To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, and other than disclosed herein, there are no known existing  or  

potential  conflicts  of  interest  among  the  Issuer,  its  promoters,  directors  and officers or other members 

of management of the Issuer or of any proposed promoter, director, officer or other member of management 

as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors 

and officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties 

to the Issuer and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies. However, the directors of the 

Issuer are bound by the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) to act honestly and 

in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Issuer and to disclose any interests which they may 

have in any project or opportunity of the Issuer. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of 

directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 

13.11 Management 

Dr. Avram Adizes (Age: 62) –Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board  

Dr. Adizes has over 35 years’ experience in the fields of research and development with international 

knowledge in creating and implementing top technology solutions. Dr. Adizes previously worked as a 

senior scientist at the Institute Mihajlo Pupin as a Professional Engineer from 1983 to 1985, and was one 

of the pioneers in the development of computer science and its implementation in the industry, and then 

joined the project with Modular Computer Systems, Inc. (MODCOMP) and Allgemeine Elektricitäts-
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Gesellschaft AG (AEG) as senior researcher for the development of real time system from 1986 to 1989, 

where he worked on the Intel System of Management in real time for “Space Shuttle” and European 

“Ariana” financed and executed by MODCOMP, Intel, and AEG. Dr. Adizes’ has substantial experience 

in the computer and information technologies marketplace and has the ability to implement new 

technologies in a wide variety of settings. Dr. Adizes established growth leading projects in fields of public 

health systems, medical digital image technology for diagnostic purposes, directed development of security 

infrastructure according to international standards, allowing governments and businesses to communicate 

electronically with the general public and internally. 

Dr. Adizes holds a Ph.D. in Computer Science from the joint program at Stanford University and a P.Eng. 

in electrical engineering from the University of Belgrade. 

Dr. Adizes is an independent contractor and will dedicate approximately 80% of his time to the Issuer.  Dr. 

Adizes has not entered into a non-disclosure or non-competition agreement with the Issuer. 

Sydney Au (Age: 52) – Chief Financial Officer, Director  

Mr. Au has been active as the Founder, CEO and President of Evitrade, a public digital healthcare 

technology company, (formerly Auxellence Health Corp.) since April 2012 (CSE: EVA) and is also the 

Founder, CEO and President of AK PlasticBagsOnline Inc., a private plastics extrusion manufacturing 

company, since April 2004. 

Mr. Au has experience as a director and officer in public companies in a wide range of industries since 

2006. He has been active in the day to day operations of both private and public companies in various 

sectors, and has assisted in developing value for shareholders.  He has been involved in restructuring public 

companies and in various corporate transactions. Prior to that, he worked in the wealth management division 

of a major chartered bank in Canada where Mr. Au gained extensive experience managing portfolios for 

high net worth clients. 

Mr. Au holds a Bachelor of Arts (Commerce and Economics), a Bachelor of Science (Physical Geography) 

from the University of Toronto. 

Mr. Au is an independent contractor and will dedicate approximately 25% of his time to the Issuer.  Mr. Au 

has not entered into a non-disclosure or non-competition agreement with the Issuer. 

Michael Galloro, CPA CA (Age: 42) – Director 

Mr. Galloro has over 18 years of experience in finance and capital markets, financial reporting, corporate 

governance, securities legislation compliance, valuations, mergers & acquisitions and initial public 

offerings. Mr. Galloro gained significant public company financial governance and operations experience 

while acting as the VP Finance for NBS Technologies (now private), a wireless payment solutions 

enterprise, from 2001 to 2004. He later worked as a financial consultant for various companies and is 

currently a principal at ALOE Finance, a boutique transaction services firm, commencing this role in 2010. 

He is an experienced officer and director of private and publicly listed companies operating domestically 

and in emerging markets, and currently acts as a Chief Financial Officer and Director for private and 

publicly listed companies operating domestically and abroad. 

Mr. Galloro holds a Bachelor of Accounting degree from Brock University. 

Mr. Galloro is an independent contractor and will dedicate approximately 10% of his time to the Issuer.  

Mr. Galloro has not entered into a non-disclosure or non-competition agreement with the Issuer. 
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Daniel N. Bloch, J.D. (Age: 50) – President, Secretary, and Director 

Mr. Bloch has been a member of the Law Society of Upper Canada for 18 years as well as being registered 

as a Foreign Lawyer with the Israeli Bar Association since 2014. Mr. Bloch’s practice is global in nature 

and focuses on domestic and international matters in all areas of corporate finance, mergers and 

acquisitions, joint ventures, private equity and securities law. Mr. Bloch has been practicing law 

independently since May of 2016. Prior thereto he was a partner at Tomer Maharshak & Co. in Israel from 

May 2015 to May 2016. Previously he was a partner at Herzog, Fox & Neeman, an international law firm 

based in Israel, from May 2014 to May 2015, and prior thereto, Mr. Bloch was a partner at Aird & Berlis 

LLP, a law firm based in Toronto from 2004 to April, 2014. In addition to his international commercial 

practice, Mr. Bloch regularly represents and provides general corporate and securities law advice to publicly 

and privately held entities ranging in size from start up to those with established multi-national operations.  

Mr. Bloch has served as both an officer and director of Canadian and U.S. publicly listed companies, 

including presently as the Vice President of Business Development and General Counsel of ThreeD Capital 

Inc. and is a member of the Association of International Petroleum Negotiators. 

Mr. Bloch holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from York University and a Bachelor of Laws degree 

from the University of Victoria. 

Mr. Bloch is an independent contractor and will dedicate approximately 70% of his time to the Issuer.  Mr. 

Bloch has not entered into a non-disclosure or non-competition agreement with the Issuer. 

Prof. Ljiljana Vujotic, M.D. (Age: 59) – Director 

Prof. Vujotic has more than 30 years’ experience as a clinician and specialist in the field of neurosurgery, 

currently as head of the Pediatric Neurosurgery Department, Clinical Center of the Serbia Neurosurgery 

Division in Belgrade, Serbia, in addition to serving as President of the NT Committee of Quality 

Improvement of Health Care in Serbia since 2004. Prof. Vujotic is also director of post-graduate studies 

and an experienced professor of Neurosurgery at the medical school at the University of Belgrade. 

Prof. Vujotic holds a medical degree, and MSc. and a Ph.D. from the medical school at the University of 

Belgrade. 

Prof. Vujotic is an independent contractor and will dedicate approximately 20% of her time to the Issuer.  

Prof. Vujotic has not entered into a non-disclosure or non-competition agreement with the Issuer. 

Research Advisors 

Dr. Nada Petrovic – Advisor - Research 

Doctor of technical sciences in the field of chemistry and chemical technology. She graduated and received 

a Doctorate of Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Department of Biochemical 

Engineering and Biotechnology in the field of separation technology and the biological activity of essential 

oils and plant extracts of medicinal and aromatic plants.  

Has participated in 5 international projects, two projects funded by the Ministry of Science and 

Technological Development of Republic of Serbia and 1 project funded by the Fund for Environmental 

Protection of the Republic of Serbia 
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Dr. Slobodan Petrovic, Advisor - Research 

Founder of the company BIOSS from Belgrade, which deals with the design of new and innovation of 

existing equipment and devices in the field of distillation and extraction of aromatic plants, practical 

distillation on the laboratory, pilot plant and industrial scale 

Primarily engaged in the research and allocation of “new material” of aromatic and medicinal plants, for 

the pharmaceutical and cosmetic industry 

Management will initially be comprised of the current directors, although it is intended to recruit other 

individuals with seasoned industry experience, or to inherit such persons through acquisition of an existing 

business, to serve in various operational capacities once the Issuer is in the position to offer attractive 

incentive packages for new employees.  

Each of the members of the Issuer’s current management team is an independent contractor; does not 

provide his or her services to the Issuer as an employee or under a written contract; and has not entered into 

any non-competition or non-disclosure agreements with the Issuer. 

14. CAPITALIZATION 

14.1 Issued Capital 18,135,265 

As of the Date of this Listing Statement 
Number of Securities % of Issued Capital 

(non-diluted) (fully-diluted) (non-diluted) (fully-diluted) 

Public Float 

Total outstanding (A): 

18,135,265 21,005,265 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the Issuer or 

Related Person of the Issuer, or by persons or 

companies who beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer 

(or who would beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the Issuer 

upon exercise or conversion of other securities held) 

(B): 

8,420,667 10,920,667 46.4% 52.0% 

Total Public Float (A) - (B): 9,714,598 10,084,598 53.6% 48.0% 

Freely-Tradable Float     

Number of outstanding securities subject to resale 

restrictions, including restrictions imposed by pooling 

or other arrangements or in a shareholder agreement 

and securities held by control block holders (C): 

9,665,664(1) 11,435,664(2) 53.3% 54.4% 

Total Tradable Float (A) - (C): 8,469,601 9,569,601 46.7% 45.6% 

Notes: 

(1) 6,920,664 of such common shares are subject to escrow requirements (see 11 – Escrow), and 2,745,000 of such common 

shares were issued pursuant to the Offering and the Debt Settlement and are subject to statutory resale restrictions until 

December 23, 2017. 
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(2) Of such securities, 6,920,664 common shares are subject to escrow requirements (see 11 – Escrow), 2,745,000 common 

shares and 1,770,000 Warrants were issued pursuant to the Offering and the Debt Settlement and are subject to statutory 

resale restrictions until December 23, 2017. 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of the following table, “public securityholders” are persons other than persons enumerated 

in section (B) of the above Issue Capital table, and only registered holders are listed. 

Class of Security: Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 - 99 securities 78  2,475 

100 – 499 securities 3  700 

500 – 999 securities 1  680 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 1  1,337 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 0  0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 2  6,666 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 1  4,167 

5,000 or more securities 38  6,647,796 

Total 124  6,663,821 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

For the purposes of the following table, “public securityholders (beneficial)” include (i) beneficial holders 

holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities 

through an intermediary; but does not include “non-public securityholders” being those persons enumerated 

in section (B) of the above Issued Capital table. 

Class of Security: Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 - 99 securities 195  3,676 

100 – 499 securities 21  4,903 

500 – 999 securities 16  10,221 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 20  26,568 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 11  25,750 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 10  33,356 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 6  26,595 

5,000 or more securities 121  9,583,529 

Unable to confirm Unable to confirm(1)  - 

Total 400  9,714,598 

Note: 
(1) Shares are held by an unknown number of participants (intermediaries) through CDS & Co., the Canadian 

depository for securities. 



 

41 

 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this table, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated in section (B) of the 

above Issued Capital table. 

Class of Security: Common Shares 

Size of Holding Number of holders  Total number of securities 

1 - 99 securities 1  3 

100 – 499 securities 0  0 

500 – 999 securities 0  0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 0  0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 0  0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 0  0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 0  0 

5,000 or more securities 4  8,420,664 

Total 5  8,420,667 

14.2 Convertible/Exchangeable Securities 

The Issuer has 1,770,000 Warrants and stock option exercisable for 1,100,000 common shares outstanding 

as at the date hereof. 

14.3 Other Listed Securities 

Other than 1,770,000 common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of the outstanding 

Warrants, 1,100,000 common shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of outstanding stock 

option, and an additional 713,526 common shares of the Issuer reserved for issuance as at the date hereof 

under the Stock Option Plan (see 9 – Options to Purchase Securities), there are no securities of the Issuer 

currently reserved for issuance. 

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Named Executive Officers 

For the purposes of this Listing Statement, a “Named Executive Officer” of the Issuer means each of the 

following individuals: 

(a) a Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer; 

(b) a Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer; 

(c) each of the Issuer’s three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most 

highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the Chief Executive 

Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, at the end of the most recently completed financial 

year whose total compensation was, individually, more than $150,000, as determined in 

accordance with subsection 1.3(5) of Form 51-102F6V, for that financial year; and 
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(d) each individual who would be an Named Executive Officer under paragraph (c) above but 

for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting in 

a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year. 

The Named Executive Officers of the Issuer during the financial year ended June 30, 2016 was Syd Au and 

Faisal Manji.  

Summary Compensation Table 

The following table provides a summary of compensation paid, directly or indirectly, for each of the two 

most recently completed financial years to the Named Executive Officers and the directors of the Issuer: 

TABLE OF COMPENSATION EXCLUDING COMPENSATION SECURITIES(1) 

Name and position 

Year 

Ended 

June 

30 

Salary, 

consulting fee, 

retainer or 

commission 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee or 

meeting fees 

($) 

Value of 

perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 

other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Syd Au 

CEO(2) and Director 

2016 

2015 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil  

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Faisal Manji 

CFO(3)  

2016 

2015 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil  

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Ron Ozols 

Director(4) 

2016 

2015 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil  

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Notes: 

(1) This table does not include any amount paid as reimbursement for expenses. 

(2) Syd Au resigned as Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer effective as of August 31, 2017. 

(3) Faisal Manji  resigned as Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer effective as of April 28, 2017. 

(4) Ron Ozols resigned as a director of the Issuer effective as of April 28, 2017. 

The Issuer’s current Board of Directors is comprised of Dr. Avram Adizes, Syd Au, Michael Galloro and 

Daniel Bloch. The Issuer has no arrangements, standard or otherwise, pursuant to which directors are 

compensated by the Issuer or its subsidiaries for their services in their capacity as directors. The directors 

of the Issuer may be reimbursed for actual expenses reasonably incurred in connection with the performance 

of their duties as directors. Directors are also eligible to receive incentive stock options to purchase common 

shares of the Issuer under the Issuer’s Stock Option Plan. In addition, directors of the Issuer may receive 

compensation for management and/or consulting services provided to the Issuer. 

Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

The Issuer did not grant or issue any compensation securities to its Named Executive Officers or directors 

during the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year for services provided or to be provided, directly 

or indirectly, to the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries: 

No compensation securities were exercised by any Named Executive Officer or any director of the Issuer 

during the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year. 
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Stock Option Plan and Other Incentive Plans 

The Issuer has adopted the Stock Option Plan whereby a maximum of 10% of the issued and outstanding 

common shares of the Issuer, from time to time, may be reserved for issuance pursuant to the exercise of 

options. See 9 – Options to Purchase Securities. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

As at the date hereof, the Issuer has not entered into employment, consulting or management agreements 

with any persons. 

Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 

Decisions regarding the compensation of Named Executive Officers and directors are made by the Issuer’s 

Board of Directors. When determining the compensation of the Named Executive Officers and directors, 

the Board of Directors considers the resources of the Issuer and the objectives of: (i) recruiting and retaining 

the executives and directors critical to the success of the Issuer and the enhancement of shareholder value; 

(ii) providing fair and competitive compensation; (iii) balancing the interests of management and 

shareholders of the Issuer; and (iv) rewarding performance, both on an individual basis and with respect to 

the business in general. In order to achieve these objectives, the compensation paid to the Named Executive 

Officers consists of the following two components:  

(a) base fee or salary; and  

(b) long-term incentive in the form of stock options.  

Base Fee or Salary  

The base fee or salary of each particular Named Executive Officer is determined by an assessment by the 

Board of Directors of such executive’s performance, a consideration of competitive compensation levels in 

companies similar to the Issuer and a review of the performance of the Issuer as a whole and the role such 

executive officer played in such corporate performance. 

Long-Term Incentive 

The Issuer provides a long-term incentive by granting options to executive officers and directors under the 

Stock Option Plan. The objective of granting options is to encourage executives to acquire an ownership 

interest in the Issuer over a period of time, which acts as a financial incentive for such executive to consider 

the long-term interests of the Issuer and its shareholders.  

Option Based Awards  

The Board of Directors reviews the performance of the Issuer’s management, directors and advisors from 

time to time, and recommends option-based awards and other compensation awards or adjustments. These 

decisions take into consideration corporate and individual performance and industry standards. Previous 

grants of option-based awards are also taken into consideration in making this determination. The 

experience of the Board members who are also involved as management of, or Board members or advisors 

to, other companies also informs decisions concerning compensation. 
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Pension and Retirement Plans and Payments made upon Termination of Employment 

The Issuer does not have any pension or retirement plan which is applicable to the Named Executive 

Officers or directors. 

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

No existing or proposed director, executive officer or senior officer of the Issuer or any associate of any of 

them, was indebted to the Issuer as at the financial year ended June 30, 2016, or is currently indebted to the 

Issuer. 

16.2 Indebtedness under Securities Purchase and Other Programs 

Not applicable. 

17. RISK FACTORS 

17.1 Risk Factors 

The business to be conducted by the Issuer is subject to a number of risks outlined below. While this Listing 

Statement has described the risks and uncertainties that management of the Issuer believes to be material 

to the Issuer’s business, other risks and uncertainties affecting the Issuer’s business could potentially arise 

or become material in the future. The following risk factors should be carefully considered in evaluating 

the Issuer. The risks presented below may not be all of the risks that the Issuer may face. 

Regulatory Risks 

The business activities of the Issuer are, and will continue to be, subject to evolving regulation by 

governmental authorities. The Issuer is directly or indirectly engaged in the growth of plant materials used 

in cosmeuticals and medical cannabis industry in Europe where local and area law permits such activities. 

The legality of the production, extraction, distribution and use of cannabis differs among different 

jurisdictions, and there re is a growing movement globally supporting the legalization of cannabis for 

medical, as well as non-medical purposes. 

The Issuer’s investments have been focused in areas that have legalized the growing and processing 

cannabis as a plant for industrial purposes.  In comparison in North America, the states of Washington, 

Oregon, Colorado and Alaska, and the District of Columbia, have legalized recreational use of cannabis. 

Almost half of the U.S. states have enacted legislation to legalize and regulate the sale and use of medical 

cannabis without limits on THC, while other states have legalized and regulate the sale and use of medical 

cannabis with strict limits on the levels of THC. However, the US federal government has not enacted 

similar legislation and the cultivation, sale and use of cannabis remains illegal under federal law pursuant 

to the U.S. Controlled Substance Act of 1970. While the US federal government has stated its present 

intention not to enforce federal laws relating to cannabis where the conduct at issue is legal under applicable 

state law, there can be no assurance that it will not enforce such laws in the future. This risk is further 

compounded due to the recent election of Donald Trump to the U.S. presidency, and his nomination of Sen. 

Jeff Sessions to the post of Attorney General. Mr. Trump’s positions regarding marijuana are difficult to 

discern; however, Sen. Sessions has been a consistent opponent of marijuana legalization efforts throughout 

his political career. It remains unclear what stance the new administration’s Department of Justice might 

take toward legalization efforts in U.S. states. The federal government of the United States has specifically 
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reserved the right to enforce federal law in regards to the sale and disbursement of medical or adult-use use 

marijuana even if state law sanctioned such sale and disbursement. 

Further, there can be no assurance that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis will 

not be repealed or overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the applicability of state 

laws within their respective jurisdictions. It is also important to note that local and city ordinances may 

strictly limit and/or restrict the distribution of cannabis in a manner that will make it extremely difficult or 

impossible to transact business in the cannabis industry. If the federal government begins to enforce federal 

laws relating to cannabis in states where the sale and use of cannabis is currently legal, or if existing state 

laws are repealed or curtailed, the Issuer’s investments in such businesses would be materially and 

adversely affected notwithstanding the fact that the Issuer is not directly engaged in the sale or distribution 

of cannabis. Federal actions against any individual or entity engaged in the marijuana industry or a 

substantial repeal of marijuana related legislation could adversely affect the Issuer, its business and its 

investments.  

The Issuer’s funding of its activities in the medical and recreational cannabis industry through loans, 

royalties or other forms of investment, may be illegal under the applicable federal laws of the United States 

and other applicable law. There can be no assurances the federal government of the United States or other 

jurisdictions will not seek to enforce the applicable laws against the Issuer. The consequences of such 

enforcement would be materially adverse to the Issuer and the Issuer’s business and could result in the 

forfeiture or seizure of all or substantially all of the Issuer’s assets. 

Foreign Operations Risk 

In the event the Issuer exercises the Option and acquires a 100% interest in Opco, the Issuer could be subject 

to a variety of additional risks based on having assets and business located in Serbia, that may negatively 

impact the Issuer’s operations. In addition, the Issuer may pursue acquisition opportunities in other 

geographic regions. 

Operational control and record keeping are some of the risk areas identified by Canadian securities 

regulators for issuers with business operations in emerging market jurisdictions such as Serbia. In order to 

strengthen the internal controls systems and internal controls over financial reporting obligations of the 

Issuer in the event the Option is exercised, the Issuer intends to have Opco audited by the Issuer’s 

independent audit firm. Additionally, the Issuer’s Board of Directors and audit committee shall oversee the 

deployment of the Issuer’s internal control programs and procedures and will work alongside the Issuer’s 

CFO, and will play a crucial role in the day to day operations of Opco in Serbia. All funds received by Opco 

from the Issuer, will only be allocated and transferred from time to time to the operating subsidiary in Serbia 

with the approval of the Issuer’s Board of Directors or audit committee, and only for specific purposes. 

In the event of a dispute arising in connection with the Issuer’s operations in a foreign jurisdiction where 

the Issuer conducts its business, the Issuer may be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or 

may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdictions of the courts of Canada or enforcing 

Canadian judgments in such other jurisdictions. The Issuer may also be hindered or prevented from 

enforcing its rights with respect to a governmental instrumentality because of the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity. Accordingly, the Issuer’s activities in foreign jurisdictions could be substantially affected by 

factors beyond the Issuer’s control, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer. Some 

countries in which the Issuer may operate in the future, including Serbia, may be considered politically and 

economically unstable. In some cases, failure to follow such formalities or obtain relevant evidence may 

call into question the validity of the entity or the actions taken. Management of the Issuer is unable to 

predict the effect of additional corporate and regulatory formalities which may be adopted in the future 
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including whether any such laws or regulations would materially increase the Issuer’s cost of doing business 

or affect its operations in any area.  

Other special considerations or risks associated with companies operating in Serbia, or other foreign 

jurisdictions, as applicable, include but are not limited to, any of the following: 

 costs and difficulties inherent in managing cross-border business operations; 

 rules and regulations regarding currency redemption; 

 complex corporate withholding taxes on individuals; 

 laws governing the manner in which future qualifying acquisitions may be effected; 

 exchange listing and/or delisting requirements; 

 tariffs and trade barriers; 

 regulations related to customs and import/export matters; 

 local or regional economic policies and market conditions; 

 underdeveloped or unpredictable legal or regulatory systems; 

 longer payment cycles; 

 tax issues, such as tax law changes and variations in tax laws as compared to Canada; 

 currency fluctuations and exchange controls; 

 rates of inflation; 

 challenges in collecting accounts receivable; 

 cultural and language differences; 

 employment regulations; 

 protection of intellectual property; 

 social unrest, corruption, crime, strikes, riots, civil disturbances, terrorist attacks and wars; and 

 deterioration of political relations with Canada and/or the United States or other governments or 

sanctions imposed by Canada and/or the United States or other governments. 

The Issuer may also be subject to currency exchange risks in connection with the exercise of the Option or 

any other such acquisition. The Issuer may not be able to adequately address these additional risks. If the 

Issuer was unable to do so, its operations and business might suffer accordingly. 

Licensing 

Opco has obtained its cultivation license in Serbia to grow industrial hemp based strains of cannabis, and 

is intending to apply for an extraction license in order to extract oils for the cosmeceutical and nutraceutical 

markets. However, there can be no assurance that Opco will be granted such a license. Denial of Opco’s 

application for such a license is reasonably expected to materially adversely affect the Issuer’s business, 

financial condition and operations, as one of the Issuer’s strategies is to use hemp seed oil (for its zero 

comedogenic rating), and the CBDs from the hemp plant for skin care product formulations for the 

treatment of acne and other topical creams in a line of hemp-based cosmeceuticals or dermocosmetics. 

Change in Laws, Regulations and Guidelines 

The Issuer’s current and proposed operations are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines 

relating to the manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of cannabis, but also 

including laws and regulations relating to consumable products health and safety, the conduct of operations 

and the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are broad in scope and subject to evolving 

interpretations, which could require the Issuer to incur substantial costs associated with compliance or alter 

certain aspects of our business plan. In addition, violations of these laws, or allegations of such violations, 
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could disrupt certain aspects of the Issuer’s business plan and result in a material adverse effect on certain 

aspects of its planned operations.  

Unfavorable Publicity or Consumer Perception 

The legal cannabis industry in the United States and Canada is at an early stage of its development. Cannabis 

has been, and will continue to be, a controlled substance for the foreseeable future. Consumer perceptions 

regarding legality, morality, consumption, safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis are mixed and evolving. 

Consumer perception can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory 

investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis 

products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, 

litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favorable to the cannabis market 

or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, regulatory 

proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that 

question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand 

for cannabis and on the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Issuer. 

Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding cannabis in general, or associating the 

consumption of cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse 

effect. 

Public opinion and support for medical and recreational cannabis use has traditionally been inconsistent 

and varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. While public opinion and support appears to be rising for 

legalizing medical and recreational cannabis, it remains a controversial issue subject to differing opinions 

surrounding the level of legalization (for example, medical marijuana as opposed to legalization in general). 

The Issuer’s ability to gain and increase market acceptance of its products may require it to establish and 

maintain its brand name and reputation. In order to do so, substantial expenditures on product development, 

strategic relationships and marketing initiatives may be required. There can be no assurance that these 

initiatives will be successful and their failure may have an adverse effect on the Issuer. 

Limited Operating History 

The Issuer has varying and limited operating history, which can make it difficult for investors to evaluate 

the Issuer’s operations and prospects and may increase the risks associated with investment into the Issuer. 

Neither 2554191 Ontario Inc. nor the Issuer has generated significant profits of revenues in the periods 

covered by their respective financial statements included herein, and, as a result, have only a very limited 

operating history upon which its business and future prospects may be evaluated. Although the Issuer 

expects to generate nominal revenues from its investments, many of the investments will only start 

generating revenues in future periods and accordingly, the Issuer is therefore expected to remain subject to 

many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises for the foreseeable future, including challenges related 

to laws, regulations, licensing, integrating and retaining qualified employees; making effective use of 

limited resources; achieving market acceptance of existing and future solutions; competing against 

companies with greater financial and technical resources; acquiring and retaining customers; and 

developing new solutions. 

Competition 

There is potential that the Issuer will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be 

expected to have longer operating histories and more financial resources and experience than the Issuer. 

Currently, the cannabis cosmeceuticals, nutraceuticals and pharmaceuticals industry generally is comprised 
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of individuals and small to medium-sized entities, however, the risk remains that large conglomerates and 

companies who also recognize the potential for financial success through investment in this industry could 

strategically purchase or assume control of larger dispensaries and cultivation facilities. In doing so, these 

larger competitors could establish price setting and cost controls which would effectively “price out” many 

of the individuals and small to medium-sized entities who currently make up the bulk of the participants in 

the varied businesses operating within and in support of the medical and adult-use marijuana industry. 

While the trend in most state laws and regulations seemingly deters this type of arrangement, this industry 

is still relatively new for public entities, so what the competitive environment will be in the future remains 

largely unknown, which is a risk. 

Because of the early stage of the industry in which the Issuer will operate, the Issuer expects to face 

additional competition from new entrants. To become and remain competitive, the Issuer will require 

research and development, marketing, sales and support. The Issuer may not have sufficient resources to 

maintain research and development, marketing, sales and support efforts on a competitive basis which could 

materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer. 

Banking 

Since the production and possession of cannabis is illegal under US federal law, there is a strong argument 

that banks cannot accept for deposit funds from businesses involved with the marijuana industry. 

Consequently, businesses involved in the marijuana industry often have difficulty finding a bank willing to 

accept their business. The inability to open bank accounts with certain institutions may make it difficult to 

operate the Issuer’s business. 

Additional Financing 

The Issuer may require equity and/or debt financing to undertake capital expenditures or to undertake 

acquisitions or other business combination transactions. There can be no assurance that additional financing 

will be available to the Issuer when needed or on terms that are commercially viable. 

The Issuer’s inability to raise financing to fund capital expenditures or acquisitions could limit its growth 

and may have a material adverse effect upon future profitability. 

If additional funds are raised through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing 

shareholders could suffer significant dilution. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve 

restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which 

may make it more difficult for the Issuer to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, 

including potential acquisitions. 

Currency Fluctuations 

The Issuer’s revenues and expenses are expected to be primarily denominated in Canadian dollars, while 

Opco’s business is transacted primarily in Euros, and therefore the Issuer may be exposed to significant 

currency exchange fluctuations. Recent events in the global financial markets have been coupled with 

increased volatility in the currency markets. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Euro and the 

Canadian dollar may have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition and 

operating results upon exercise of the Option. The Issuer may, in the future, establish a program to hedge a 

portion of its foreign currency exposure with the objective of minimizing the impact of adverse foreign 

currency exchange movements. However, even if the Issuer develops a hedging program, there can be no 

assurance that it will effectively mitigate currency risks. 
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Risks Associated with Acquisitions 

As part of the Issuer’s overall business strategy, the Issuer intends to pursue select strategic acquisitions 

after the completion of the Listing, which would provide additional product offerings, vertical integrations, 

additional industry expertise, and a stronger industry presence in both existing and new jurisdictions. Future 

acquisitions may expose it to potential risks, including risks associated with: (a) the integration of new 

operations, services and personnel; (b) unforeseen or hidden liabilities; (c) the diversion of resources from 

the Issuer’s existing business and technology; (d) potential inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset 

new costs; (e) the expenses of acquisitions; or (f) the potential loss of or harm to relationships with both 

employees and existing users resulting from its integration of new businesses. In addition, any proposed 

acquisitions may be subject to regulatory approval. 

Research and Market Development 

Although the Issuer is committed to researching and developing new markets and products and improving 

existing products, there can be no assurances that such research and market development activities will 

prove profitable or that the resulting markets and/or products, if any, will be commercially viable or 

successfully produced and marketed. 

Due to the early stage of the legal hemp and cannabis industry, forecasts regarding the size of the industry 

and the sales of products by the Issuer is inherently subject to significant unreliability. A failure in the 

demand for products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other factors could 

have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer. 

Reliance on Management 

The success of the Issuer is dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its 

senior management. While employment agreements or management agreements are customarily used as a 

primary method of retaining the services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued 

services of such employees. Any loss of the services of such individuals could have a material adverse 

effect on the Issuer’s business, operating results or financial condition. 

Operation Permits and Authorizations 

The Issuer may not be able to obtain or maintain the necessary licenses, permits, authorizations or 

accreditations, or may only be able to do so at great cost, to operate their respective businesses. In addition, 

the Issuer may not be able to comply fully with the wide variety of laws and regulations applicable to the 

cannabis industry. Failure to comply with or to obtain the necessary licenses, permits, authorizations or 

accreditations could result in restrictions on the Issuer’s ability to operate in the cannabis industry, which 

could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business. 

Liability, Enforcement Complaints, etc. 

The Issuer’s participation in the cannabis industry may lead to litigation, formal or informal complaints, 

enforcement actions, and inquiries by various federal, state, or local governmental authorities against these 

subsidiaries. Litigation, complaints, and enforcement actions involving these subsidiaries could consume 

considerable amounts of financial and other corporate resources, which could have an adverse effect on the 

Issuer’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Product Liability 

The Issuer may intend to manufacture, process and/or distribute products designed to be ingested by 

humans, and therefore face an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and 

litigation if products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, previously unknown 

adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of cannabis alone or in combination with other 

medications or substances could occur. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Issuer 

could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Issuer’s reputation, and could have a material 

adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Issuer. 

Reliance on Key Inputs 

The cultivation, extraction and processing of cannabis and derivative products is dependent on a number of 

key inputs and their related costs including raw materials, electricity, water and other local utilities. Any 

significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key 

inputs could materially impact the business, financial condition and operating results of the Issuer. Some 

of these inputs may only be available from a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. 

If a sole source supplier was to go out of business, the Issuer might be unable to find a replacement for such 

source in a timely manner or at all. Any inability to secure required supplies and services or to do so on 

appropriate terms could have a materially adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating 

results of the Issuer. 

Resale of Shares 

Although conditional approval for the Listing of the Issuer Shares has been obtained from the CSE, there 

can be no assurance that, an active and liquid market for the Issuer’s common shares will develop or be 

maintained and an investor may find it difficult to resell any securities of the Issuer. In addition, there can 

be no assurance that the publicly-traded stock price of the Issuer will be high enough to create a positive 

return for investors. Further, there can be no assurance that the stock of the Issuer will be sufficiently liquid 

so as to permit investors to sell their position in the Issuer without adversely affecting the stock price. In 

such event, the probability of resale of the Issuer’s shares would be diminished. 

Price Volatility of Publicly Traded Securities 

In recent years, the securities markets in the United States and Canada have experienced a high level of 

price and volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide 

fluctuations in price which have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset 

values or prospects of such companies. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price will 

not occur. It may be anticipated that any quoted market for the common shares of the Issuer will be subject 

to market trends generally, notwithstanding any potential success of the Issuer in creating revenues, cash 

flows or earnings. The value of the Issuer’s shares will be affected by such volatility. An active public 

market for the Issuer’s shares might not develop or be sustained after the completion of the Listing. If an 

active public market for the Issuer’s shares does not develop, the liquidity of a shareholder’s investment 

may be limited and the share price may decline. 

The Issuer is dependent upon its existing management, its key research and development personnel and its 

growing extraction personnel, and its business may be severely disrupted if it loses their service. 

The Issuer’s future success depends substantially on the continued services of its executive officers, its key 

research and development personnel and its key growth and extraction personnel. If one or more of its 
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executive officers or key personnel were unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, the 

Issuer might not be able to replace them easily or at all. In addition, if any of its executive officers or key 

employees joins a competitor or forms a competing company, the Issuer may lose know-how, key 

professionals and staff members. These executive officers and key employees could compete with and take 

customers away. 

Management of Growth 

The Issuer may experience a period of significant growth in the number of personnel that will place a strain 

upon its management systems and resources. Its future will depend in part on the ability of its officers and 

other key employees to implement and improve financial and management controls, reporting systems and 

procedures on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and manage the workforce. 

The Issuer’s current and planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may be inadequate to support 

its future operations. 

Dividends 

The Issuer has not paid dividends in the past, and the Issuer does not anticipate paying any dividends in the 

foreseeable future. Dividends paid by the Issuer would be subject to tax and, potentially, withholdings. 

Intellectual Property 

The success of the Issuer will depend, in part, on the Issuer’s ability to maintain and enhance trade secret 

protection over the various existing and potential proprietary techniques and processes of the Issuer. The 

Issuer may be vulnerable to competitors who develop competing technology, whether independently or as 

a result of acquiring access to the proprietary products and trade secrets of the Issuer. In addition, effective 

future patent, copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign 

countries and may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. 

Insurance Coverage 

The Issuer will require insurance coverage for a number of risks. Although the management of the Issuer 

believes that the events and amounts of liability covered by its insurance policies will be reasonable, taking 

into account the risks relevant to its business, and the fact that agreements with users contain limitations of 

liability, there can be no assurance that such coverage will be available or sufficient to cover claims to 

which the Issuer may become subject. If insurance coverage is unavailable or insufficient to cover any such 

claims, the Issuer’s financial resources, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected. 

Costs of Maintaining a Public Listing 

As a public company, there are costs associated with legal, accounting and other expenses related to 

regulatory compliance. Securities legislation and the rules and policies of the CSE require listed companies 

to, among other things, adopt corporate governance and related practices, and to continuously prepare and 

disclose material information, all of which add to a company’s legal and financial compliance costs. The 

Issuer may also elect to devote greater resources than it otherwise would have on communication and other 

activities typically considered important by publicly traded companies. 
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Litigation 

The Issuer may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which could 

adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Issuer becomes involved be determined 

against the Issuer, such a decision could adversely affect the Issuer's ability to continue operating and the 

market price for Issuer’s common shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Issuer is involved 

in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant resources. 

Operational Risks 

The Issuer may be affected by a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain 

risks, including: labour disputes; catastrophic accidents; fires; blockades or other acts of social activism; 

changes in the regulatory environment; impact of non-compliance with laws and regulations; natural 

phenomena, such as inclement weather conditions, floods, earthquakes and ground movements. There is no 

assurance that the foregoing risks and hazards will not result in damage to, or destruction of, the Issuer’s 

properties, grow facilities and extraction facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, adverse 

impacts on the Issuer’s operations, costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability and adverse governmental 

action, any of which could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s future cash flows, earnings and financial 

condition on the Issuer. Also, the Issuer may be subject to or affected by liability or sustain loss for certain 

risks and hazards against which they may elect not to insure because of the cost. This lack of insurance 

coverage could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and 

financial condition. 

Agricultural Business Operations Risk 

The Issuer may be affected by the fact that industrial hemp or cannabis production is an agricultural product.  

There are inherent risks with the agricultural growing or production businesses.  Such risks may include 

bad weather, plant disease, bacteria, fungus, mold, and insect pests, among others. Any of the mentioned 

or possibly unforeseen risks could adversely affect production. 

Difficulty Implementing Business Strategy 

The growth and expansion of the Issuer’s business is heavily dependent upon the successful implementation 

of its business strategy. There can be no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in the implementation 

of its business strategy. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the Issuer’s directors and officers are, and may continue to be, involved in other business ventures 

through their direct and indirect participation in corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, etc. that may 

become potential competitors of the technologies, products and services the Issuer intends to provide. 

Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions or opportunities where the other interests of 

these directors and officers conflict with or diverge from the Issuer’s interests. In accordance with 

applicable corporate law, directors who have a material interest in or who is a party to a material contract 

or a proposed material contract with the Issuer are required, subject to certain exceptions, to disclose that 

interest and generally abstain from voting on any resolution to approve the contract. In addition, the 

directors and officers are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the Issuer’s best interests. 

However, in conflict of interest situations, the Issuer’s directors and officers may owe the same duty to 

another company and will need to balance their competing interests with their duties to the Issuer. 

Circumstances (including with respect to future corporate opportunities) may arise that may be resolved in 

a manner that is unfavourable to the Issuer. 
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Available Talent Pool 

As the Issuer grows, it will need to hire additional human resources to continue to develop the business. 

However, experienced talent in the areas of medical marijuana research and development, growing 

marijuana and extraction is difficult to source, and there can be no assurance that the appropriate individuals 

will be available or affordable to the Issuer. Without adequate personnel and expertise, the growth of the 

Issuer’s business may suffer. 

Additional Risk Factors 

Listed below are some additional factors that may affect the Issuer’s performance, financial condition or 

results of operations. 

 the confusion between industrial hemp, cannabis and marijuana and how their uses; 

 development and growth of the industrial hemp, cannabis and medical marijuana industry in 

general; 

 Health Canada license approvals and changes in government regulations; 

 Serbian and European license approvals and changes in government regulations; 

 the ability to comply with applicable governmental regulations and standards; 

 the impact of changes in the number of medical cannabis users; 

 the impact of changes in demand for the use of hemp or cannabis products; 

 the ability to obtain the capital required to fund acquisitions and operations; 

 dependence on strategic licensees; 

 dependence on cooperative producers to plant crops on their land; 

 the impact of changes in the business strategies and operations of strategic partners; 

 the achievement of development goals and time frames; 

 the impact of climate change and weather for growing the feedstock inventory; 

 the Issuer's ability to market, sell and distribute its products; 

 competition and rapid technological changes in the industry; 

 the ability to attract and retain key personnel; 

 the possibility of shareholder dilution and stock market volatility; 

 the extent of future losses and accumulated deficit levels; 

 the ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel; and 
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 the ability to obtain any required intellectual property protection and liability insurance. 

18. PROMOTERS 

18.1 Promoters 

Directors Sydney Au and Avram Adizes are considered to be promoters of the Issuer in that they are both 

considered founders of the Issuer’s business. 

Other than as aforesaid or as otherwise disclosed herein, during the two years immediately preceding the 

date hereof: 

(a) there is nothing of value, including money, property, contracts, options or rights of any 

kind received or to be received by any of the promoters directly or indirectly from the 

Issuer or from a subsidiary of the Issuer, nor any assets, services or other consideration 

received or to be received by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

(b) no asset has been acquired, within the two years before the date of this document, or is to 

be acquired by the Issuer or by a subsidiary of the Issuer, from a promoter. 

18.2 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

Except as previously disclosed herein, no promoter, while acting in the capacity as director, chief executive 

officer or chief financial officer of any person or company, within 10 years before the date of this document: 

(a) was subject to a CTO (or an order similar to a cease trade order, or an order that denied the 

relevant person or company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was 

in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days) that was issued while the promoter 

was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; 

(b) was subject to any such order that was issued after the promoter ceased to be a director, 

chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that 

occurred while the promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer 

or chief financial officer; or 

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 

insolvency, or became subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 

with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets 

of the promoter. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

19.1 Legal Proceedings 

The Issuer is not a party to any legal proceedings and is not aware of any such proceedings known to be 

contemplated. 

19.2 Regulatory Actions 

The Issuer is not a party to any regulatory actions. 
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20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT & OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

20.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 

No director or executive officer of the Issuer or any person or company that is the direct or indirect 

beneficial owner of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class of the 

Issuer’s outstanding voting securities, or an associate or affiliate of any such persons or companies, has any 

material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years preceding the date of this 

document, or any proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer. 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

The Issuer’s auditor is Adam Sung Kim Ltd., Chartered Accountant, of Unit #114B (2nd Floor) – 8988 

Fraserton Court, Burnaby, BC V5J 5H8. The Issuer’s transfer agent and registrar is Reliable Stock Transfer 

Inc. of 100 King St. West, Suite 5700, Toronto, ON. M5X 1C7. 

 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Effective April 4, 2017, the Issuer entered into the Option Agreement among the Issuer, Eviana Inc., and 

Dr. Avram Adizes, pursuant to which the Issuer acquired the Option to purchase a 100% equity interest in 

Eviana Inc., an Ontario corporation wholly-owned by Dr. Avram Adizes that holds certain assets in Serbia 

related to the cultivation of industrial hemp plant oil for the pharmaceutical, nutraceutical and cosmeceutical 

industry. Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreement, the Issuer can exercise the Option at any time at 

its sole discretion prior to March 31, 2019 by (i) the Issuer having first funded more than $3,000,000 to 

Eviana Inc. by way of advance, loan, or as otherwise agreed, (ii) delivering written notice to Dr. Adizes of 

its intention to exercise the Option, and (iii) the payment by C&C to Dr. Adizes of $50,000 within 7 days 

of delivery of such notice. Upon exercise of the Option, the outstanding common shares of Eviana Inc. shall 

be transferred to the Issuer, and the Issuer will become the sole shareholder of Eviana Inc. In the event the 

Option is exercised by the Issuer, in addition to the $50,000 price payable upon exercise, the Issuer shall 

become obligated to pay Dr. Adizes $50,000 per calendar month in respect of which Eviana Inc. generates 

consolidated net income of at least $1,000,000, for a maximum of nine (9) months for an additional 

aggregate total of $450,000. Under the terms of the Option Agreement, at all times prior to the exercise of 

the Option Eviana is obligated to remain in good standing under applicable laws, and to conduct its business 

in the ordinary course. The Option Agreement, and the Option may be terminated by the Issuer at any time 

in its sole discretion. 

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

No person or company named in this document as having prepared or certified a part of the document or a 

report described in this document and no responsible solicitor or any partner of a responsible solicitor’s 

firm, holds any material beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Issuer or 

of an associate or affiliate of the Issuer. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no other material facts that are not elsewhere disclosed herein and which are necessary in order 

for this document to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Issuer. 
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25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

25.1 Financial Statements of Issuer 

Attached as Schedules to this Listing Statement are each of the following financial statements: 

 

Schedule “A” - Audited annual financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 

2015; 

 

Schedule “C” - Unaudited interim financial statements of the Issuer for the nine-month period ended March 

31, 2017. 

 

Schedule “E” - Audited financial statements of Subco for the period from incorporation to March 31, 2017. 

 

Schedule “F” - Unaudited pro forma interim financial statements of the Issuer and Subco for period ended 

March 31, 2017. 

 

25.2 Not applicable. The Issuer is not re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change or 

acquisition. 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, EVIANA HEALTH CORPORATION 

hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, 

true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to EVIANA HEALTH CORPORATION. It 

contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to 

be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of 

the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario and Vancouver, British Columbia this 31st day of August, 2017. 

Signed: “Dr. Avram Adizes” Signed: “Sydney Au”    

    

DR. AVRAM ADIZES  MR. SYDNEY AU 

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 
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Schedule A 

Audited Annual Financial Statements of the Issuer  

for the Years Ended June, 2016, and 2015 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   

 

 

Financial Statements  
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Years Ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 

 
 

 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
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UNIT 114B (2nd floor)                                              
8988 FRASERTON COURT      
BURNABY, BC, V5J 5H8         

 

T: 604.318.5465        
F: 604.239.0866   

   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

To: the Shareholders of 
 EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals 
Corp.) (the “Company”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015, and 
the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, statements of cash flows and statements of changes in equity for the 
years ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits. I conducted my audits in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained in my audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015, and its financial performance and its cash flow for the years ended June 30, 2016 
and June 30, 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to Note 2 (b) in the financial statements which indicates that the Company 
has incurred losses to date.  This condition, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2 (b), indicates the existence of 
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 

                                                                                                                
                                                                                                                                           “Adam Sung Kim Ltd.”                 
                                                                                                                            Chartered Professional Accountant 
Burnaby, British Columbia 
August 9, 2017 

 

 

Adam Kim 
                                                                  ADAM SUNG KIM LTD. 

                                CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANT 
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   

Statements of Financial Position  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Assets 

 
June 30, 2016 

$ 

 
June 30, 2015 

$ 

Current:   

Cash and cash equivalents 1 - 
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 143 143 
Loan receivable (Note 5) 2,575 2,575 

 2,719 2,718 
Intangible assets (Note 6) 1,136,000 1,136,000 

Total Assets 1,138,719 1,138,718 

   
Liabilities   

Current Liabilities:   
Bank overdraft - 3 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7) 2,784 2,784 
Loan payable (Note 8) 229,100 229,100 

 231,884 231,887 

   
Shareholders’ Equity   

Capital stock (Note 9) 920,000 920,000 
Deficit (13,165) (13,169) 

 906,835 906,831 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 1,138,719 1,138,718 

 
Subsequent events (Note 14) 
 

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 9, 2017: 

 

“Sydney Au”     

Sydney Au, Director   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   

Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 

For the year ended 
June 30, 2016 

$ 

 

For the year ended 
June 30, 2015 

$ 

 

Expenses:     

Bank charges (recovery)  (4)  3 

Office & miscellaneous  -  75 

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income 

(loss) for the year  

 

4  

 

(78) 

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common 

share  

 

$  0.00  

 

$  (0.00) 

Weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding   15,390,265 

 

15,390,265 

Fully diluted number of common shares 

outstanding   15,390,265 

 

15,390,265 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   

Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
 
 

Number of 
Outstanding 

Shares 
Share 

Capital 
Income 
(Deficit) 

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity 
  $ $ $ 

Balance, June 30, 2014 15,390,265 920,000 (13,091) 906,909 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the 
year - - (78) (78) 

Balance, June 30, 2015  15,390,265 920,000 (13,169) 906,831 
Net income and comprehensive income 
for the year - - 4 4 

Balance, June 30, 2016 15,390,265 920,000 (13,165) 906,835 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   

Statements of Cash Flows 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 

For the year ended 
June 30, 2016 

$ 

 

For the year ended June 
30, 2015 

$ 

Operating Activities:     

Net income (loss)    4   (78) 

Change in non-cash working capital items:    

 Loan receivable  -  75 

Cash flows from (used in) operating 

activities 

 4  (3)  

     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents  4  (3) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning  (3)  - 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending  1  (3) 

     

Interest paid $ - $ - 

Taxes paid $ - $ - 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS: 
 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) was 

incorporated on July 20, 2011, and the management of the Company intends to commence its 

business as a consumer marketing company selling proprietary natural skincare cosmeceuticals 

products.   On April 30th, 2012, the Company signed a licensing, development, collaboration, 

marketing and general servicing agreement (the “Agreement”) with Decanex Inc, (“Decanex”) of 

Toronto, Ontario. The Agreement states that Decanex owns certain proprietary systems, which 

includes an autonomous biomedical device and an expert software system with a 

recommender/Prescriptor engine. The Agreement grants the Company the right to use the systems 

exclusively in Canada for weight management and in the skin care industry and non-exclusively 

world-wide. The Company’s principal business following the Agreement is the development of the 

proposed business models. 

On June 7, 2013, the Company was acquired by EVITRADE Health Systems Corp. (“Evitrade”) 

(formerly Auxellence Health Corporation or “Auxellence”). The Company’s office and mailing 

address is 5728 E. Boulevard, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6M 4M4. 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION: 

a. Statement of compliance  - 
 

The financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2016, and 2015, were prepared in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  Significant accounting policies are 

described in Note 3.  

b. Going concern basis of presentation - 
 

As at June 30, 2016, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $13,165 (2015 - $13,169) and a 

working capital deficiency of $229,165 (2015 – $229,169). The commercialization of the 

Company’s newly acquired CBD oil extraction process may take many years to be in successful 

operation and the amount of resulting income, if any, is difficult to determine with any certainty. 

The Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its business, all of which casts 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to continue to raise 

adequate financing and to develop profitable operations in the future. The Company has 

generated operating losses since inception. The application of the going concern concept is 

dependent on the Company’s ability to become operationally viable and receive continued 

financial support from its shareholders and from external financing.  

  



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION: (Continued) 

b. Going concern basis of presentation - (Continued) 
 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in raising additional cash to 

finance operations or that the continued support of shareholders will be available. These financial 

statements have been prepared using the going concern assumption, which assumes that the 

Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include 

any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and liabilities that might be necessary 

should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

c. Basis of measurement - 
 

These financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except for 

some financial instruments that have been measured at fair value. 

 

d. Functional and presentation currency - 
 

All monetary references expressed in these notes are references to Canadian dollar amounts (“$”), 

which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.  

e.  Significant accounting judgments and estimates - 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 

make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during 

the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

These financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts 

of such estimates may be pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may require 

accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods. These estimates are based on historical experience, current and 

future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions 

made, relate to, but are not limited to the following: 

 

 



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION: (Continued) 

 (i)  Share-based compensation expense - 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to fair value options in order to 

calculate share-based compensation expense. The Black-Scholes model involves six key 

inputs to determine fair value of an option: risk-free interest rate, exercise price, market price 

at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected volatility.  Certain of the 

inputs are estimates that involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, affected by 

significant factors that are out of the Company’s control.  The Company is also required to 

estimate the future forfeiture rate of options based on historical information in its calculation 

of share-based compensation expense.   

(ii) Impairment of financial assets - 

 

The carrying value of the Company’s intangible assets may be subject to impairment. 

The recoverability of intangible assets is evaluated at each reporting date to determine 

whether there are any indications of impairment.  The Company considers both internal and 

external sources of information when making the assessment of whether there are indications 

of impairment for the Company’s intangible assets. External sources of information 

considered are changes in the Company’s economic, legal and regulatory environment which 

it does not control but affect the Company. 

(iii) Income taxes - 

 

The Company calculates deferred income taxes based upon temporary differences between 

the assets and liabilities that are reported in its financial statements and their tax bases as 

determined under applicable tax legislation.  The future realization of deferred tax assets can 

be affected by many factors, including: current and future economic conditions, net realizable 

sale prices, and can either be increased or decreased where, in the view of management, such 

change is warranted.  In determining whether a deferred tax asset is probable, management 

reviews the timing of expected reversals of taxable temporary differences, the estimates of 

future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning that could be implemented.   

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 

The accounting policies set out below are in effect for the years ended June 30, 2016, and 2015, and 

have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

a. Cash and cash equivalents - 
  
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash in banks, and all short-term investments that are 

highly liquid in nature, cashable, and have an original maturity date of three months or less.   



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

b. Shared-based payments - 

 The fair value of any options granted is measured at grant date, using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model, and is recognized over the period that the employees earn the options.  The fair 

value is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The amount recognized 

as expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share options expected to vest. There are currently 

no options outstanding. 

c. Deferred income taxes - 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred income tax consequences 

attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 

liabilities and their respective tax bases.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 

using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or 

the liability settled.  The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates 

is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactment occurs.  To the extent that the 

Company does not consider it more likely than not that a deferred income tax asset will be 

recovered, the deferred income tax assets is reduced.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 

offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against liabilities and the 

deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the 

same taxable entity. 

d. Financial instruments - 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
is fair value and their subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described 
below.  Classification of a financial instrument depends on the purpose for which it was acquired 
or issued, their characteristics and the Company's designation of such instruments. Settlement 
date accounting is used. 

Asset / Liability Classification 
Subsequent 

measurement 

Cash and cash equivalents Fair value through profit or loss Fair Value 

Bank overdraft Fair value through profit or loss Fair Value 

Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Loan receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Accounts payable Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

Accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

Loans payable Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

 

 

 

 



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

d. Financial instruments – (Continued) 

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets typically acquired for 

resale prior to maturity or that are designated as held-for-trading. They are measured at fair value 

at the period end date. Fair value fluctuations including interest earned, interest accrued, gains 

and losses realized on disposal and unrealized gains and losses are included in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are those non-derivative financial liabilities 

that the Company elects to designate on initial recognition as financial instruments that it will 

measure at fair value. These are accounted for in the same manner as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss. The Company has not designated any non-derivative financial liabilities as 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

Held-to-maturity  

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and a fixed maturity, other than loans and receivables that an entity has the positive 

intention and ability to hold to maturity. These financial assets are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method. 

Available-for-sale 

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 

available-for-sale, or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity or financial 

assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss investments. Except as mentioned 

below, available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 

included in accumulated other comprehensive income until realized or deemed to be an other than 

temporary impairment when the cumulative loss is transferred to profit or loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets that do not have quoted market prices in an active market are 

recorded at cost. 

Interest on interest-bearing available-for-sale financial assets is calculated using the effective 

interest method. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 

 



EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.)   
Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

d. Financial instruments – (Continued) 

Other financial liabilities 

Other liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method and include all 

financial liabilities, other than derivative instruments. 

Effective interest method 

 

The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial asset and allocates 

interest income over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 

estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 

e. Impairment of financial assets - 

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), are assessed for 

indicators of impairment at each period end. Financial assets are impaired when there is objective 

evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 

financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 

Objective evidence of impairment could include the following: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or 

• it has become probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganization. 
 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of all financial assets, excluding trade receivables, is directly reduced by the 

impairment loss. The carrying amount of trade receivables is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against 

the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 

against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 

recognized in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2016, and June 30, 2015  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

f. Impairment of non-financial assets – 
 

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, 

or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may not be 

recoverable.  If there are indicators of impairment, a review is undertaken to determine whether 

the carrying amounts are in excess of their recoverable amounts.  Reviews are undertaken on an 

asset-by-asset basis. 

If the carrying amount of a non-financial asset exceeds the recoverable amount, being the higher 

of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use, an impairment loss is recognized in net 

earnings as the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount. 

Non-financial assets that have suffered an impairment are tested for a possible reversal of the 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have 

reversed. In these instances, the impairment loss is reversed to the recoverable amount but not 

beyond the carrying amount, net of amortization, that would have arisen if the prior impairment 

loss had not been recognized. Goodwill impairments are not reversed. 

g. Share capital – 
 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax 
effects. 
 

h. Comprehensive loss – 
 

Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from 

transactions, events and circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholder and 

includes items that are not included in net profit.  Other comprehensive income (loss) consists of 

changes to unrealized gain and losses on available for sale financial assets, changes to unrealized 

gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow hedges and changes to foreign currency 

translation adjustments of self-sustaining foreign operations during the period.  Comprehensive 

income (loss) measures net earnings for the period plus other comprehensive income (loss).  

Amounts reported as other comprehensive income (loss) are accumulated in a separate 

component of shareholder’s equity as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).   

i. Loss per share - 

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss available to common shareholders by 

the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share 

reflect the potential dilution of securities that could share in earnings of an entity. In a loss year, 

potentially dilutive common shares are excluded from the loss per share calculation as the effect 

would be anti-dilutive. Basic and diluted loss per share are the same for the periods presented. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

j. Provisions - 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past 

events where it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be 

made. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 

flows.  The increase in the obligation due to the passage of time is recognized as finance expense.  

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount receivable can be measured reliably. 

k. Research and development costs - 

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 

technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 

improved products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized if, and only if, it has 

demonstrated all of the following: 

• development costs can be measured reliably; 
• the product or process is technically and commercially feasible; 
• future economic benefits are probable; and  
• the Company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or 

sell the asset 
 

Upon determination that the criteria to capitalize development expenditures have been met, the 

expenditures capitalized will include the cost of materials, direct labour, contracting, consulting, 

professional fees, administration and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the 

asset for its intended use.  Other development expenditures are expensed as incurred. Capitalized 

development expenditures will be measured at cost less accumulated amortization and 

accumulated impairment losses.   
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: (Continued) 

l. Intangible assets - 

Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost.  Following initial recognition, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated 

impairment losses.  Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future 

economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditures are 

recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 

impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The 

amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite life is reviewed at 

least annually.  Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of 

future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by charging the amortization 

period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.  The 

amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in research and 

development expenses. 

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of 

intangible assets from the date they are available for use.  The Company recognized the payments 

made to Decanex as development costs and amortization of the development costs is recognized 

over their useful lives, on the straight-line basis over 10 years, commencing upon 

commercialization.  Therefore, there has been no amortization to date.  

m. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective  - 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, issued in December 2009, 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted, 

introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments. 

Management anticipates that this standard will be adopted in the Company's financial statements 

for the period beginning January 1, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 

adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 June 30, 
2016 

June 30, 
2015 

Government remittances recoverable $      143 $    143 

 $      143 $    143 
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5. LOAN RECEIVABLE 

This is a loan receivable from a third party. This is a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan with no 

fixed terms of repayment. The carrying value of the loan approximated to its amortized cost. 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 Cost and Carrying Amounts  

 Development Costs  

Balance, July 1, 2014 $       1,136, 000 $       1,136, 000 
  Additions  - - 

Balance, June 30, 2015 1,136, 000 1,136, 000 
  Additions - - 

Balance, June 30, 2016 $       1,136, 000 $       1,136, 000 

 

During fiscal 2013, in conjunction with Decanex Inc., the Company began developing an electro-

physiologically interactive computing system that interfaces with users via a blood pressure monitor 

with interactive protocols.  The Company was required to make monthly payments to Decanex Inc.  

Subsequent to the acquisition of the Company by Evitrade, Evitrade was responsible for making the 

monthly payments to Decanex and all such subsequent payments were recognized by Evitrade as 

development costs. In 2015, Evitrade acquired the patents to this technology from Decanex Inc. 

through the issuance of shares of Evitrade to an officer of Decanex Inc.   

In February 2016, the licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and general service 

agreement with Decanex Inc. was extended by an additional five years. 

In March 2017, the Company transferred all development costs to Evitrade associated with the 

original Decanex agreement in exchange for a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan receivable 

from Evitrade in the amount of $1,136,000 with no fixed terms of repayment (Note 14).  

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 

Accounts payable   $     2,784                           $     2,784    

 $     2,784             $     2,784 

 

8. LOAN PAYABLE 

This is a loan payable owing to its parent company, Evitrade. This is a non-secured, non-interest 

bearing loan with no fixed terms of repayment and its carrying value approximated its amortized cost.  
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9. CAPITAL STOCK 

a. Authorized: unlimited common shares without par value; and 
unlimited preferred shares without par value. 

 

b. Issued and Outstanding: 

 

Common shares 

 

There were no shares issued during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. As of June 30, 2016, 

and 2015, there were 15,390,265 shares issued and outstanding.  

Share purchase warrants 

No share purchase warrants were issued during the years ended June 30 2016, and 2015. As of June 

30, 2016 and 2015, no share purchase warrants were outstanding. 

Stock Options 

No stock options were issued during the years ended June 30, 2016, and 2015. As of June 30, 2016, 

and 2015, no stock options were outstanding. 

10. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and likelihood 

of this exposure. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and currency risk. 

Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

a. Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  

The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity as capital.  The Company 

manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to changes in economic 

conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The Company’s primary objective 

with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash resources to fund the 

development of its business.   

To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company intends to raise 

additional funds through equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject to any capital 

requirements imposed by a regulator. 
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10. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

b. Credit risk 

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank balances and loan receivable. The 

Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key transactional 

bank accounts with international financial institutions. Management believes that the credit risk to 

be minimal.   

c. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 

with financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it 

will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at June 30, 2016, the Company had 

a cash balance of $1 (2015 - $Nil) and current accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $2,784 

(2015 - $2,784).  All of the Company’s financial liabilities have or are treated with maturities of 

less than one year, and are subject to normal trade terms.  Management is considering different 

alternatives to secure adequate debt or equity financing to meet the Company short term and long 

term cash requirement.  

d. Interest rate risk 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial. 

11. FAIR VALUE 

The fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 

used in making the measurements on a recurring basis.  The Company does not have any non-

recurring fair value measurements. 

Measurement is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 (i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 

(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2). 

(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, which are measured at Level 1. 
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12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

The Company has $229,100 (2015 - $229,100) included in loan payable, which is the amount owing 
to Evitrade.  
 
The transactions above are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the agreed to 

amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

13. INCOME TAXES 

 The income taxes shown in the Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

differ from the amounts obtained by applying statutory rates to the loss before income taxes due to the 

following: 

                                                                                                                                                

 

Details of deferred tax assets are as follows: 

 

The Company has approximately $13,000 of non-capital losses available, which expire through to 

2036 and may be applied against future taxable income.  At June 30, 2016, the net amount which 

would give rise to a deferred income tax asset has not been recognized as it is not probable that such 

benefit will be utilized in the future years. 

 

 

 

 

  June 30,  
2016 

 June 30,  
2015 

Income (Loss) before income taxes  $     4  $  (78) 
     
Expected income tax (recovery) at 26%  1  (20) 
Tax effects of:     

Current and prior tax attributes not recognized   (1)  20 

Deferred income tax recovery  $      -  $      - 

  June 30, 
2016 

 June 30, 
2015 

    
Non-capital losses $           3,423 $ $       3,424 
Less: Unrecognized deferred tax assets  (3,423) (3,424) 

     $          -    $               -  
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14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 In April 2017, the Company acquired an intellectual property on CBD oil extraction process from 

Evitrade in exchange for a loan payable of $144,000 to Evitrade. 

 In March, 2017, Evitrade was granted a Final Order from the Supreme Court of BC for the Plan of 

Arrangement to spin the Company out of Evitrade. The Company transferred to Evitrade all of the 

remaining development costs in relation to the Decanex proprietary system in return for a loan 

receivable. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, the Company consolidated its outstanding number of 

shares from 31,860,000 to 15,390,265 and distributed these 15,390,265 common shares of the 

Company to the shareholders of Evitrade. All figures in the financial statements are adjusted to reflect 

the share consolidation. Effective on May 24, 2017, the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of 

Evitrade as Evitrade distributed to its shareholders common shares of the Company.  

 In April 2017, the Company acquired 100% of a private company, 2554191 Ontario Inc. (“2554191”) 

by its parent company, Evitrade, issuing 3,500,000 common shares of Evitrade to the shareholders of 

2554191 to complete the acquisition.  As a result of this transaction, the Company incurred a loan 

payable to Evitrade equal to the fair value of the shares issued by Evitrade.  Subsequently, Evitrade 

agreed to forgive all amounts payable to it, except for $975,000, which will be non-interest bearing 

and due 18 months from May 15th, 2017. The operations of 2554191 does not meet the definition of a 

business, hence, the acquisition was not recognized as a business combination but rather as an 

acquisition of assets. 

On April 3, 2017, and amended and restated on April 4, 2017, the Company signed an option 

agreement to acquire a 100% interest in Eviana Inc., a company that owns 100% of Intiva Plus doo, a 

Serbian company that holds certain licenses authorizing the growing of industrial hemp or cannabis 

products from 100 hectares located in Serbia.  The Company holds the right to exercise the option 

until March 31, 2019.  In order to close on the option, the Company must have previously funded 

over $3,000,000 to Eviana Inc., and pay an additional $50,000.  Upon exercise of the option, the 

Company must pay an additional $450,000 in nine equal instalments, each $50,000 instalment 

payable within 30 days of the end of each month in which Eviana Inc. generates consolidated 

EBITDA of at least $1,000,000.  

The Company changed its name to EVIANA Health Corporation on May 12, 2017. 
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 

 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016, AND 2015 

 
 
INTRODUCTION  
  
The following Management Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to assist in the 

understanding of the trends and significant changes in the financial condition and results of 

operations of Eviana Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) 

for the years ended June 30, 2016, and 2015. The MD&A has been prepared effective August 9, 

2017. 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS  
 
EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) was 

incorporated on July 20, 2011 and the management of the Company intends to commence its 

business as a consumer marketing company selling proprietary natural skincare cosmeceuticals 

products.  

On June 7, 2013, the Company was acquired by EVITRADE Health Systems Corp. (“Evitrade”) 

(formerly Auxellence Health Corporation or “Auxellence”). The Company’s office and mailing 

address is 5728 E. Boulevard, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6M 4M4. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
The information set forth in this MD&A contains statements concerning future results, future 

performance, intentions, objectives, plans and expectations that are, or may be deemed to be, 

forward-looking statements. These statements concerning possible or assumed future results of 

operations of the Company are preceded by, followed by or include the words ‘believes,’ ‘expects,’ 

‘anticipates,’ ‘estimates,’ ‘intends,’ ‘plans,’ ‘forecasts,’ or similar expressions. Forward-looking 

statements are not guarantees of future performance. These forward-looking statements are based 

on current expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited 

to, those identified in the Risks Factors section. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve 

judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market 

conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict 

accurately and many of which underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of 

the assumptions could prove inaccurate. These factors should be considered carefully, and readers 

should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company has no intention 

and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether written 

or oral that may be made by or on the Company's behalf. 



 
TRENDS 
 

Other than as disclosed in this MD&A, the Company is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, 

demands, commitments or events which are reasonably likely to have a material effect upon its 

revenues, income from continuing operations, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that 

would cause reported financial information not necessarily to be indicative of future operating 

results or financial condition. 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT AND NATURE OF BUSINESS  

The Company has not yet commenced any significant commercial activity as of June 30, 2016.   

On April 30th, 2012, the Company signed a licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and 

general servicing agreement (the “Agreement”) with Decanex Inc, (“Decanex”) of Toronto, 

Ontario. The Agreement states that Decanex owns certain proprietary systems, which includes an 

autonomous biomedical device and an expert software system with a recommender/Prescriptor 

engine. The Agreement grants the Company the right to use the systems exclusively in Canada for 

weight management and in the skin care industry and non-exclusively world-wide. The Company’s 

principal business following the Agreement is the development of the proposed business models. 

During fiscal 2013, in conjunction with Decanex Inc., the Company began developing an electro-

physiologically interactive computing system that interfaces with users via a blood pressure 

monitor with interactive protocols.  The Company was required to make monthly payments to 

Decanex Inc.  Subsequent to the acquisition of the Company by Evitrade, Evitrade was responsible 

for making the monthly payments to Decanex and all such subsequent payments were recognized 

by Evitrade as development costs. In 2015, Evitrade acquired the patents to this technology from 

Decanex Inc. through the issuance of shares of Evitrade to an officer of Decanex Inc.   

In February 2016, the licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and general service 

agreement with Decanex Inc. was extended by an additional five years. 

In March 2017, the Company transferred all development costs to Evitrade associated with the 

original Decanex agreement in exchange for a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan receivable 

from Evitrade in the amount of $1,136,000 with no fixed terms of repayment. 

In April 2017, the Company acquired an intellectual property on CBD oil extraction process from 

Evitrade in exchange for a loan payable $144,000 to Evitrade. 

In March, 2017, Evitrade was granted a Final Order from the Supreme Court of BC for the Plan 

of Arrangement to spin the Company out of Evitrade. The Company transferred to Evitrade all of 

the remaining development costs in relation to the Decanex proprietary system in return for a loan 

receivable. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, the Company consolidated its outstanding 

number of shares from 31,860,000 to 15,390,265 and distributed these 15,390,265 common shares 

of the Company to the shareholders of Evitrade. All share figures have been adjusted to reflect the 



share consolidation. Effective on May 24, 2017, the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of Evitrade 

as Evitrade distributed to its shareholders common shares of the Company.  

In April 2017, the Company acquired 100% of a private company, 2554191 Ontario Inc. 

(“2554191”) by its parent company, Evitrade, issuing 3,500,000 common shares of Evitrade to the 

shareholders of 2554191 to complete the acquisition.  As a result of this transaction, the Company 

incurred a loan payable to Evitrade equal to the fair value of the shares issued by Evitrade.  

Subsequently, Evitrade agreed to forgive all amounts payable to it, except for $975,000, which 

will be non-interest bearing and due 18 months from May 15th, 2017. The operations of 2554191 

does not meet the definition of a business, hence, the acquisition was not recognized as a business 

combination but rather as an acquisition of assets. 

On April 3, 2017, and amended and restated on April 4, 2017, the Company signed an option 

agreement to acquire a 100% interest in Eviana Inc., a company that owns 100% of Intiva Plus 

doo, a Serbian company that holds certain licenses authorizing the growing of industrial hemp or 

cannabis products from 100 hectares located in Serbia.  The Company holds the right to exercise 

the option until March 31, 2019.  In order to close on the option, the Company must have 

previously funded over $3,000,000 to Eviana Inc., and pay an additional $50,000.  Upon exercise 

of the option, the Company must pay an additional $450,000 in nine equal instalments, each 

$50,000 instalment payable within 30 days of the end of each month in which Eviana Inc. generates 

consolidated EBITDA of at least $1,000,000.  

The Company changed its name to EVIANA Health Corporation on May 12, 2017. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, the Company had net income and comprehensive income 

of $4 compared to a net loss and comprehensive loss of $78 in the prior year. The change is primarily 

attributed to the Company having $75 in office and miscellaneous expenses in 2015 compared to $Nil for 

the year ended June 30, 2016.  The Company had no significant expenses for the years ended June 30, 

2016, and 2015. The Company has weighted average shares outstanding of 15,390,265 (2015: 

15,390,265). 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the two recent fiscal years ended June 
30: 
 

 

  June 30, 2016  June 30, 2015 

Total Revenue  $             -  $            - 

Net Income (Loss)  4  (78) 

Net Income (Loss) Per Share 

(basic and diluted) 

 0.00  (0.00) 

Total Assets  1,138,719  1,138,718 

Long-Term Debt  Nil  Nil 

Working Capital (deficiency)  (229,165)  (229,169) 

 

LIQUIDITY  

 

(a)  The Company is a start-up health products company and therefore has no regular source of 
income.  As a result, its ability to conduct operations, including the development of its 
website and development of CBD production and health products, along with the 
acquisition of additional health products and/or technologies, is based on its current cash and 
its ability to raise funds, primarily from equity sources, and there can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to do so. 

 (b) Other than as set forth herein, there are no expected fluctuations in the Company's liquidity, 
taking into account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties. 

(c) The Company does not currently have any liquidity risks associated with financial 
 instruments. 

(d) There are no balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may affect the 
Company's liquidity. 

(e) There are currently no defaults or arrears by the Company on: 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal payment 
         on debt; 

(ii) debt covenants; and 

(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments. 

(e) As of June 30, 2016, the Company has loans receivable of $2,575 (2015 - $2,575).  
 

 



(g) As of June 30, 2016, the Company has loans payable of $229,100 (2015 - $229,100).  This 

is a loan payable owing to its parent company, Evitrade. This is a non-secured, non-interest-

bearing loan with no fixed terms of repayment and its carrying value approximated its 

amortized cost.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
There are no known trends or expected fluctuations in the Company's capital resources, including 

expected changes in the mix and relative cost of such resources. 

FINANCIAL INTSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and 

likelihood of this exposure. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and 

currency risk. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

a. Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders.  The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity as capital.  

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to 

changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The 

Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has 

sufficient cash resources to fund the development of its business.   

To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company intends to 

raise additional funds through equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject to any 

capital requirements imposed by a regulator. 

b. Credit risk 

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank balances and loan receivable. 

The Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key 

transactional bank accounts with international financial institutions. Management believes 

that the credit risk to be minimal.   

c. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk 

is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at June 30, 

2016, the Company had a cash balance of $1 (2015 - $Nil) and current accounts payable 

and accrued liabilities of $2,784 (2015 - $2,784)  All of the Company’s financial liabilities 

have or are treated with maturities of less than one year, and are subject to normal trade 



terms.  Management is considering different alternatives to secure adequate debt or equity 

financing to meet the Company short term and long term cash requirement.  

d. Interest rate risk 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial.  

 
OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at June 30, 2016, and 2015, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
The Company has $229,100 (2015 - $229,100) included in loan payable, which is the amount 
owing to Evitrade.  

 
The transactions above are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the agreed to 

amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

OUSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 

Authorized:  unlimited common shares without par value 
   unlimited preferred shares without par value 
 
Issued and Outstanding: 
 
Common shares as at June 30, 2016 were 15,390,265 (2015 - 15,390,265)  
 
Preferred shares as at June 30, 2016 were Nil (2015 - Nil). 
 
There are no share purchase warrants or stock options issued and outstanding or exercisable at 
June 30, 2016, and 2015. 
 
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLIED   
 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company's 

consolidated financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and 

interpretations issued, which the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future 

date. The Company intends to adopt this standard when it becomes effective. The following 

pronouncements are being assessed to determine its impact on the Company's results and 

financial position: 

 
 
 



IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

'Financial Instruments' is part of the IASB's wider project to replace IAS 39 'Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 

measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 

assets, amortized cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity's 

business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The 

standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 

Health Products Industry 

The health products industry, hemp seed oil for nutritional supplements, hemp cosmetics and CBD 

extracts involve significant risks, which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and 

knowledge may not eliminate. While the development of a technology may result in substantial 

rewards, marketing will also play a significant role in developing the company and its level of 

success.  Major expenses may be required to establish the CBD production and health products 

along with a recognized brand to be accepted in the marketplace.  There is no certainty that current 

CBD production plans, health products, business plan, and marketing strategies of the Company 

will result in profitable commercial sales. Whether the Company will be commercially viable 

depends on a number of factors, some of which are the particular attributes of the industry the 

technology is geared toward and the existing infrastructure, as well as competitors’ strategies and 

market factors.  Some of these are cyclical and government regulations, including regulations 

relating to medical devices and consumer health products. 

 

The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these 

factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. Health 

care product operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Company’s operations are 

subject to all the hazards and risks normally encountered in the health care industry.  Although 

adequate precautions to minimize risk will be taken, operations are subject to hazards that are 

unforeseeable or beyond the company’s control and their consequent liability.  

 

Some of these risks include the following: 

 

The Company is largely dependent on the success of its website which has not yet launched and 

management cannot be certain that its website will be successfully commercialized.  

 

The Company currently has no products for sale and cannot guarantee that it will ever have 

marketable products or services.  The company plans to launch its website once it has obtained 

sufficient channel partners to offer appropriate specialized customization for OTC health products 

and services. 



Risks in design, development and manufacture of a consumer health product which may have an 

adverse effect on a person’s health.  

 

If a significant portion of these development efforts are not successfully completed, required 

regulatory approvals are not obtained, or any approved products are not commercially successful, 

the company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially harmed 

 

The Company’s product may never achieve market acceptance even if the Company obtains 

regulatory approvals to sell and market its products. 

 

The Company’s activities are directed towards Hemp oil productions for cosmetics and nutritional 

supplements, CBD production and general health product sectors of the consumer health care 

industry. There is no certainty that any expenditures to be made by the Company as described 

herein will result in market acceptance of the company’s product or service offerings. There is 

aggressive competition within the Hemp oil, CBD production and health products marketplaces.  

The Company will compete with other interests, many of which have greater financial resources 

than it will have for marketing towards target consumers. Significant capital investment is required 

to achieve commercialization from the current start-up and development stage of the company. 

 

Government Regulation 
 

The consumer health products industry is subject to various federal, and provincial laws and 

regulations on, standards, claims, safety, efficacy and other matters.  Regulatory approvals by 

government agencies on the Company’s products and CBD production may be withheld or not 

granted at all and if granted may be subject to recalls which would materially affect the Company. 

 

Although the Company’s activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules 

and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or 

that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail 

development, production, manufacture, product claims, marketing or commercialization. 

Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of the consumer 

health industry or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact 

on the Company. 

 

Uninsured Risks 

The Company may carry insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it considers 

adequate. Risks not insured against include key person insurance as the company heavily relies on 

the company officers. 

 

 

 



Conflicts of Interest 

Certain directors of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies 

involved in other business ventures. Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors to 

be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by such directors involving the Company will be 

made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with the 

Company and such other companies. In addition, such directors will declare, and refrain from 

voting on, any matter in which such directors may have a conflict of interest. 

 

Negative Operating Cash Flows 

As the Company is at the early stage start-up stage it may continue to have negative operating cash 

flows. Without the injection of further capital and the development of revenue streams from its 

business, the Company may continue to have negative operating cash flows until it can be 

sufficiently developed to commercialize. 

 

Risks Related as a Going Concern 

The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is uncertain and dependent upon its 

ability to achieve profitable operations, obtain additional capital and receive continued support 

from its shareholders.  Management of the Company will have to raise capital through private 

placements or debt financing and proposes to continue to do so through future private placements 

and offerings.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time. 

Reliance on Key Personnel and Advisors 

 
The Company relies heavily on its officers. The loss of their services may have a material adverse 

effect on the business of the Company. There can be no assurance that one or all of the employees 

of, and contractors engaged by, the Company will continue in the employ of, or in a consulting 

capacity to, the Company or that they will not set up competing businesses or accept positions with 

competitors. There is no guarantee that certain employees of, and contractors to, the Company who 

have access to confidential information will not disclose the confidential information.  

Licenses, Patents and Proprietary Rights 

The Company’s success could depend on its ability to protect its intellectual property, including 

trade secrets, and continue its operations without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties 

and without having its own rights infringed.   

Uncertainty Regarding Penetration of the Target Market 

The commercial success of the Company’s business as compared with those of its competitors 

depends on its acceptance by potential users and the medical community.  Market acceptance will 

largely depend on the reputation of the Company, its marketing strategy, consumer and health 

practitioner’s services and performance.  The Company’s success will depend on its ability to 



commercialize and expand its network users.  The Company will need to expand its marketing and 

sales operations and establish business relations with suppliers and users in a timely manner.   

In order to meet its business objectives, the Company will have to ensure that its facilities and 

services are safe, reliable and cost-effective, and bring the expected return.  There can be no 

assurance that the Company’s products and services will be accepted and recommended.   

Competition, Technological Obsolescence 

The consumer health products industry competitive.  Others in the field may have significantly 

more financial, technical, distribution and marketing resources.  Technological progress and 

product development may cause the Company’s services and product offerings to become obsolete 

or may reduce their market acceptance. 

Operating History and Expected Losses 

The Company expects to make significant investments in order to develop its services, increase 

marketing efforts, improve its operations, conduct research and development and update its 

equipment.  As a result, start-up operating losses are expected and such losses may be greater than 

anticipated, which could have a significant effect on the long-term viability of the Company. 

Reliance on Joint Ventures, License Assignors and Other Parties 

The nature of the Company’s operations requires it to enter into various agreements with partners, 

joint venture partners, medical facilities, and medical equipment suppliers in the business world, 

government agencies, licensors, licensees, and other parties for the successful operation of its 

businesses and the successful marketing of its services. 

There is no guarantee that those with whom the Company needs to deal will not adopt other 

technologies or that they will not develop alternative business strategies, acting either alone or in 

conjunction with other parties, including the Company’s competitors, in preference to those of the 

Company. 

Growth Management 

In executing the Company’s business plan for the future, there will be significant pressure on 

management, operations and technical resources.  The Company anticipates that its operating and 

personnel costs will increase in the future.  In order to manage its growth, the Company will have 

to increase the number of its technical and operational employees and efficiently manage its 

employees, while at the same time efficiently maintaining a large number of relationships with 

third parties.   

 

 



Regulatory Risks 

CBDs (Cannabinoids) and health products developed and/or used by the Company are prone to 

many technological challenges and requirements, and can be subject to the regulations and 

standards imposed by applicable regulatory agencies. There can be no assurance that the Company 

will be able to comply with all regulations concerning its products or related business.   

Potential Liability 

The Company is subject to the risk of potential liability claims with respect to its diagnostic and 

therapeutic solutions.  Should such claims be successful, plaintiffs could be awarded significant 

amounts of damages, which could exceed the limits of any liability insurance policies that may be 

held by the Company.  There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to obtain, maintain in 

effect or increase any such insurance coverage on acceptable terms or at reasonable costs, or that 

such insurance will provide the Company with adequate protection against potential liability. 

FINANCIAL AND DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
 

During the year ended June 30, 2016, there has been no significant change in the Company’s 

internal controls over financial reporting since last comparative year.   

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate 

information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and 

disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely. Management is also responsible for 

establishing adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide sufficient knowledge to 

support the representations made in this MD&A and the Company’s financial statements for this 

filing (together the “Filings”).  

The management of the Company has filed the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate with the Interim 

or Annual Filings on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109 

Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the venture issuer 

basic certificate does not include representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of 

disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial reporting 

(“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the 

ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design and implement on a cost effective basis 

DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, 

transparency, and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under 

securities legislation. 
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Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements  

 

Three and Nine Months Ended March 31, 2017 

 
 

 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)



 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Statements of Financial Position 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Assets 

 

March 31, 2017 

$ 

 

June 30, 2016 

$ 

Current:   

Cash & cash equivalents 1 1 

Accounts receivable (Note 4) 143 143 

Loans receivable (Note 5) 905,800 2,575 

 905,944 2,719 

Intangible assets (Note 6) - 1,136,000 

Total Assets 905,944 1,138,719 

   

Liabilities   

Current Liabilities:   

Accounts payable & accrued liabilities (Note 7) 10,784 2,784 

Loan payable (Note 8) - 229,100 

 10,784 231,884 

   

Shareholders’ Equity   

Capital stock (Note 9) 920,000 920,000 

Deficit (24,840) (13,165) 

 895,160 906,835 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 905,944 1,138,719 

 

Subsequent events (Note 13) 

 

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on August 10, 2017: 

 

“Sydney Au”    

Sydney Au, Director  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial 

Statements 

 



 

 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended 

 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

March 31, 
2017 

March 31, 
2016 

     

Expenses     
   Filing fees 3,675 - 3,675 - 

   Professional fees 8,000 - 8,000 - 

Total expenses 11,675 - 11,675 - 

     

Loss and comprehensive loss for  
  the period 

$            (11,675) $                              - $               (11,675) $                         - 

     

Loss per share $              (0.001) $                              - $                 (0.001) $                         - 
Weighted average number of  
 shares outstanding 15,390,265 15,390,265 15,390,265 15,390,265 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial 

Statements



 

 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 

Unaudited Condensed Interim  Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
 

 

 

Number of 

Outstanding 

Shares 

Share 

Capital 

 

(Deficit) 

Total 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

  $ $ $ 

Balance, June 30, 2015 15,390,265 920,000 (13,169) 906,831 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the 

period - - - - 

Balance, March 31, 2016 15,390,265 920,000 (13,169) 906,831 

Net income and comprehensive income 

for the period - - 4 4 

Balance, June 30, 2016 15,390,265 920,000 (13,165) 906,835 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the 

period - - (11,675) (11,675) 

Balance, March 31, 2017 15,390,265 920,000 (24,840) 895,160 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial 

Statements 

 



 

 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Statements of Cash Flows 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars except the number of shares) 

       

 
Nine Months Ended  

March 31, 2017 
$ 

 

 
Nine Months Ended  

March 31, 2016 
$ 

Operating Activities:     

Net loss    (11,675)   - 

Change in non-cash working capital items:     

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  8,000  - 

Cash flows used in operating activities  (3,675)  -   

      

Financing Activities:     

    Loans payable  (2,575)   

    Loans receivable  6,250   

Cash flows provided by financing activities  3,675  - 

     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning  1  1 

Cash and cash equivalents, ending  1  1 

     

Interest paid $ - $ - 

Taxes paid $ - $ - 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial 

Statements
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Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
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(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) was 

incorporated on July 20, 2011, and the management of the Company intends to commence its 

business as a consumer marketing company selling proprietary natural skincare cosmeceuticals 

products.   On April 30th, 2012, the Company signed a licensing, development, collaboration, 

marketing and general servicing agreement (the “Agreement”) with Decanex Inc, (“Decanex”) of 

Toronto, Ontario. The Agreement states that Decanex owns certain proprietary systems, which 

includes an autonomous biomedical device and an expert software system with a 

recommender/Prescriptor engine. The Agreement grants the Company the right to use the systems 

exclusively in Canada for weight management and in the skin care industry and non-exclusively 

world-wide. The Company’s principal business following the Agreement is the development of the 

proposed business models. 

 

On June 7, 2013, the Company was acquired by EVITRADE Health Systems Corp. (“Evitrade”) 

(formerly Auxellence Health Corporation or “Auxellence”). The Company’s office and mailing 

address is 5728 E. Boulevard, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6M 4M4. 

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
  

a. Statement of compliance  - 
 

The unaudited condensed interim financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2017 

were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  These unaudited condensed 

interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial 

Reporting. Significant accounting policies are described in Note 3 in the June 30, 2016, audited 

financial statements.  

 

b. Going concern basis of presentation - 
 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis, which assumes that the Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable 

future and have the ability to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 

business.  However, certain adverse conditions and events cast significant doubt upon the 

validity of this assumption. 

 

The commercialization of the company’s newly acquired CBD oil extraction process may take 

many years to be in successful operation and the amount of resulting income, if any, is difficult 

to determine with any certainty.  As a development company, the Company does not anticipate 

producing revenues for some time, other than from incidental revenue.  At March 31, 2017, the 

Company had not yet achieved profitable operations, had recurring losses, a deficit of $24,840 

(June 30, 2016 - $13,165) and a working capital of $895,160 (June 30, 2016 – working capital 

deficiency of $229,165).  At March 31, 2017, the Company had not commenced any significant 

commercial activities and the Company expects to incur further losses in the development of its 

business.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
  

b. Going concern basis of presentation – (Continued)  
 

The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to continue to raise 

adequate financing and to develop profitable operations in the future. The Company has 

generated operating losses since inception. The application of the going concern concept is 

dependent on the Company’s ability to become operationally viable and receive continued 

financial support from its shareholders and from external financing.  

 

There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in raising additional cash to 

finance operations or that the continued support of shareholders will be available. These 

financial statements have been prepared using the going concern assumption, which assumes 

that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its 

assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do 

not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and liabilities that might be 

necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 

c. Basis of measurement - 
 

These unaudited condensed interim financial statements have been prepared using the 

historical cost convention except for some financial instruments that have been measured at fair 

value. 
 

d. Functional and presentation currency - 
 

All monetary references expressed in these notes are references to Canadian dollar amounts 

(“$”), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.  

e.  Significant accounting judgments and estimates - 
 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 

to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 

expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

 

These financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The 

impacts of such estimates may be pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may 

require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods 

if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on 

historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 

assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to the following: 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 
  

b. Significant accounting judgments and estimates - (continued) 

 

(i)  Share-based compensation expense – 

 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to fair value options in order to 

calculate share-based compensation expense. The Black-Scholes model involves six key 

inputs to determine fair value of an option: risk-free interest rate, exercise price, market 

price at date of issue, expected dividend yield, expected life and expected volatility.  Certain 

of the inputs are estimates that involve considerable judgment and are, or could be, 

affected by significant factors that are out of the Company’s control.  The Company is also 

required to estimate the future forfeiture rate of options based on historical information in 

its calculation of share-based compensation expense.   

 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets - 

 

The carrying value of the Company’s intangible assets may be subject to impairment. 

The recoverability of intangible assets is evaluated at each reporting date to determine 

whether there are any indications of impairment.  The Company considers both internal and 

external sources of information when making the assessment of whether there are 

indications of impairment for the Company’s intangible assets. External sources of 

information considered are changes in the Company’s economic, legal and regulatory 

environment which it does not control but affect the Company. 

 

(iii) Income taxes - 

 

The Company calculates deferred income taxes based upon temporary differences between 

the assets and liabilities that are reported in its financial statements and their tax bases as 

determined under applicable tax legislation.  The future realization of deferred tax assets 

can be affected by many factors, including: current and future economic conditions, net 

realizable sale prices, and can either be increased or decreased where, in the view of 

management, such change is warranted.  In determining whether a deferred tax asset is 

probable, management reviews the timing of expected reversals of taxable temporary 

differences, the estimates of future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning 

that could be implemented.   
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3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

New standards and interpretations not yet applied - 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company's unaudited 

condensed financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations 

issued, which the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Company 

intends to adopt these standards when they become effective. The following pronouncements 

are being assessed to determine their impact on the Company's results and financial position: 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 

'Financial Instruments'  is part of the IASB's  wider project to replace IAS 39 'Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 

measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets, 

amortized cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity's business model 

and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The standard is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

 

 

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 March 31, 

2017 

June 30, 

2016 

Government remittances recoverable $      143 $     143 

 $      143 $     143 
 
 

5. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

 

The Company had a loans receivable balance of $905,800  with a related party as of March 31, 

2017, (See Note 8). It is a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan with no fixed terms of repayment. 

The carrying value of the loan approximated to its amortized cost.  

 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 Cost and Carrying Amounts  

 Development 

Costs 

 

Total 

Balance, July 1, 2015 $       1,136, 000 $       1,136, 000 

  Additions  - - 

Balance, June 30, 2016 1,136, 000 1,136, 000 

  Disposals (1,136,000) (1,136,000) 

Balance, March 31, 2017 $                        - $                       - 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 

 

During fiscal 2013, in conjunction with Decanex Inc., the Company began developing an electro-

physiologically interactive computing system that interfaces with users via a blood pressure 

monitor with interactive protocols.  The Company was required to make monthly payments to 

Decanex Inc.  Subsequent to the acquisition of the Company by Evitrade, Evitrade was responsible 

for making the monthly payments to Decanex and all such subsequent payments were recognized 

by Evitrade as development costs. In 2015, Evitrade acquired the patents to this technology from 

Decanex Inc. through the issuance of shares of Evitrade to an officer of Decanex Inc.   

 

In February 2016, the licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and general service 

agreement with Decanex Inc. was extended by an additional five years. 

 

In March 2017, the Company transferred all development costs to Evitrade associated with the 

original Decanex agreement in exchange for a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan receivable 

from Evitrade in the amount of $1,136,000 with no fixed terms of repayment.  

 

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 March 31 2017 June 30 2016 

Accounts payable to related parties  $     2,784                           $     2,784    

Accrued liabilities to third parties 8,000 - 

 $     10,784             $     2,784 

 

8. LOAN PAYABLE 

 

This is a loan payable owing to its parent company, Evitrade Health Systems Corp. This is a non-

secured, non-interest bearing loan with no fixed terms of repayment and its carrying value 

approximated its amortized cost. This loan payable has been offset entirely against a loan receivable 

from Evitrade of $1,136,000 during the period ended March 31, 2017 (See Note 5 & Note 6). 

 

9. CAPITAL STOCK 
 

a. Authorized: unlimited common shares without par value; and 

unlimited preferred shares without par value. 

 

b. Issued and Outstanding: 

 

Common shares 

 

There were no shares issued during the periods ended March 31, 2017, and 2016. As of March 

31, 2017, and 2016, there were 15,390,265 shares outstanding.  

 

Share purchase warrants 

 

No share purchase warrants were issued during the periods ended March 31, 2017, and 2016. As 

of March 31, 2017, and 2016, no share purchase warrants were outstanding. 
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9. CAPITAL STOCK (Continued) 
 

Stock Options 
 

No stock options were issued during the periods ended March 31, 2017, and 2016. As of March 31, 

2017, and 2016, no stock options were outstanding. 

 

10. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and 

likelihood of this exposure. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and 

currency risk. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors. 
 

a. Capital management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders.  The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity as capital.  The 

Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to changes in 

economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The Company’s 

primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 

resources to fund the development of its business.   
 

To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company intends to raise 

additional funds through equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject to any capital 

requirements imposed by a regulator. 
 

b. Credit risk 
 

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank balances and loan receivable. The 

Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key transactional 

bank accounts with international financial institutions. Management believes that the credit risk 

to be minimal.   
 

c. Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 

with financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it 

will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at March 31, 2017, the Company 

had a cash balance of $1 (June 30, 2016 - $1) and current accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities of $10,784 (June 30, 2016 – $2,784).  All of the Company’s financial liabilities have or 

are treated with maturities of less than one year, and are subject to normal trade terms.  

Management is considering different alternatives to secure adequate debt or equity financing to 

meet the Company short term and long term cash requirement.  
 

d. Interest rate risk 
 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial. 
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11. FAIR VALUE 
 

The fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 

used in making the measurements on a recurring basis.  The Company does not have any non-

recurring fair value measurements. 

 

Measurement is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement in its entirety. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 

 (i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 

(ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2). 

(iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, which are measured at Level 1. 

 

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 

(a) Included in loan payable is $Nil (2016 - $229,100) owing to its parent company, Evitrade 

Health Systems Corp. (See note 8).  

(b) Included in loans receivable is $905,800 (2016 - $Nil) owed by its parent company, Evitrade 

Health Systems Corp. (See note 5) 
 

These transactions above are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the agreed to 

amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 

13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

 In March, 2017, Evitrade was granted a Final Order from the Supreme Court of BC for the Plan of 

Arrangement to spin the Company out of Evitrade. The Company transferred to Evitrade all of the 

remaining development costs in relation to the Decanex proprietary system in return for a loan 

receivable. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, the Company consolidated its outstanding number 

of shares from 31,860,000 to 15,390,265 and distributed these 15,390,265 common shares of the 

Company to the shareholders of Evitrade. All figures in the financial statements are adjusted to 

reflect the share consolidation. Effective on May 24, 2017, the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of 

Evitrade as Evitrade distributed to its shareholders common shares of the Company.  

 

In April 2017, the Company acquired an intellectual property on CBD oil extraction process from 

Evitrade in exchange for a loan payable of $144,000 to Evitrade. 
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13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued) 

 

 In April 2017, the Company acquired 100% of a private company, 2554191 Ontario Inc. (“2554191”) 

by its parent company, Evitrade, issuing 3,500,000 common shares of Evitrade to the shareholders 

of 2554191 to complete the acquisition.  As a result of this transaction, the Company incurred a loan 

payable to Evitrade equal to the fair value of the shares issued by Evitrade.  Subsequently, Evitrade 

agreed to forgive all amounts payable to it, except for $975,000, which will be non-interest bearing 

and due 18 months from May 15th, 2017. The operations of 2554191 does not meet the definition 

of a business, hence, the acquisition was not recognized as a business combination but rather as an 

acquisition of assets. 

 

On April 3, 2017, and amended and restated on April 4, 2017, the Company signed an option 

agreement to acquire a 100% interest in Eviana Inc., a company that owns 100% of Intiva Plus doo, a 

Serbian company that holds certain licenses authorizing the growing of industrial hemp or cannabis 

products from 100 hectares located in Serbia.  The Company holds the right to exercise the option 

until March 31, 2019.  In order to close on the option, the Company must have previously funded 

over $3,000,000 to Eviana Inc., and pay an additional $50,000.  Upon exercise of the option, the 

Company must pay an additional $450,000 in nine equal instalments, each $50,000 instalment 

payable within 30 days of the end of each month in which Eviana Inc. generates consolidated 

EBITDA of at least $1,000,000.  

 

The Company changed its name to EVIANA Health Corporation on May 12, 2017. 
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 

 
INTRODUCTION  
  
The following Management Discussion & Analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to assist in the 

understanding of the trends and significant changes in the financial condition and results of 

operations of Eviana Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) 

for the nine months ended March 31, 2017. These should be read in conjunction with the unaudited 

condensed interim financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2017, and the audited 

financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2016.  The MD&A has been prepared effective 

August 10, 2017. 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS  
 
EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (the “Company”) was 

incorporated on July 20, 2011 and the management of the Company intends to commence its 

business as a consumer marketing company selling proprietary natural skincare cosmeceuticals 

products.  

On June 7, 2013, the Company was acquired by EVITRADE Health Systems Corp. (“Evitrade”) 

(formerly Auxellence Health Corporation or “Auxellence”). The Company’s office and mailing 

address is 5728 E. Boulevard, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6M 4M4. 

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
The information set forth in this MD&A contains statements concerning future results, future 

performance, intentions, objectives, plans and expectations that are, or may be deemed to be, 

forward-looking statements. These statements concerning possible or assumed future results of 

operations of the Company are preceded by, followed by or include the words ‘believes,’ ‘expects,’ 

‘anticipates,’ ‘estimates,’ ‘intends,’ ‘plans,’ ‘forecasts,’ or similar expressions. Forward-looking 

statements are not guarantees of future performance. These forward-looking statements are based 

on current expectations that involve numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited 

to, those identified in the Risks Factors section. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve 

judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market 

conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict 

accurately and many of which underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of 

the assumptions could prove inaccurate. These factors should be considered carefully, and readers 

should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The Company has no intention 

and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether written 

or oral that may be made by or on the Company's behalf. 



TRENDS 
 

Other than as disclosed in this MD&A, the Company is not aware of any trends, uncertainties, 

demands, commitments or events which are reasonably likely to have a material effect upon its 

revenues, income from continuing operations, profitability, liquidity or capital resources, or that 

would cause reported financial information not necessarily to be indicative of future operating 

results or financial condition. 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT AND NATURE OF BUSINESS  

The Company has not yet commenced any significant commercial activity as of March 31, 2017.   

On April 30th, 2012, the Company signed a licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and 

general servicing agreement (the “Agreement”) with Decanex Inc, (“Decanex”) of Toronto, 

Ontario. The Agreement states that Decanex owns certain proprietary systems, which includes an 

autonomous biomedical device and an expert software system with a recommender/Prescriptor 

engine. The Agreement grants the Company the right to use the systems exclusively in Canada for 

weight management and in the skin care industry and non-exclusively world-wide. The Company’s 

principal business following the Agreement is the development of the proposed business models. 

During fiscal 2013, in conjunction with Decanex Inc., the Company began developing an electro-

physiologically interactive computing system that interfaces with users via a blood pressure 

monitor with interactive protocols.  The Company was required to make monthly payments to 

Decanex Inc.  Subsequent to the acquisition of the Company by Evitrade, Evitrade was responsible 

for making the monthly payments to Decanex and all such subsequent payments were recognized 

by Evitrade as development costs. In 2015, Evitrade acquired the patents to this technology from 

Decanex Inc. through the issuance of shares of Evitrade to an officer of Decanex Inc.   

In February 2016, the licensing, development, collaboration, marketing and general service 

agreement with Decanex Inc. was extended by an additional five years. 

In March 2017, the Company transferred all development costs to Evitrade associated with the 

original Decanex agreement in exchange for a non-secured, non-interest bearing loan receivable 

from Evitrade in the amount of $1,136,000 with no fixed terms of repayment. 

In April 2017, the Company acquired an intellectual property on CBD oil extraction process from 

Evitrade in exchange for a loan payable of $144,000 to Evitrade. 

In March 2017, Evitrade was granted a Final Order from the Supreme Court of BC for the Plan of 

Arrangement to spin the Company out of Evitrade. The Company transferred to Evitrade all of the 

remaining development costs in relation to the Decanex proprietary system in return for a loan 

receivable. Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, the Company consolidated its outstanding 

number of shares from 31,860,000 to 15,390,265 and distributed these 15,390,265 common shares 

of the Company to the shareholders of Evitrade. All share figures have been adjusted to reflect the 



share consolidation. Effective on May 24, 2017, the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of Evitrade 

as Evitrade distributed to its shareholders common shares of the Company.  

In April 2017, the Company acquired 100% of a private company, 2554191 Ontario Inc. 

(“2554191”) by its parent company, Evitrade, issuing 3,500,000 common shares of Evitrade to the 

shareholders of 2554191 to complete the acquisition.  As a result of this transaction, the Company 

incurred a loan payable to Evitrade equal to the fair value of the shares issued by Evitrade.  

Subsequently, Evitrade agreed to forgive all amounts payable to it, except for $975,000, which 

will be non-interest bearing and due 18 months from May 15th, 2017. The operations of 2554191 

does not meet the definition of a business, hence, the acquisition was not recognized as a business 

combination but rather as an acquisition of assets. 

On April 3, 2017, and amended and restated on April 4, 2017, the Company signed an option 

agreement to acquire a 100% interest in Eviana Inc., a company that owns 100% of Intiva Plus 

doo, a Serbian company that holds certain licenses authorizing the growing of industrial hemp or 

cannabis products from 100 hectares located in Serbia.  The Company holds the right to exercise 

the option until March 31, 2019.  In order to close on the option, the Company must have 

previously funded over $3,000,000 to Eviana Inc., and pay an additional $50,000.  Upon exercise 

of the option, the Company must pay an additional $450,000 in nine equal instalments, each 

$50,000 instalment payable within 30 days of the end of each month in which Eviana Inc. generates 

consolidated EBITDA of at least $1,000,000.  

The Company changed its name to EVIANA Health Corporation on May 12, 2017. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

During the three and nine months ended March 31, 2017, the Company had a net loss of $11,675 

compared to a net loss of $Nil in the prior year’s comparative periods. The change is primarily attributed 

to the Company engaging professional financial advisors and incurring fees associated with divesting from 

the parent company and becoming a reporting issuer. These include listing and transfer agent fees, and 

costs associated with the Annual General and Special meetings.  There were no other significant expenses 

incurred by the Company during the three and nine months ended March 31, 2017.   

SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION 

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the following recent quarters: 
 

  March 31, 

2017 

 December 31, 

2016 

 Sept. 30, 

2016 

 June 30, 

2016 

Total Revenue $ - $ - $ - $ - 

Net Profit (Loss)  (11,675)  -  -  4 

Net Profit (Loss) Per Share   (0.00)  (0.00)  (0.00)  (0.00) 

(basic and diluted)         

         



LIQUIDITY  

 

(a)  The Company is a start-up health products company and therefore has no regular source of 
income.  As a result, its ability to conduct operations, including the development of its 
website and development of CBD production and health products, along with the 
acquisition of additional health products and/or technologies, is based on its current cash and 
its ability to raise funds, primarily from equity sources, and there can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to do so. 

 (b) Other than as set forth herein, there are no expected fluctuations in the Company's liquidity, 
taking into account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties. 

(c) The Company does not currently have any liquidity risks associated with financial 
 instruments. 

(d) There are no balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may affect the 
Company's liquidity. 

(g) There are currently no defaults or arrears by the Company on: 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal payment 
         on debt; 

(ii) debt covenants; and 

(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments. 

(h) As of March 31, 2017, the Company has working capital of $895,160 (June 30, 2016 - 

deficit of $229,165). 

(i) As of March 31, 2017, the Company has loans receivable of $905,800 (2016 - $2,575). 

Liquidity is dependent on the collectability of the loans receivable due from Evitrade 

Health Systems Corporation, which is non-secured, non-interest bearing with no fixed 

term of repayment. 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
There are no known trends or expected fluctuations in the Company's capital resources, including 

expected changes in the mix and relative cost of such resources. 

FINANCIAL INTSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company is exposed to various financial instrument risks and assesses the impact and 

likelihood of this exposure. These risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and 

currency risk. Where material, these risks are reviewed and monitored by the Board of Directors. 

a. Capital management 



The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders.  The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity as capital.  

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in response to 

changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  The 

Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has 

sufficient cash resources to fund the development of its business.   

To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, the Company intends to 

raise additional funds through equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject to any 

capital requirements imposed by a regulator. 

b. Credit risk 

The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank balances and loan receivable. 

The Company limits its credit exposure on cash held in bank accounts by holding its key 

transactional bank accounts with international financial institutions. Management believes 

that the credit risk to be minimal.   

c. Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with financial liabilities.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk 

is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at March 

31, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $1 (June 30, 2016 - $1) and current accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities of $10,784 (June 30, 2016 - $2,784).  All of the Company’s 

financial liabilities have or are treated with maturities of less than one year, and are subject 

to normal trade terms.  Management is considering different alternatives to secure adequate 

debt or equity financing to meet the Company short term and long term cash requirement.  

 

d. Interest rate risk 

Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market risk.  The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is currently immaterial.  

 
OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
As at March 31, 2017, the Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
 
 



TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
Included in loans receivable is $905,800 (2016 - $Nil) receivable from Evitrade Health Systems 

Corporation, a significant shareholder of C&C with a director and officer in common. 

The transactions above are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the agreed to 

amounts, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

OUSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 

Authorized:  unlimited common shares without par value 
   unlimited preferred shares without par value 
 
Issued and Outstanding: 
 
Common shares as at March 31, 2017, were 15,390,265 (2016 - 15,390,265)  
 
Preferred shares as at March 31, 2017, were Nil (2016 - Nil). 
 
There are no share purchase warrants or stock options issued and outstanding or exercisable 

at March 31, 2017, (2016 - Nil). 

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLIED   
 
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Company's 

consolidated financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and 

interpretations issued, which the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future 

date. The Company intends to adopt this standard when it becomes effective. The following 

pronouncements are being assessed to determine its impact on the Company's results and 

financial position: 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 

'Financial Instruments' is part of the IASB's wider project to replace IAS 39 'Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed 

measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 

assets, amortized cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity's 

business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The 

standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 

Health Products Industry 

The health products industry, hemp seed oil for nutritional supplements, hemp cosmetics and CBD 

extracts involve significant risks, which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and 

knowledge may not eliminate. While the development of a technology may result in substantial 

rewards, marketing will also play a significant role in developing the company and its level of 

success.  Major expenses may be required to establish the CBD production and health products 

along with a recognized brand to be accepted in the marketplace.  There is no certainty that current 

CBD production plans, health products, business plan, and marketing strategies of the Company 

will result in profitable commercial sales. Whether the Company will be commercially viable 

depends on a number of factors, some of which are the particular attributes of the industry the 

technology is geared toward and the existing infrastructure, as well as competitors’ strategies and 

market factors.  Some of these are cyclical and government regulations, including regulations 

relating to medical devices and consumer health products. 

 

The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the combination of these 

factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. Health 

care product operations generally involve a high degree of risk. The Company’s operations are 

subject to all the hazards and risks normally encountered in the health care industry.  Although 

adequate precautions to minimize risk will be taken, operations are subject to hazards that are 

unforeseeable or beyond the company’s control and their consequent liability.  

 

Some of these risks include the following: 

 

The Company is largely dependent on the success of its website which has not yet launched and 

management cannot be certain that its website will be successfully commercialized.  

 

The Company currently has no products for sale and cannot guarantee that it will ever have 

marketable products or services.  The company plans to launch its website once it has obtained 

sufficient channel partners to offer appropriate specialized customization for OTC health products 

and services. 

 

Risks in design, development and manufacture of a consumer health product which may have an 

adverse effect on a person’s health.  

 

If a significant portion of these development efforts are not successfully completed, required 

regulatory approvals are not obtained, or any approved products are not commercially successful, 

the company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially harmed 

 



The Company’s product may never achieve market acceptance even if the Company obtains 

regulatory approvals to sell and market its products. 

 

The Company’s activities are directed towards Hemp oil productions for cosmetics and nutritional 

supplements, CBD production and general health product sectors of the consumer health care 

industry. There is no certainty that any expenditures to be made by the Company as described 

herein will result in market acceptance of the company’s product or service offerings. There is 

aggressive competition within the Hemp oil, CBD production and health products marketplaces.  

The Company will compete with other interests, many of which have greater financial resources 

than it will have for marketing towards target consumers. Significant capital investment is required 

to achieve commercialization from the current start-up and development stage of the company. 

 

Government Regulation 
 

The consumer health products industry is subject to various federal, and provincial laws and 

regulations on, standards, claims, safety, efficacy and other matters.  Regulatory approvals by 

government agencies on the Company’s products and CBD production may be withheld or not 

granted at all and if granted may be subject to recalls which would materially affect the Company. 

 

Although the Company’s activities are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules 

and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or 

that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail 

development, production, manufacture, product claims, marketing or commercialization. 

Amendments to current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of the consumer 

health industry or more stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact 

on the Company. 

 

Uninsured Risks 

The Company may carry insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it considers 

adequate. Risks not insured against include key person insurance as the company heavily relies on 

the company officers. 

 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain directors of the Company also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies 

involved in other business ventures. Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors to 

be in a position of conflict. Any decision made by such directors involving the Company will be 

made in accordance with their duties and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with the 

Company and such other companies. In addition, such directors will declare, and refrain from 

voting on, any matter in which such directors may have a conflict of interest. 

 

 



Negative Operating Cash Flows 

As the Company is at the early stage start-up stage it may continue to have negative operating cash 

flows. Without the injection of further capital and the development of revenue streams from its 

business, the Company may continue to have negative operating cash flows until it can be 

sufficiently developed to commercialize. 

 

Risks Related as a Going Concern 

The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is uncertain and dependent upon its 

ability to achieve profitable operations, obtain additional capital and receive continued support 

from its shareholders.  Management of the Company will have to raise capital through private 

placements or debt financing and proposes to continue to do so through future private placements 

and offerings.  The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time. 

 

Reliance on Key Personnel and Advisors 

 
The Company relies heavily on its officers. The loss of their services may have a material adverse 

effect on the business of the Company. There can be no assurance that one or all of the employees 

of, and contractors engaged by, the Company will continue in the employ of, or in a consulting 

capacity to, the Company or that they will not set up competing businesses or accept positions with 

competitors. There is no guarantee that certain employees of, and contractors to, the Company who 

have access to confidential information will not disclose the confidential information.  

Licenses, Patents and Proprietary Rights 

The Company’s success could depend on its ability to protect its intellectual property, including 

trade secrets, and continue its operations without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties 

and without having its own rights infringed.   

Uncertainty Regarding Penetration of the Target Market 

The commercial success of the Company’s business as compared with those of its competitors 

depends on its acceptance by potential users and the medical community.  Market acceptance will 

largely depend on the reputation of the Company, its marketing strategy, consumer and health 

practitioner’s services and performance.  The Company’s success will depend on its ability to 

commercialize and expand its network users.  The Company will need to expand its marketing and 

sales operations and establish business relations with suppliers and users in a timely manner.   

In order to meet its business objectives, the Company will have to ensure that its facilities and 

services are safe, reliable and cost-effective, and bring the expected return.  There can be no 

assurance that the Company’s products and services will be accepted and recommended.   

 



Competition, Technological Obsolescence 

The consumer health products industry competitive.  Others in the field may have significantly 

more financial, technical, distribution and marketing resources.  Technological progress and 

product development may cause the Company’s services and product offerings to become obsolete 

or may reduce their market acceptance. 

Operating History and Expected Losses 

The Company expects to make significant investments in order to develop its services, increase 

marketing efforts, improve its operations, conduct research and development and update its 

equipment.  As a result, start-up operating losses are expected and such losses may be greater than 

anticipated, which could have a significant effect on the long-term viability of the Company. 

Reliance on Joint Ventures, License Assignors and Other Parties 

The nature of the Company’s operations requires it to enter into various agreements with partners, 

joint venture partners, medical facilities, and medical equipment suppliers in the business world, 

government agencies, licensors, licensees, and other parties for the successful operation of its 

businesses and the successful marketing of its services. 

There is no guarantee that those with whom the Company needs to deal will not adopt other 

technologies or that they will not develop alternative business strategies, acting either alone or in 

conjunction with other parties, including the Company’s competitors, in preference to those of the 

Company. 

Growth Management 

In executing the Company’s business plan for the future, there will be significant pressure on 

management, operations and technical resources.  The Company anticipates that its operating and 

personnel costs will increase in the future.  In order to manage its growth, the Company will have 

to increase the number of its technical and operational employees and efficiently manage its 

employees, while at the same time efficiently maintaining a large number of relationships with 

third parties.   

Regulatory Risks 

CBDs (Cannabinoids) and health products developed and/or used by the Company are prone to 

many technological challenges and requirements, and can be subject to the regulations and 

standards imposed by applicable regulatory agencies. There can be no assurance that the Company 

will be able to comply with all regulations concerning its products or related business.   

 

 



Potential Liability 

The Company is subject to the risk of potential liability claims with respect to its diagnostic and 

therapeutic solutions.  Should such claims be successful, plaintiffs could be awarded significant 

amounts of damages, which could exceed the limits of any liability insurance policies that may be 

held by the Company.  There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to obtain, maintain in 

effect or increase any such insurance coverage on acceptable terms or at reasonable costs, or that 

such insurance will provide the Company with adequate protection against potential liability. 

FINANCIAL AND DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
 

During the period ended March 31, 2017, there has been no significant change in the Company’s 

internal controls over financial reporting since last comparative year.   

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate 

information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information used internally and 

disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely. Management is also responsible for 

establishing adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide sufficient knowledge to 

support the representations made in this MD&A and the Company’s financial statements for this 

filing (together the “Filings”).  

The management of the Company has filed the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate with the Interim 

or Annual Filings on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

In contrast to the certificate required for non-venture issuers under National Instrument 52-109 

Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the venture issuer 

basic certificate does not include representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of 

disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over financial reporting 

(“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109. Investors should be aware that inherent limitations on the 

ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design and implement on a cost effective basis 

DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, 

transparency, and timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under 

securities legislation. 

 
OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS 
 

Sydney Au   CEO, CFO & Director 
 

CONTACT 
 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 
c/o #168-11280 Twigg Place 
Richmond, British Columbia 
V6V 0A6    
Tel: (604) 780-3311 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To: the Shareholders of 

 2554191 Ontario Inc.        

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 2554191 Ontario Inc. (the “Company”), which comprise the statement of 

financial position as at March 31, 2017, and the statement of loss and comprehensive loss, statement of cash flows and statement of 

changes in shareholders’ equity for the period from date of incorporation December 30, 2016 to March 31, 2017, and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 

preparation and fair presentation  of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at March 31, 

2017, and its financial performance and its cash flow for the period from date of incorporation December 30, 2016 to March 31, 2017 in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

    

                                                                                                                                                           

“A Chan & Company LLP” 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

 

Burnaby, British Columbia 

April 5, 2017 
 

 
A CHAN AND COMPANY LLP 

  CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
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NATURE OF BUSINESS AND CONTINUING OPERATIONS (Note 1) 

 

 

“Michael Galloro”   

Michael Galloro, Director  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements. 

2554191 ONTARIO INC.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

March 31,

Note 2017

Assets

Cash 532,551$                 

Loan receivables 4                    460,000                   

Total Assets 992,551$                 

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 59,500$                   

Total Liabilities 59,500                     

Shareholders' Equity

Share capital 5                    954,350                   

Contributed surplus 57,651                     

Deficit (78,950)                    

Total shareholders' equity 933,051                   

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 992,551$                 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements.

2554191 ONTARIO INC.

STATEMENT OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30, 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Expenses

Professional and legal 78,950$              

78,950$              

Net loss and comprehensive loss 78,950$              

Loss per share, basic and diluted 0.14$                  

Weighted average number of common shares, basic and diluted 556,044              
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements.   

 

2554191 ONTARIO INC.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30, 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Operating Activities

Net loss for the period (78,950)$          

Changes in non-cash working capital

Loan receivables (460,000)          

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 59,500             

Cash used in operating activities (479,450)          

Financing Activities

Share issued on date of incorporation 1                      

Proceeds from private placement 1,100,000        

Share issuance costs (88,000)            

Cash from financing activities 1,012,001        

Net increase in cash 532,551           

Cash balance, date of incorporation -                   

Cash balance, March 31, 2017 532,551$         
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited financial statements.   

2554191 ONTARIO INC.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30, 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Number of 

Common 

Shares Share Capital

Contributed 

Surplus Deficit

Total 

Shareholders' 

Equity 

Balance at date of incorporation 1                        1$                  -$                  -$              1$                       

Proceeds from private placement (Note 5) 1,100,000          1,100,000      -                    -                1,100,000           

Share issuance costs (Note 5) -                     (88,000)          -                    -                (88,000)               

Issuance of broker warrants (Note 5) -                     (57,651)          57,651              -                -                      

Net loss for the period -                     -                 -                    (78,950)         (78,950)               

Balance at March 31, 2017 1,100,001          954,350$       57,651$            (78,950)$       933,051$            



2554191 ONTARIO INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)                                                            
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1.  NATURE OF BUSINESS AND CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

2554191 Ontario Inc. ("the Company") was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Business 

Corporations Act of Ontario on December 30, 2016. The Company’s registered head office address is 

365 Bay Street, Suite 400, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2V1.  

The Company has no business operations. On January 18, 2017, the Company entered into a Letter of 

Intent (“Letter”) between EVITRADE Health Systems Corp. (“EVITRADE”) and its wholly owned 

subsidiary C&C Cosmeceuticals Corporation or a new subsidiary company (“Subco”) to be formed by 

EVITRADE, and the shareholders owning 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the 

Company (the “Vendors”), with respect to a proposed transaction in which Subco will purchase all of the 

issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company from the Vendors.   

On March 9, 2017, the Letter between the Company and EVITRADE was extended until March 30, 

2017. 

The Company does not generate revenue from operations. The Company incurred a net loss of 

$78,950 from the period of incorporation on December 30, 2016 to March 31, 2017, and, as of that 

date, the Company’s deficit was $78,950. However, the Company believes that its working capital 

balance as at March 31, 2017 of $933,051 will provide the Company with sufficient cash resources to 

meet its obligations for at least twelve months from the end of the reporting period. These financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes realization of assets and 

discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future. These financial 

statements do not include any adjustments to the amounts and classification of assets and liabilities 

that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in business.  Such adjustments 

could be material. 

 
2.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

These financial statements are prepared by the Company in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

These financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash 

flow information. Furthermore, these financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is 

the functional currency of the Company.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Company’s management 

to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported 

in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these estimates are 

based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results may differ 

from those estimates. 

These audited financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 5, 

2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2554191 ONTARIO INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)                                                            
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3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

(a) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash in the statements of financial position is comprised of cash held at a major financial 

institution.  

(b) Financial instruments  

 

Financial assets  

 

The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on 

the purpose for which the asset was acquired.  The Company's accounting policy for each 

category is as follows:  

(i) Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired 

principally for the purpose of being resold in the near term.  They are carried on the 

statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the 

statement of comprehensive loss. The Company has classified cash as fair value through 

profit or loss. 

(ii) Loans and receivables - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They are carried at cost 

less any provision for impairment.  Individually significant receivables are considered for 

impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a 

specific counterparty will default. The Company has classified loan receivables as loans and 

receivables. 

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments – These assets are recognized on a trade-date basis and are 

initially measured at fair value, including transaction costs. The Company does not have any 

assets classified as HTM investments. 

(iv) Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are 

classified as available-for-sale.  They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value 

recognized directly in equity.  Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale 

financial asset constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is 

removed from equity and recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss. The Company 

does not have any assets classified as available-for-sale assets. 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for 

impairment at least at each reporting date.  Financial assets are impaired when there is any 

objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.  Different 

criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets described 

above.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2554191 ONTARIO INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)                                                            
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3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(b) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities 

The Company classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the 

purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category 

is as follows:  

(i) Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or liabilities acquired 

or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. They are 

carried on the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value 

recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss.  

(ii) Other financial liabilities - This category includes accounts payables and accrued liabilities, 

all of which are recognized at amortized cost. 

(c) Share capital - common shares 

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.  

(d) Warrants 

Warrants are measured at fair value on the date of grant and included in contributed surplus.  

The fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  Upon expiry, the 

recorded value remains in contributed surplus. 

(e) Loss per share 

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated 

by dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share does 

not adjust the loss attributable to common shareholders or the weighted average number of 

common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive. 



2554191 ONTARIO INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD FROM INCORPORATION (DECEMBER 30 2016) TO MARCH 31, 2017 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)                                                            

10 

 

3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(f) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after April 1, 2017: 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 2009 with 

additions in October 2010 and May 2013 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether 

a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 

39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the 

context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 

assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 

liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9, except that an entity choosing to measure 

a financial liability at fair value will present the portion of any change in its fair value due to 

changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, rather than within profit or 

loss. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the 

multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2018.  Earlier adoption is permitted. 

4.  LOAN RECEIVABLES 

During the period ended March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a loan agreement with EVITRADE 

(Note 1) for a total of $460,000. The total loan receivables is non-interest bearing. All principal 

amounts owing or outstanding under the loan shall become due and payable by EVITRADE on 

demand. 

A general security agreement was issued by EVITRADE in favour of the Company to secure the loan. 

 
5.   SHARE CAPITAL  

a) Authorized  

Unlimited number of common shares without par value and unlimited number of special shares, 

issuable in series. 

b) Issued and outstanding - see statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. 

On December 30, 2016, the date of incorporation, 1 common share without par value at $1.00 per 

common share was issued. 

On February 14, 2017, the Company completed a brokered private placement under which it 

raised gross proceeds of $1,100,000 from the sale of 1,100,000 common shares at a price of 

$1.00 per common share. In addition, 110,000 broker warrants priced at $1.00 per common share, 

valued at $57,651 and exercisable until February 14, 2019, were issued in connection with this 

private placement. Issuance costs of $88,000 were incurred in connection with this private 

placement. 
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5.  SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

c) Warrants  

On February 14, 2017, the Company issued 110,000 warrants of the Company with an exercise 

price of $1.00 per common share, exercisable until February 14, 2019. The fair value for the 

warrants of $57,651 was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following 

assumptions: exercise price of $1.00, expected volatility of 100%, an expected life of 2 years, an 

expected dividend yield of 0%, and a risk-free interest rate of 0.76%.  

 
6.  MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company considers its capital structure to include the components of shareholders’ equity. 

Management’s objective is to ensure that there is sufficient capital to minimize liquidity risk and to 

continue as a going concern. Although the Company has been successful in the past in obtaining 

financing through the sale of equity securities, there can be no assurance that the Company will be 

able to obtain adequate financing in the future, or that the terms of such financings will be favourable. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Fair Value 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, loan receivables, and accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities. The fair values of financial instruments other than cash approximate their carrying 

values because of their current nature. 

The following table summarizes the carrying values of the Company’s financial instruments: 

 

 

(i) Cash 
(ii) loan receivables 
(iii) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 
The Company classifies its fair value measurements in accordance with the three levels fair value 

hierarchy as follows: 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly 

or indirectly, and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market date. 

 
 
 
 
 

March 31, 2017

FVTPL (i) 532,551$                                        

Loans and receivables (ii) 460,000$                                        

Other financial liabilities (iii) 59,500$                                         
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7.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

The Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2017 

are as follows: 

 

Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risks consist 

principally of cash. To minimize the credit risk on cash the Company places the instrument with a high 

credit quality financial institution. 

Liquidity Risk 

The Company ensures its holding of cash is sufficient to meet its short-term general and administrative 

expenditures. All of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or less or 

are due on demand and are subject to normal trade terms.  

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk as all of its transactions are in Canadian 

dollars. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

 
8.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT  

There is no significant subsequent event to report. 

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$ $ $ $

Cash 532,551 - - 532,551

532,551               -                 - 532,551
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EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 
Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

   
C&C 

Cosmeceuticals 
Corp. 

March 31, 
2017 

 
2554191 Ontario 

Inc. 
March 31, 2017 

 
Pro Forma 

Adjustments 
Dr. / (Cr.) 

 
 

Note 

 
Pro Forma 

Consolidated 
March 31, 

2017 

Assets      
       

Current      
 Cash and cash equivalents $                 1   $          532,551 $    1,770,000 2(5) $      2,302,552 
 Other receivables 143 - -  143 
 Loans receivables 905,800 460,000 (905,800) 2(3) 460,000 

       905,944            992,551 864,200                  2,762,695 
       
Intangible properties                   -           - 144,000                 2(1)             - 
    (144,000) 2(1)  
        

  $      905,944  $          992,551    $       864,200            $      2,762,695 

       
Liabilities And Shareholders' Equity      
       

Current      
      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $        10,784 $            59,500 $                   -                    70,284  
 
      Long term loan payable - - 144,000 

 
2(1) - 

   10,990,000 2(2)  
   (905,800) 2(3)  
   (9,253,200) 2(4)  
   (975,000) 2(6)  
      

                 10,784      59,500 -  70,284 
      

Shareholders' Equity      
 Share capital 920,000           954,350 (954,350) 2(2) 3,665,000 
    1,770,000 2(5)  
    975,000 2(6)  
 Contributed surplus - 57,651 (57,651) 2(2) 1,362,308 
    1,362,308 2(7)  
 Retained earnings (deficit) (24,840) (78,950) (144,000) 2(1) (2,334,897) 
                 78,950 2(2)                        
    (10,056,949) 2(2)  
    9,253,200 2(4)  
    (1,362,308) 2(7)  
       

  895,160            933,051 864,200  2,692,411      
       

   $         905,944 $          992,551   $       864,200   $     2,762,695 

 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements. 



  
 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 
Notes to the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at March 31, 2017 
(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared by 
management of EVIANA Health corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) (“C&C”) and 2554191 
Ontario Inc. (“2554191”), for illustrative purposes only, to show the effect of the proposed business 
combination (the “Transaction”) between C&C and 2554191, on the basis of the assumptions described in 
Note 2 below. All financial amounts are shown in Canadian dollars. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been derived from the unaudited 
condensed interim financial statements of C&C as of March 31, 2017, and the audited financial statements 
of 2554191 as of March 31, 2017. C&C is considered as the acquirer under the Transaction. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial 
position is not necessarily indicative of the financial position of C&C on the date of completion of the 
proposed Transaction.   

It is management’s opinion that the unaudited pro forma statement of financial position, includes all 
adjustments necessary for the fair presentation, in all material respects, of the transactions described in note 
2 in accordance with IFRS, applied on a basis consistent with C&C’s accounting policies, except as otherwise 
noted. 

2. PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

1. C&C acquired intellectual property related to CBD oil extraction process from Evitrade Health Systems 
Corp. (“Evitrade”) in exchange for a loan payable of $144,000. Subsequently, C&C wrote down this 
intellectual property to $Nil due to uncertainty as to when the economic benefits from this technology 
would be realized.   

2. The fair value of net assets of 2554191 as at March 31, 2017, prior to the business combination were: 

Assets: 
  Cash      $     532,551 
  Loan Receivables            460,000    
  Payables             (59,500)   

  Net assets assumed    $      933,051 

Consideration:  
Long-term loan from Evitrade(1)   $ 10,990,000 

 
Difference recorded as transaction costs  $ 10,056,949 

                                   

(1) As Evitrade issued 3,500,000 shares at $3.14 per share to complete the acquisition of 2554191, on behalf of C&C, C&C owes 
Evitrade $10,990,000. 

 

In accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations, the Transaction was an acquisition of a company 
without real business operations, thus does not constitute a business combination and does not meet the 
definition of a business under the standard. As a result, the Transaction is accounted for as a capital 
transaction with C&C being identified as the acquirer and the Transaction being measured at the fair value 
of the net assets acquired from 2554191.  All share capital and deficit of 2554191 has been eliminated. 

 

3. The loan receivables of $905,800 from Evitrade is offset against the other loans from item 1 and 2 above. 

4. Evitrade signed an agreement to forgive all amounts owing except for $975,000, resulting in a gain on 
forgiveness of debt of $9,253,200 



  
 

EVIANA Health Corporation (formerly, C&C Cosmeceuticals Corp.) 
Notes to the Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements 
As At March 31, 2017 
(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

5. To present the completion of a private placement raising gross proceeds of $1,770,000 at a price of 
$1.00 per unit.  Each unit consists of one common share and one common share purchase warrant with 
an exercise price of $1.25, expiring 6 months from the date of issuance. 

6. To present the issuance of 975,000 common shares at a price of $1.00 per share in exchange for the 
$975,000 long-term payable. 

7. To present the issuance of 1,500,000 stock options with an exercise price of $1.00, valued at $1,362,308.  
The stock options were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using a volatility of 150%, 
strike price of $1.00, risk free rate of 0.75%, expected life of 5 years and dividend yield of 0%. 

 
3. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Share capital as at March 31, 2017, in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position 
is comprised of the following: 

 
 Number of Shares Amount 

   
Authorized    
      Unlimited common shares without par value   
   
Issued   
     C&C common shares outstanding as at March 31, 2017 15,390,265 $         920,000 
     2554191 common shares outstanding as at March 31, 2017   1,100,001 954,350 
     Intercompany elimination of 2554191 common shares (1,100,001) (954,350) 
     Private placement financing (note 2(5)) 1,770,000 1,770,000 
     Shares for debt transaction (note 2(6)) 975,000 975,000 

     Common shares outstanding after acquisition             18,135,265 $      3,665,000 

 
4. PRO FORMA OPTIONS 
 

Prior to March 31, 2017, the Company had no stock options issued out and outstanding.  As per note 2(7), 
the Company issued 1,500,000 stock options, which have an exercise price of $1.00, and expire five years 
from the date of issuance. 

 
5. PRO FORMA DEFICIT 
 

  Deficit 

   
Opening deficit – C&C   $ 24,840 
Opening deficit – 2554191  78,950 
Write-off of intellectual property (note 2(1))  144,000 
Transaction costs (note 2(2))  10,056,949 
Elimination of 2554191 opening deficit  (78,950) 
Forgiveness of debt (note 2(4))  (9,253,200) 
Issuance of stock options (note 2(7))  1,362,308 

Pro forma deficit              $ 2,334,897 

 
6. PRO FORMA INCOME TAXES 
 
The Company expects to have an effective pro forma income tax rate of 26%. 



 

 
 

Schedule G 

Comparison of Serbian Corporate Law with Alberta Corporate Law 
 

 Rights of Holders of Shares of Alberta 

Corporation 

Rights of Holder of Shares of Serbian 

Company 

Share Capital Under Alberta law articles specify share 

capital. Typically a corporation is authorized 

to issue an unlimited number of common 

shares. 

There is no concept of par value under Alberta 

corporate law and all shares of Alberta 

corporations, once issued, are deemed to be 

fully paid and non-assessable. 

In Serbia, limited liability companies (such 

as Intiva d.o.o.) cannot issue shares. 

Instead, existing shareholders can increase 

their shareholdings by increasing share 

capital. Third parties can become 

shareholders through either (i) acquiring 

shareholding (partial or full) from existing 

shareholders, or through (ii) subscribing 

shares from share capital increase. In case 

of share capital increase, unless otherwise 

provided under corporate documents, 

existing shareholders have pre-emption 

rights in proportion of their shareholdings. 

Voting Rights Under the Business Corporations Act 

(Alberta) (the “ABCA”), and typical articles, 

each common share of a corporation entitles 

the holder to one vote at a meeting of 

shareholders. On a show of hands, each holder 

of shares in the corporation present in person 

or by proxy and entitled to vote has one vote. 

If a ballot is called, each holder of shares in a 

corporation present in person or by proxy will 

have one vote for each share in the 

corporation held. The ABCA and typical by-

laws provide that a ballot may be demanded 

by any shareholder or proxy holder entitled to 

vote at the meeting. 

Typically, the voting rights correspond to 

shareholding (e.g. a shareholder with 30% 

of share capital would have 30% voting 

rights). However, this mechanism for 

distributing voting rights can be differently 

agreed by shareholders in the corporate 

charter and other corporate documents (e.g. 

statute). Shareholders can vote through 

proxyholders. 

Number of 

Directors 

Under the ABCA, at least 25% of the directors 

of a corporation must be resident Canadians. 

 

Typically the articles set a minimum of three 

and a maximum of ten directors 

Generally (i.e. for most business activities) 

there is no requirement regarding the 

nationality of directors.  

 

Typically, LLC in Serbia have only on 

director who is entrusted with day-to-day 

operations (only crucial decisions are made 

by shareholders' assembly). 

 

The Companies Act is very flexible and 

entitles founders of company to choose 

from various types of corporate governance.  

 

Not so commonly, LLC can have a board of 

directors, supervisory board and 

shareholders' assembly. In this instance 

there are various options for regulating 

powers of representations (e.g. all five 

directors have to sign, or only two out of 

which one has to be general director etc.). 

Director 

Remuneration 

Under the ABCA, the directors of a 

corporation may fix the remuneration of the 

directors, officers and employees of the 

corporation.  Under the ABCA and applicable 

Canadian securities laws, a report on 

compensation is required to be included in the 

All corporate officers, including directors 

may have fixed remuneration. Typically, 

remuneration of directors is determined by 

shareholders' assembly (through decision on 

appointment). Other officers are typically 

employees and work based on employment 



 

 
 

management proxy circular in connection with 

the annual meeting each year.  A corporation’s 

by-laws may place limits on compensation. 

contracts where the company determines 

remuneration. 

Powers of the 

Board of 

Directors 

Under the ABCA, the board of directors is to 

supervise the management of and the business 

and affairs of the corporation. 

Depends on corporate statute. Typically 

LLC do not have board of directors. 

However if they have, the board governs the 

company and supervises the general 

director. 

Transactions 

Involving 

Directors 

The ABCA requires directors and officers to 

disclose to the corporation the nature and 

extent of any interest that they may have in a 

material contract or transaction, whether made 

or proposed, with the corporation, if they: 

 

• are a party to the contract or transaction; or 

• have a material interest in any person who is 

a party to a material contract or transaction or 

proposed material contract or transaction with 

the corporation. 

 

Except as provided in the ABCA, no director 

having such an interest may vote on any 

resolution to approve such contract or 

transaction unless the contract or transaction: 

 

• relates primarily to his or her remuneration 

as a director of the corporation or an affiliate; 

• is for indemnity or insurance; or 

• is with an affiliate. 

 

A contract or transaction for which the above 

disclosure is required is not void or voidable, 

and the director or officer is not accountable 

to the corporation or its shareholders for any 

profit realized from the contract or 

transaction, by reason only of that relationship 

or by reason only that the director is present at 

or is counted to determine the presence of a 

quorum at the meeting of directors that 

authorized the contract or transaction, if: 

 

• the director or officer disclosed of the 

interest in accordance with the ABCA; and 

• the contract or transaction was reasonable 

and fair to the corporation when it was 

approved. 

 

Even if the above conditions are not met, a 

contract or transaction is not void or avoidable 

and a director or officer is not accountable to 

the corporation or its shareholders for any 

profit realized from a contract or transaction 

that required disclosure if: 

 

• the director or officer was acting honestly 

and in good faith the contract or transaction is 

approved or confirmed by special resolution 

of the shareholders at a meeting of the 

shareholders duly called for that purpose; 

Under Serbian corporate law, director is 

obliged to disclose to the shareholders' 

assembly self-interest in regard to a 

transaction that the company intends to 

undertake. 

Self-interest is deemed to exist under 

following circumstances: 

• transaction between director and 

company; 

• transaction between company and third 

party which is related to the director and 

provided that it could be expected that 

relation between third party and director 

influences directors actions; or 

• transaction by the company in which third 

party has financial interest, if the third party 

has financial relations with directors 

provided that it could be expected that 

relation between third party and director 

influences directors actions. 

 

transaction by the  

The shareholders' assembly may approve 

interested transaction by simple majority 

vote. 



 

 
 

 

• after sufficient disclosure of the interest was 

made to shareholders in the notice calling the 

meeting or in the information circular required 

by the ABCA to indicate its nature; and 

 

• the contract or transaction was reasonable 

and fair to the corporation when approved or 

confirmed. 

Removal of 

Directors 

Under the ABCA, the shareholders of a 

corporation may, by ordinary resolution at an 

annual or special meeting, remove any 

director or directors from office. 

Entrusted to the shareholder's assembly. 

This can decision can be adopted in either 

annual or special meetings. 

Rotation of 

Directors 

Typical by-laws provide that the election of 

directors shall take place at each annual 

meeting of shareholders and all the directors 

then in office shall retire but, if qualified, shall 

be eligible for re-election.  The number of 

directors to be elected at any such meeting 

shall be the number of directors as specified in 

the articles or, if a minimum and maximum 

number of directors is provided for in the 

articles, the number of directors determined 

by special resolution or, if a special resolution 

empowers the directors to determine the 

number, the number of directors determined 

by resolution of the board. 

Unless otherwise provided under corporate 

documents, director(s) are removed by 

shareholders' assembly decision. Director 

term is typically unlimited and lasts until 

terminated. 

Retirement 

Benefits 

There are no restrictions on the quantum of 

retirement benefits that a typical corporation 

may pay to its directors or officers in its 

bylaws. 

Not regulated. Up to the company to decide. 

Indemnification 

of Directors and 

Officers 

Typical by-laws provide that, subject to 

limitations contained in the ABCA, a 

corporation shall indemnify a director or 

officer, a former director or officer or another 

individual who acts or has acted at the 

corporation’s request as a director or officer, 

or an individual who acts in a similar capacity, 

of another entity, against all costs, charges and 

expenses, including an amount paid to settle 

an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably 

incurred by the individual in respect of any 

civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or 

other proceeding in which the individual is 

involved because of that association with the 

corporation or other entity if: 

 

• the individual acted honestly and in good 

faith with a view to the best interests of the 

corporation or, as the case may be, to the best 

interests of the other entity for which the 

individual acted as a director or officer or in a 

similar capacity at the corporation’s request; 

• in the case of a criminal or administrative 

action or proceeding that is enforced by a 

monetary penalty, the individual had 

reasonable ground for believing that the 

individual’s conduct was lawful; and  

The Serbian Companies Act does not 

regulate indemnification of directors in 

regard to third party claims against the 

director. It is to be noted that under the 

Serbian court proceedings regulation, the 

party that losses the proceedings has to 

compensate the other party for all costs and 

expenses incurred in connection to 

proceeding by the party who won the 

proceedings. 



 

 
 

• a court or other competent authority has not 

judged that the individual has committed any 

fault or omitted to do anything that the 

individual ought to have done. 

 

A corporation shall also indemnify such 

person in such circumstances as the ABCA 

permits or requires.  Furthermore, under the 

ABCA, a corporation may indemnify a 

director or officer of the corporation, a former 

director or officer of the corporation or 

another individual who acts or acted at the 

corporation’s request as a director or officer, 

or an individual acting in a similar capacity, of 

another entity, against all costs, charges and 

expenses, including an amount paid to settle 

an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably 

incurred by the individual in respect of any 

civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or 

other proceeding in which the individual is 

involved because of that association with the 

corporation or other entity.  

 

The ABCA and typical bylaws authorize 

corporations to purchase and maintain liability 

insurance for the benefit of the individuals 

described above against such liabilities and in 

such amounts as the board of the corporation 

may from time to time determine and are 

permitted by the ABCA. 

Directors’ 

Liability 

Typical by-laws provide that, subject to any 

applicable statutory provisions, no director or 

officer shall be liable for certain specific acts 

and any other loss, damage or misfortune 

whatever which may happen in the execution 

of the duties of his or her respective office or 

trust or in relation thereto unless the same 

shall happen by or through his or her failure to 

exercise the powers and discharge the duties 

of his or her office honestly, in good faith and 

in the best interests of the corporation and in 

connection therewith to exercise the degrees 

of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably 

prudent person would exercise in comparable 

circumstance. 

Please see below under item "Duties of 

Directors". 

Duties of 

Directors 

Under the ABCA, applicable Canadian 

securities laws and Canadian common law, 

every director and officer of a corporation, in 

exercising their powers and discharging their 

duties, must: 

 

• act honestly and in good faith with a view to 

the best interests of the corporation 

(commonly referred to as the ‘duty of 

loyalty’); 

• act for a proper purpose; 

• not fetter their discretion; 

• exercise the care, diligence and skill that a 

reasonably prudent person would exercise in 

The Companies Act specifies the following 

fiduciary duties of the directors: (i) duty of 

due care (ii) duty to disclose transactions 

involving personal interest, (iii) duty to 

avoid conflict of interest, (iv) duty to obey 

prohibition of competition clause, (v) duty 

to safeguard business secret. Namely, the 

directors must perform their duties in that 

capacity scrupulously, with due care of a 

prudent businessperson, in the reasonable 

belief that they are acting in the company’s 

best interests. They must base their 

judgement on the information and opinions 

given by persons who are experts in the 



 

 
 

comparable circumstances (commonly 

referred to as the ‘duty of care’); 

• avoid conflicts of interest; 

• not use their position to their advantage; and 

• not misappropriate corporation property. 

fields involved, whom they believe to be 

scrupulous and competent in that respect. 

Any person who acts in compliance with 

the preceding rules shall not be liable for 

any damage to the company arising out of 

such judgement (business judgement rule). 

The directors shall especially be bound not 

to do the following acts for the personal 

interest or for the interest of affiliated 

persons: use the company’s assets; use 

privileged information in the company; 

misuse their position in the company; take 

the company’s business opportunities. 

Nomination of 

Directors 

Typical by-laws provide that the election of 

directors shall take place at each annual 

meeting of shareholders and all the directors 

then in office shall retire but, if qualified, shall 

be eligible for re-election.  The number of 

directors to be elected at any such meeting 

shall be the number of directors as specified in 

the articles or, if a minimum and maximum 

number of directors is provided for in the 

articles, the number of directors determined 

by special resolution or, if a special resolution 

empowers the directors to determine the 

number, the number of directors determined 

by resolution of the board. 

Typically, first director is nominated 

through AoA, every other director of 

Serbian limited liability company is 

nominated by shareholders' assembly 

decision. 

Casual 

Vacancies 

Subject to the ABCA, a quorum of the board 

of a corporation may fill a vacancy in the 

board unless that vacancy is a result of an 

increase in the maximum number of directors 

or from a failure of the shareholders to elect 

the number of directors required. 

In case the representation of the company is 

done singularly by several directors and 

number of directors fall below the number 

prescribed in company's AoA, the existing 

directors continue to represent the company. 

 

In case the representation of the company is 

done jointly by directors and number of 

directors who can jointly represent the 

company falls below the minimum, the 

existing directors may undertake only 

urgent matters and the shareholders' 

assembly must elect new director(s). 

Quorum of 

Shareholders 

Typical by-laws provide that the presence of 

two persons present in person, each being a 

shareholder entitled to vote or a duly 

appointed proxy or proxy holder for an absent 

shareholder so entitled, holding or 

representing in the aggregate not less than a 

specified number of the issued shares of the 

corporation with voting rights at such meeting 

will constitute quorum for the transaction of 

business at the meeting of shareholders. 

Typically 50% of all shareholders.  

In case the session could not be held due to 

lack of quorum, the repeated session is held 

within 30 days, quorum for such session in 

presence of shareholders with at least 1/3 of 

total number of votes. 

Annual General 

Meeting 

Under the ABCA, the annual meeting of the 

corporation must be called by the directors not 

later than 15 months after holding the last 

preceding annual meeting. 

Under the Serbian corporate law, the annual 

shareholder's assembly meeting must be 

held within six month upon termination of 

business year. 

Notice of 

Shareholder 

Meetings 

Under the ABCA, notice of a general meeting 

of a corporation’s shareholders must be given 

to the shareholders entitled to vote (and the 

directors and auditors) at least 21 days (but 

Notice of a shareholder's assembly meeting 

must be made 8 days prior to the meeting 

date at the latest. 

 

Notice must include: 



 

 
 

not more than 50 days) before the date of the 

meeting. 

 

The notice of an annual meeting need not 

include a description of the purpose or 

purposes for which the meeting is called. A 

notice of a meeting at which special business 

is to be transacted must state the nature of that 

business in sufficient detail to permit the 

shareholder to form a reasoned judgment 

thereon, as well as the text of any special 

resolution to be submitted to the meeting. Any 

business, other than the election of directors, 

reappointment of the incumbent auditor and 

consideration of the financial statements and 

auditor’s report, is deemed to be special 

business. 

 date of notice; 

 time and place of the meeting; 

 meeting agenda; 

 text of each decision proposed to be put 

for voting; 

 each transaction document put for 

approval; 

 voting ballot; and 

 detailed description of every matter put 

for discussion. 

Calling 

Meetings 

Under the ABCA, the board of directors of a 

corporation may call a special meeting of 

shareholders at any time. The ABCA further 

provides that the holders of not less than 5% 

of the issued shares of a corporation that carry 

the right to vote at a meeting may requisition 

the directors to call a meeting of shareholders 

for the purposes stated in the requisition. 

Meeting is called by director. 

Meeting must be called by director if so is 

demanded by shareholders which have at 

least 20% of voting rights. 

Shareholder 

Proposed 

Resolutions 

The ABCA entitles a registered or beneficial 

holder of a corporation’s shares eligible to be 

voted at its annual shareholder meeting to 

submit to a corporation notice of any matter 

that the person proposes to raise at the 

meeting (“Proposal”) and discuss at the 

meeting any matter in respect of which the 

person would have been entitled to submit a 

Proposal.  If a corporation receives notice of a 

Proposal and is soliciting proxies, it would 

then be required to set out the Proposal in its 

management proxy circular (and, if requested 

by the person submitting the Proposal, include 

or attach the Proposal and a statement in 

support of the Proposal not exceeding 500 

words in the aggregate).  However, a Proposal 

for the nomination for the election of directors 

is required to be signed by the holders of at 

least 5% of the outstanding shares entitled to 

vote at such meeting. 

 

The ABCA provides for exemptions from the 

requirements to include a proposal in a 

corporation’s management proxy circular in 

circumstances including where: 

 

• the proposal is not submitted at least 60 days 

before the anniversary date of the last annual 

meeting, if the matter is proposed to be raised 

at an annual meeting, or at least 60 days 

before a meeting other than the annual 

meeting, if the matter is proposed to be raised 

at a meeting other than the annual meeting;  

One or more shareholders who have at least 

10% of shareholding can propose additional 

item on shareholders' meeting agenda (this 

can be done also by shareholders with 

lessor shareholding if so is provided under 

company's AoA). 

 

Such proposal must be done at least 3 days 

prior to shareholders' meeting. 



 

 
 

• it clearly appears that the primary purpose of 

the proposal is to enforce a personal claim or 

redress a personal grievance against the 

corporation or its directors, officers or security 

holders; 

• it clearly appears that the proposal does not 

relate in a significant way to the business or 

affairs of the corporation; 

• substantially the same proposal failed to 

receive a certain amount of support at a prior 

meeting held not more than five years before 

the receipt of the proposal; or 

• not more than two years before the receipt of 

a proposal, the proponent failed to present a 

proposal at a prior meeting that had been 

included in the management proxy circular at 

the proponent’s request. 

Passing 

Resolutions at 

General 

Meetings 

Under the ABCA, a resolution at a general 

meeting of a corporation’s shareholders is to be 

passed by a simple majority of votes cast by the 

shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution. 

Simple majority of votes, provided that 

quorum is satisfied (in relation to quorum 

please see above). 

Special 

Resolutions 

Under the ABCA, a special resolution must be 

passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds 

of the votes cast by the shareholders entitled to 

vote on the resolution.  Approval by special 

resolution of the shareholders is required for 

such actions as: 

 

• amending a corporation’s articles; 

• changing a corporation’s name; 

• increasing or reducing stated capital, if the 

corporation’s stated capital is stated in its 

articles; 

• undertaking a voluntary liquidation and 

dissolution; 

• amalgamating with another arm’s length 

corporation; 

• continuing under the laws of another 

jurisdiction; and 

• undertaking the sale, lease or exchange of all 

or substantially all of the property of the 

corporation other than in the ordinary course of 

business. 

Majority of 2/3 vote of all votes is required 

in case of: 

 increase/decrease of share capital; 

 status change and change of legal form; 

 liquidation; 

 distribution of profit and manner for 

covering losses; and 

 acquisition of own-shares. 

Derivative 

Action and 

Shareholder 

Class Action 

Under the ABCA, representative shareholder 

actions or derivative actions are available to a 

corporation’s shareholders and other 

‘complainants’ (as defined under the ABCA to 

include shareholders, former shareholders, 

directors and officers, former directors and 

officers, the director appointed under the 

ABCA to carry out duties and exercise powers 

under the ABCA, and any other persons who, 

in the discretion of the court, are proper persons 

to bring an action). 

 

The ABCA, to a large extent, has supplemented 

the Canadian common law and equity rules on 

the availability of actions. In addition to 

allowing complainants to bring actions in the 

One or more shareholders may, on their 

behalf or on behalf of the company, initiate 

court proceedings in relation to: 

 breach of duty of care; 

 breach of rules for approval of 

transactions with self-interest; 

 self-interest transactions; 

 breach of duty to safeguarding business 

secret; and 

 breach of non-compete duty. 

 

The derivative action may be brought by 

shareholders who: 

  

 own at least 5% of company's share 



 

 
 

name and on behalf of a corporation or any of 

its subsidiaries, the statutory provisions of the 

ABCA also allow complainants to intervene in 

existing proceedings, either for prosecuting or 

defending it, or to bring about its 

discontinuation on behalf of the corporation. 

Whether seeking to bring an action or to 

intervene, certain substantive and procedural 

requirements must first be met, including the 

requirement that the court be satisfied that the 

complainant is acting in good faith and that it 

appears to be in the interests of the corporation 

or its subsidiary.   

 

To bring a derivative action, it is first necessary 

to obtain the leave of the court. The granting of 

leave is not automatic, but requires the court to 

exercise judicial discretion. The court may 

grant leave if: 

 

• the complainant has given notice to the 

directors of a corporation or its subsidiary of 

the complainant’s intention to apply to the 

court not less than 14 days before bringing the 

application, or as otherwise ordered by the 

court, if the directors of the corporation or its 

subsidiary do not bring, diligently prosecute or 

defend or discontinue the action; 

• the complainant is acting in good faith; and 

• it appears to the court that it is in the interests 

of the corporation or its subsidiary for the legal 

proceeding to be brought, prosecuted, defended 

or discontinued.   

 

The court has broad powers to direct the 

conduct of any such legal proceeding. 

capital; 

 have, prior to initiation of derivative 

action, requested from the company to 

initiate court proceedings and the 

company has refused to do so or has not 

responded within 30 days as of 

shareholders' request. 

Relief from 

Oppression 

The ABCA provides that a corporation’s 

shareholder or the Alberta Securities 

Commission may apply to a court for an order 

directing an investigation to be made of the 

corporation and any of its affiliated 

corporations. For the court to make such an 

order of investigation, among other 

requirements, it must appear to the court that 

the business of the corporation or any of its 

affiliates has been carried on with intent to 

defraud a person or that powers of the directors 

were exercised in a manner that was oppressive 

or unfairly prejudicial to the interests of a 

shareholder. No person may publish anything 

relating to the application for investigation 

except with the authorization of the court or the 

written consent of the corporation being 

investigated.  In addition, a “complainant” (as 

that term is defined under the ABCA, which 

includes shareholders, former shareholders, 

directors and officers, former directors and 

officers, and any other persons who, in the 

The Serbian corporate law does not 

recognize an instrument similar to ABCA's 

relief from oppression.  

 

However, shareholders may request 

extraordinary auditing of the company. The 

extraordinary auditing of the company 

concerns: 

 appraisal of contribution in kind; 

 value as well as terms and conditions of 

transactions which are deemed to be 

high value transactions; or 

 audition of financial statements. 

 



 

 
 

discretion of the court, are proper persons to 

bring an action) who complains that: 

 

• any act or omission of the corporation or any 

of its affiliates effects or threatens to effect a 

result; 

• the business or affairs of the corporation or 

any of its affiliates have been or are threatened 

to be carried on or conducted in a manner; or 

• the power of the directors of the corporation 

or its affiliates have been or are threatened to 

be exercised in a manner; 

 

that is oppressive or unfairly prejudicial to or 

that unfairly disregards the interests of any 

security holder, creditor, director or officer, 

may apply to the court for an order to rectify 

the matters complained of. This remedy is 

known as the “oppression remedy”. The 

powers of the court under the ABCA in making 

an order are broad: it may make any order it 

thinks fit, from a simple order amending a 

corporation’s by-laws to an order liquidating 

and dissolving the corporation. 

Inspection of 

Books 

Under the ABCA, a shareholder or creditor of 

a corporation, their agent or legal 

representative may examine the corporate 

records (including the securities register, 

articles and by-laws, minutes of meetings and 

resolutions of shareholders) at the 

corporation’s registered office or such other 

place where such records are kept during the 

corporation’s usual business hours and may 

take extracts from those records, free of charge. 

If a corporation is an “offering corporation” (as 

defined in the ABCA), any other person may 

examine the corporation’s corporate records 

upon payment of a reasonable fee. 

Each shareholder has right to demand from 

director's information which is relevant for 

business of the company or for exercising 

shareholder's rights. 

In addition shareholders' have right to 

examine corporate records (including 

corporate documents (e.g. corporate charter, 

articles of association, corporate statute), 

minutes from shareholders' meetings, 

resolutions, contracts concluded between 

director and company, documents based on 

which company acquired ownership or 

other rights, financial statements). 

The company is entitled to limit access to 

information in case there is reasonable 

believe that granting the access would be 

contrary to best interest of the company. 

 

 


